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PROFILE OF THE GROUP

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“Top Spring” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”, “we"” or “us”) is a
conglomerate group integrating the real estate investment and development,
industrial operation, commercial property management, formative education
and emerging industries investment businesses operating in the mainland
(excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Province, “Mainland China”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong").

The Group always adheres to the positioning of building quality property. With
a strong focus on the commercial and residential property investment and
development, asset management, industrial operation and other businesses
in the Greater Bay Area (as defined below), the centres of which are Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as the economically dynamic regions
including Shanghai, the Group actively leverages multinational operations and is
familiar with the characteristics of Hong Kong and Mainland China to integrate
global resources and develop sustainable metropolitan industry communities
through city-industry integration, serve urban development and industrial
upgrading and strive to become a practitioner on diversified investments in
facilitating the achievement of national strategies.

Business Review

In 2023, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and car
park units of approximately HK$600.4 million (2022: HK$703.0 million), pre-
sold saleable gross floor area (“GFA") of 7,540 square metres (“sq.m.”) (2022:
7,877 sq.m.).

In 2023, the Group’s rental income from investment properties was
approximately HK$217.2 million (2022: HK$223.2 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 2.7%. As at 31 December 2023, the overall
occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties was approximately 82.5%.
As at 31 December 2023, the total leasable GFA of the Group’s operating
investment property portfolio was approximately 307,585 sg.m.. In addition,
as at 31 December 2023, the accumulated total area of properties managed
by the Group amounted to approximately 15,640,000 sg.m., of which
approximately 11,000,000 sq.m. was properties not developed by the Group
and approximately 820,000 sg.m. was commercial property management
projects.

As at 31 December 2023, the land bank (that is, the net saleable/leasable GFA)
of 20 property projects of the Group was approximately 439,632 sq.m.. In
terms of land bank strategy, the Group will primarily focus on the Greater Bay
Area and the first-tier cities in China, such as Shenzhen, Shanghai and Hong
Kong.
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BUSINESS ANALYSIS

The Chinese economy began to recover gradually from the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic breakaway in 2023, however, the pace of macroeconomic
and consumer market recovery had been slow, which was hampered by a
complicated and changing external economic and geopolitical environment
as well as business expectations and consumer confidence not fully restored.
The economic outlook still faces short-term challenges. As a pillar industry of
the national economy, the real estate sector continued to withstand pressure.
During the year, our nation focused on policies aiming at boosting consumer-
side demand, with over 600 relevant policies introduced from the central
government to local levels. These policies are targeted to unleash residential
demand and facilitate consumer credit expansion through adjustments in
purchase restrictions, property and loan recognitions, and loan interest
rates. Simultaneously, financing support policies aimed at risk prevention
were also introduced successively, with financial institutions, represented by
banks, actively researching and implementing these policies to rebuild overall
confidence and expectations in the real estate market.

In facing the current substantial industry changes, the Group has continuously
been maintaining its business strategy of seeking progress amidst stability.
While paying close attention to international economic and trade exchanges
and global economic trends, we closely track industry policies to assess the
economic and market situation to withstand industry downturn risks. We
progressed steadily and actively in business development in an orderly manner
to sustain our corporate development resilience.

For our urban industrial community business, Shanghai Top Spring International
Centre (with a GFA of approximately 100,000 sq.m.) actively integrated into
the "Innovative Four Forces" (£1%7P0 77) and the "1+2+3+4" innovative and
modernized industrial system of Yangpu District in Shanghai. In the process
of constantly innovating and upgrading within the Da Chuang Zhi Functional
Zone (K EIE W EE[E), it focused on attracting and nurturing enterprises
related to 100 billion-grade industry clusters such as the "online economy"
and "creative design". Shanghai Top Spring International Centre constantly
optimized the industrial carrier, services, and ecosystem, leveraging the policies
of artificial intelligence and big data (cloud computing) industries and regional
resources to proactively empower influential innovative enterprises in the
digital economy, artificial intelligence, and new energy vehicles to name a few,
incubating and nurturing numerous specialized, refined, special, novel and
high-tech enterprises. Companies such as Huawei, Henkel (China), Rox, Tian Yu
Eco-Environment and Xiding Technology have successively settled in the Top
Spring International Centre, comprehensively enhancing the brand influence,
product competitiveness, and enterprise agglomeration of the urban industrial
community.
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For our urban renewal projects in Mainland China, the Group focused on
promoting the Jichengchang project in Longgang District, Shenzhen, and the
renovation of old factories in Nansha District, Guangzhou, of which an area of
52.5 mu has been included in the “Guangzhou Annual Urban Redevelopment
Planning 2022" (B M TH 2022 F M E 37118 B FE & E1)).

For the development and construction of projects under construction in
Mainland China, the Shenzhen Upper Residence, a high-end residential and
apartment project with a GFA of approximately 77,800 sg.m. and a total value
of approximately RMB2.5 billion launched for sale in late September 2020,
underpinned registered sales of approximately RMB1.903 billion as at the end
of 2023. Topspring International Mansion and Jianshang Commercial Building
in Shenzhen, with a GFA of approximately 101,700 sg.m., are scheduled for
sale in the second quarter of 2024. The districts where the aforesaid projects
are located have been included in the core urban zones of Shenzhen and are
within the boundaries of Hongshan central business district in Longhua District,
Shenzhen. The Jianshang Sports Complex (& £ 88 5 48 & §8), a surrounding
competition-level sports complex, has been fully opened and where the
first COSTCO in Southern China has also commenced its operations. As the
surrounding areas begin to develop into a cluster for medium- to high-end
consumer brands with further improvements in ancillary commercial facilities,
the overall value of the project will be further enhanced.

The Group's projects in Hong Kong have also reported sound progress. The
launch of the new crystal kitchen design at 128 WATERLOO in Hong Kong
has driven sales volume. As of the end of 2023, a total of 61 units had been
sold since launching the project and it generated sales of over HK$1.3 billion,
including revenue from sales of parking lots. Customers included celebrities and
professionals of the city, while the featured units were enthusiastically sought
after.

For Yuen Long Shap Pat Heung Road Project and Tai Tong Road Project with
a GFA of approximately 280,000 sq.ft. developed in a joint venture with Kerry
Properties, the foundation has been completed and superstructure works are in
progress. It is expected to be completed in 2025. The Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road
Project (with a site area of approximately 142,000 sq.ft.) within the northern
metropolitan area of Hong Kong is in the process of applying for conditions
of exchange and land premium payment, while also applying to the Town
Planning Board to increase the approved plot ratio from 5 to 6. The Group
will align with the latest housing policies, seize development opportunities,
fully explore the development potential of the land and the project, and work
actively through various channels to identify opportunities for investment in
premium projects to ensure continuous investment and development in the
Hong Kong market.
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In the commercial and property management sector, the commercial real
estate industry in 2023 welcomed a revival in consumer spending in the first
half of the year, followed by a downturn in the second half due to a slower-
than-expected recovery in overall consumer confidence, resulting in significant
market fluctuations. The Group actively implemented various measures to
stabilize the business, attempting to optimize rental income through business
model adjustments amid a challenging market environment. In 2023, Top
Spring Commercial earned itself a place among the “2023 TOP100 Commercial
Property Enterprises — Business Performance”. By the end of December, the
overall rental rate of our commercial projects reached 82.5%, with the rental
rate of our Chengdu project reaching 97.4% and rental income growing
by 10.6% year-on-year. In terms of property services, the Changzhou Top
Spring Times (& M & 5 B %) project was recognized as the “Provincial-level
Demonstration Point for Party-Building Led Property Management Services”, the
Nanchang Fashion Mark office building was recognized as the “2023 Property
Management Demonstration Building of Nanchang City”, and the Nanchang
Fashion Mark was recognized as the “2023 Red Property Community of
Honggutan District”. Currently, we have managed 106 property projects under
contract with an aggregate GFA of 15.64 million sq.m., among which 4 have
been awarded the title “Exemplary Residential Communities with Excellence in
Property Management at Provincial Level” and 7 have been awarded the title
"Exemplary Residential Communities with Excellence in Property Management
at Municipal Level”.

In 2024, the Group's commercial business will focus on improving asset rental
yield, while our property business will be committed to expanding coverage
and ensuring growth in revenue and profit. The Group will also give priority
to comprehensive property management expansion, focusing on intense
cultivation in cities with strategic layouts in the Greater Bay Area and provincial
capital economic circles/central cities. Going forward, the Group will actively
develop its property management area portfolio, maintaining stable growth in
operating revenue and profit from commercial and property services.

In 2023, following the COVID-19 pandemic, the population in Hong Kong
is expected to rebound gradually, providing significant opportunities for the
Group’s education business. Over the past year, our team has made continuous
efforts to enhance and refine our curriculum design and training methodologies
by collaborating with industry experts to research the latest educational trends
and methods, ensuring our courses remain at the forefront. Simultaneously, the
Group has been proactive in integrating technology with education, utilizing
advanced educational technologies such as online assessment systems and
online platforms for parental education sharing, to offer a more interactive and
personalized learning experience.
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In the future, the Group shall remain committed to providing high-quality
education services to meet the rising trend of the Hong Kong population.
We will continue to improve and innovate in echoing to the ever-changing
educational demands and challenges. Concurrently, the Group will forge
partnerships with parents, teachers and the community, working collaboratively
to provide children with better education for their future.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Consistently Focusing on the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area by Grasping the Development
Opportunities within the Core Cities and Regions

The synergistic development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area was intensifying in 2023. The closer industrial cooperation across
the region had brought about an obvious kick-starting effect on the regional
economy. Characterised by its innovative leadership, high openness, clustering
development, and livability and workability, the Greater Bay Area continues
to maintain its resilience and momentum of high-quality development. With
a suite of facilitating mega-projects, industrial cooperation in the Greater Bay
Area has been accelerating. The Group will closely follow the development plan
and focus on the construction of the Greater Bay Area. With a high degree of
focus on the core cities of Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou, the Group
will fully utilise its strengths and capabilities to expand project opportunities
and put the Group’s development strategy into reality.

Maintaining and Increasing Where Appropriate Rental
Properties That Generate Stable Income Growth

Commercial and office properties are highly resilient. Since steady rising rental
income is an important component of the Company’s stable cash flow, the
Group expects to continue holding and operating high-quality properties in the
future through its healthy asset management capabilities to further increase
rental income and profit level, and to realise the preservation and appreciation
of the value of its properties.
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Actively Seeking Overseas Investment Opportunities by
Focusing on Hong Kong

The Group has always been optimistic about the important role and position
of Hong Kong in the construction of the Greater Bay Area, as well as the
development opportunities in the northern metropolitan area of Hong
Kong. Against the backdrop of the lifting up of the pandemic control policy,
Hong Kong’s advantages as a financial, shipping and trading center have
been highlighted by customs re-opening and the return of expatriates and
white-collar workers. The Group remains optimistic about and treasures the
investment opportunities in Hong Kong and will capitalise on our ability and
strengths to build high-end boutique properties. While continuing to deepen
our presence in the Hong Kong market, the Group will proactively explore
opportunities for quality projects.

Eyeing Potential Investment Opportunities to Foster New
Business Growth Points

We will continue to monitor market and industry changes and focus on new
economic development opportunities. In line with the actual development
needs of the Group, we will integrate resources and invest prudently, achieve
synergistic development of our diversified businesses and real estate business by
seeking new business breakthroughs and growth points.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our colleagues for their
hard work and dedication. The trust and recognition of our shareholders are
our driving force in such era of uncertainties. We will continue to create the
maximum value for our shareholders and contribute to our society on an
ongoing basis.

Wong Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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128 Waterloo
Best Architecture Multiple Residence Hong Kong
Asia Pacific Property Awards 2023-2024
International Property Awards
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Shanghai Laijun Commercial Management Co., Ltd.
Alliance of the Establishment of Learning-oriented
Enterprises in Yangpu District - “Member of Excellence”
Yangpu District Learning Society
Construction and Lifelong Education
Promotion Committee of Shanghai
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Shenzhen Topspring Business and Investment Management Co., Ltd.
2023 Commercial Property Enterprises -
Business Performance
Guardian Index Academy
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Top Spring International Centre
Yangpu Artificial Intelligence and Big Data
Innovation Base
Yangpu Science and Technology
Committee of Shanghai
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Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.
2023 Shenzhen Property Management "Qutstanding Enterprise” of Daling Community in 2023
Association — Outstanding Enterprise The Party Committee of Daling Community in
Shenzhen Property Management Association Minzhi Street
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Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Top Spring Property Services Co., Ltd.

“Member of Excellence” for “Member of Excellence” in 2023
Safety Production in 2023 Hongfu Community |

unity |
Dongxiao Street Office in Luohu District /
—

=

T T
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RPBEEZEXNERAEML O HE -

As an evolving listed company living up its corporate value of “joint efforts
in creating and celebrating success”, Top Spring is always conscious of its
responsibilities as a corporate citizen to the community at large and spares
no effort in fulfilling its social responsibility and has always been proactive in
promoting the development of corporate social responsibility.

In 2023, the Group, under the leadership of our Chairman, Mr WONG Chun
Hong, gained a lot of recognitions from society for a variety of charitable works
including the provision of aids to minority society, improving the living standard
of the community and making contributions in education and cultural affairs.

Top Spring put forward with continued efforts to support students from poor
families for further education in China. Since 2010, Top Spring and China
Foundation for Poverty Alleviation have jointly established New Great Wall
Scholarship Project — Top Spring International Scholarships, providing supports
to college students from poor families in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Jiangxi and
Sichuan. Meanwhile, Shenzhen Topspring Charity Foundation, founded in
2013, adheres to its philosophy of “supporting education development,
caring lonely elderly; promoting humanitarian spirit, developing social welfare
undertakings”, and has proactively supported and participated in various charity
activities in the society and donations, contributing its part to the development
of the charity undertakings in China.
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R =F AEERILLREREZES
ERFRADESE FUBBEZESEH

78 H 8 B)#1350,000/8 7T ' LARES D FH 2
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KB HESESAREEY BOKASHL
SEANRTCEAR HEDEMT /A
SIEE o

In 2023, the Group made donations in excess of HK$350,000 in aggregate to
the institutions including Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (1t & & 28 24 2
£ £ &), Beijing Zhonglun Charity Foundation (1t R fa Az E £ €) and
Ping Shan Heung Rural Committee (5 1L #F48EZ & &) for the promotion of
healthy growth of the youth, support of educational and cultural activities.

While pursuing stable development, the Group continued to commit itself
to charity and public welfare activities relating to people’s livelihood, poverty
alleviation and education, as it endeavoured to be a good corporate citizen
that honoured its social responsibility and drive sustainable development of the
enterprise as well as the community.
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HRER (HERIMEREE D) -

The table below sets forth the net saleable and leasable GFA information of
our 20 property projects in terms of planned use of the properties as at 31
December 2023.

Completed
GFA

T2
BEEER

Under
Development
GFA

ERIAKFEE
2 IE7E B 3R

o £ it F i
BEEEE
Contracted

to be Acquired

or under
Application
For Change In
Land Use GFA

FHK

sg.m.

5K

sg.m.

FHK

sg.m.

BIEHEWE Properties held for sale
£ Residential 12,434 23,037 6,497
TE Retail 24,627 67,551 -
NE Sub-total 37,061 90,588 6,497
FEREME Properties held for investment
TEMRE Retail/Office 304,912 - -
R Campus 574 = =
AN Subtotal 305,486 - -
FUHEHERTHEREMBE Netsaleable and leasable GFA 342,547 90,588 6,497
REERBRETE S NEH BUHERTHEEEERE
RZZEZ=F+=A=+—H
Estimated net saleable and leasable GFA by development status and city
as at 31 December 2023
31.2%
18.9%
RERMBRED Pt
gjeEap [igf=E- g ]
GFA by GFA by
Development Status
4.5%
= TIEH Completed projects 342,547 ® R E5E Shenzhen and 137,030 LIS Tianjin 19,595
= {EEIEH Projects under development 90,588 DemgeE n EHM Changzhou 82,989
BaI 4 FEE B Projects contracted to be 6,497 "L Shanghai 97,526 = B8 Kunming 1,415
IEfERFANRE M  acquired or under application = R Nanjing 717 . Bk Hon
, . 7 g Kong 34,320
REmIER for change in land use . R el 39,776
MRIEEELE Total GFA 439,632 - Heraion 26,264
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— R -FXBOE REVIEW OF BUSINESS IN 2023
1) ?EE%E (1) Pre-sales
RZBEZ=F AEEHBUWEREE In 2023, the Group recorded an aggregate of pre-sales of properties and
i 78 & %8 & £ 49600,400,0007%8 7T (E car park units of approximately HK$600.4 million (of which approximately
#7590,800,000 8 TR EMFXTEERE) - HK$590.8 million was from pre-sales of properties), representing a
BT ZFTRN146% AEED decrease of approximately 14.6% as compared with 2022. The Group’s
EERREER(BEEE] 0/7,540 total pre-sold gross floor area (“GFA") was approximately 7,540 square
77K (f¥7§"J) BT ZZFTR® metres (“sq.m.”), representing a decrease of approximately 4.3% as
A3% RZTEZ=F -AEEYMETRE compared with 2022. The average selling price (“ASP") of the Group’s
EFHERB(FHEEB]D) AT T KL pre-sales of properties in 2023 was approximately HK$78,355.4 per sq.m.
78355 4B (ZEZZF : FEHFKY (2022: approximately HK$84,207.2 per sq.m.), representing a decrease
84,2072/ L) BT _FRIREH of approximately 6.9% as compared with 2022. The decrease in ASP of
6.9%  ANEBEMEBEFHERB TR the Group’s pre-sales of properties was mainly due to the pre-sales of
FEHR_Z_=FRINRBENDE properties in Shenzhen and Hong Kong in 2023, which has a relatively
BEEZIHEER S -__FHFH lower ASP as compared with 2022. In addition, the Group’s pre-sales of
EEREBIEME - 1o REERZT car park units in 2023 was approximately HK$9.6 million.
T =FREEMAIAE L R9,600,000
75 O
AEBRHBEE T _=F+_-_A=+— A breakdown of the total pre-sales of the properties and car park units of
AIEFENYERIFEATAS EHAHA the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out as follows:
#HANWT
(a) YETBEZE (a) Pre-sales of properties
EHREEEER HREHR RETLHERE
HE-EHE &R Project - type of project -sold GFA Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
2 BEBT B FRK
HK$ million HK$/sq.m.
K#  Tianjin RERSH Tianjin Le Leman City
—fr= — residential 3,655 485 410 7.0 11,2175

#I| Shenzhen FIKBE EZRE  Shenzhen Upper Residence
—fkE/ % - residential/commercial 2,635 349 167.4 283 63,529.4

&% HongKong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
—f=E ~ residential 1,250 16.6 3824 64.7 305,920.0

A5t Total 7,540 100 590.8 100 78,355.4
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(b) FHEALEEHE

(b) Pre-sales of car park units

EREFEMHA
Number of pre-sold BEE BEFHEE
Project car park units Pre-sales Pre-sales ASP
f& EX- Yoy B/
unit HK$ million HK$/unit
®I Changzhou EIMNHZ#E —F M Fashion Mark - Changzhou 39 62.9 6.7 69.8 171,794.9
R Nanjing KBS - R The Sunny Land - Nanjing 23 37.1 2.9 30.2 126,087.0
62 100 9.6 100 154,838.7

2) R=ZB-=FEXNRAKRNER

BE_EZ-_=F#+-_A=+—BItFE"
AEEBRKE FINREBSNMERE
EBBERMEEEWRA CTEEEEMH
) #)402,300,0008 7T ' A2 ERE
AIEEREEENAG6128F H K &E
E_Z -+ -A=Z+—HLEESD
B A #187.1% KoFi ) 4185.5% « EHEZ
T_ZFE+_A=Zt+—HIFE A&
EHENENERRATHEEBNAEET
JK656495B T - BEZT _=F+=
A=+—BLFE BERFHEER
DE111% - DEEHRAEERFIINR
EENEEHEHE ERMCHERVEHE (T
BIEEBEMAHEE) MG AIEX (ZEE
BEMFEEREEIE) T -

HE_Z-_=F+_-_A=+—HL*F
B AEEXNNEREFEUEENS
3,200,000 7T, + & 25 [E{=EBAL

(2) Projects delivered and booked in 2023

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s property development
business in Tianjin, Shenzhen and Hong Kong achieved revenue from sale
of properties (excluding sale of car park units) of approximately HK$402.3
million with saleable GFA of approximately 6,128 sq.m. being recognised,
representing a decrease of approximately 87.1% and a decrease of
approximately 85.5%, respectively, as compared with the year ended 31
December 2022. The recognised ASP of the Group’s sale of properties was
approximately HK$65,649.5 per sq.m. for the year ended 31 December
2023. The approximate 11.1% decrease in recognised ASP was primarily
attributable to the fact that a significant proportion of the recognised
sale of properties (excluding sale of car park units) was contributed by the
Group's residential projects in Shenzhen and Hong Kong, which have a
relatively lower ASP during the year ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group delivered and
recognised the sale of car park units of approximately HK$3.2 million from
the sale of 25 car park units.
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Details of sale of properties and car park units of the Group recognised in 2023

are listed below:

Project - type of project

EAR
A#HE
BEER

Saleable

GFA
booked
FIK

sq.m.

2R
LES L
Sale of
properties
recognised
BEBET
HK$ million

KZE  Tianjin KBS Tianjin Le Leman City
—E=E — residential 3,107 30.1
R Shenzhen RIKBHE FRE Shenzhen Upper Residence
—fF% /g - residential/commercial 2,205 117.7
5 Hong Kong 7% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
—fF=E ~ residential 816 254.5
6,128 402.3

MR

Nanjing

K X — AR

Project

The Sunny Land - Nanjing

EAK
FEUHE
Number of

car park
units booked
&l

unit

25

(=R
FEUMER
Sale of
car park units

32

5
FHER
Recognised
ASP
EHAK
HK$/sg.m.

9,687.8

53,378.7

311,887.3

65,649.5

E2ER
FHER
Recognised
ASP
L/ 1
HK$/unit

128,000.0
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(3)

BEYE
BRBEEERBENWEN AEE T
el AR EMEERES T ERE
BYEE tEREAERL  TEFERE
By AR B AR K ER R -
BMNEZHE RRKEHEPL M
MNHERgEE DL SRIIKBIEED - B EBHE
S LEER EREMNHEEER
FIEMERES  ARMNREBHN
EEEGEER R _T-_=ZF+_A8
=t+—HB AEEREVENBAALE
B #)7/8,105,900,000/8 7T ' h ANEEE
ERELNAL0.4%  RAEBREVMEALAGD
Al BB EEEIEL £307,585F K o
HE-_Z-=F+-A=+—HIEFE"
AREFBBREMERI R BEYZ (30
IEERIIE) #913,200,0008 7T (B = =
—CF+-A=1+—HILFE:  REME
EoEABELENRENELAAEBE
E51E %) 17,100,000 /8 7T (FNBRIELEFRIA) ) ©

AEERBEEENERTEMN  BRME
WHBERK mHHESKERELHNE
REEZZRAZBLRERKEAS - K
EERS AT HAL  BPHRAEE
RABEEEBE ASEHZZFNEEN
HEFIIERPEFAEENHOER -
HEBREZENE R  EHET R EEN
MEBBAREREBHTBEREERS -
R-ZBE-_=F+_A=+—80 &&H
WAMEBENHEE (BE—REMEREREE
HEGHERELEEERIB10.0%) A
HEEZEMBLHAEEEETREME
A HEEmELN296% (R ==
+—A=+—8 :4295%) °

(3) Investment properties

In addition to the sale of properties developed by the Group, the Group
has also leased out or expects to lease out its investment property
portfolio comprising mainly shopping malls, community commercial
centres, retail shops and car park units in The Spring Land — Shenzhen,
Changzhou Fashion Mark, Dongguan Landmark, Hangzhou Landmark,
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden, Chengdu Fashion Mark, Shanghai Bay
Valley, Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula and Shenzhen Excellence
Times Square in mainland China and Kowloon Tong Rutland Quadrant
Project in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2023, the total fair value of
the investment properties of the Group was approximately HK$8,105.9
million, representing approximately 40.4% of the Group's total asset
value. The Group’s investment property portfolio had a total leasable
GFA of approximately 307,585 sq.m.. The Group recorded approximately
HK$13.2 million (net of deferred tax) as gain in fair value of its investment
properties for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31
December 2022: approximately HK$17.1 million (net of deferred tax) as
loss in fair value of its investment properties and investment properties
classified as held for sale).

The Group carefully plans and selects tenants based on factors such as a
project’s overall positioning, market demand in surrounding areas, market
levels of rent and development needs of tenants. The presence of large-
scale anchor tenants which the Group has attracted enhances the value of
its projects. The Group enters into longer-term and more favourable lease
contracts with such anchor and reputable tenants which include well-
known brands, chain cinema operators, reputable restaurants and top
operators of catering businesses. As at 31 December 2023, the GFA taken
up by these anchor and reputable tenants, whose leased GFA was over
10.0% of the total leasable GFA of a single investment property, made up
approximately 29.6% (as at 31 December 2022: approximately 29.5%)
of the Group’s total leasable area in its investment properties under
operation.
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The occupancy rate of the Group’s investment properties decreased
from approximately 83.3% as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
82.5% as at 31 December 2023. The Group generated rental income of
approximately HK$217.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately 2.7% from approximately
HK$223.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The average
monthly rental income of the Group’s investment properties under
operation for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$69.3 per sq.m. (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately

FHAKEIIBL (HE_T-__F+_A
—t+—HBLEFE:HAEFHKI0TE

HK$70.7 per sg.m.).

JT) e
rEBR-_Z-_=F+ZA= + =] Details of the Group’s major investment properties as at 31 December
FTERE %%&E% BEZE_T_=%F 2023 and their respective rental income for the year ended 31 December
+ZA=+—HLEFEMNHES HﬁU\ A 2023 are set out as follows:
M
iz
b iy
t=A
Er=F
EEER
BEHR
R=B==Zf& Sqr ABASKA iyt it
+=A R=B== ILEEH  Average monthly +=A
=t+-A# +=A BelA rental income =+-Af
THE =t-Ai Rental income per sq.m. hitiik
BEER DREE for the year for the year Occupancy rate
Leasable GFA as Fair value as at ended ended as at
RENE at 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Investment properties 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
(i)
(Note)
FHR BEAT BEAT
S.M. HK$ million HK$ million HKS$/5q.m.
EEVRENFE Investment properties under operation
EMFEEHEe - R Changzhou Fashion Mark Phases 1 and 2
(ByasREE) (Shopping mall and car park units) 82,989 13224 267 344 80.0
MMEREERL (B0EE) Hangzhou Landmark (Shopping mal) 26,264 3739 1.0 366 95.6
KEREDE BNESRESM)  Chengdu Fashion Mark (Shopping mall and
car park units) 38,285 755.1 26.7 59.6 974
HEEA Shanghai Bay Valley 97,526 2,888.6 50.1 61.1 698
M R —_=F+-_A=T—HHAHER Note: The leasable GFA as at 31 December 2023 excluded car park units.

%Eﬁ?@?ﬁ?ﬁu °
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4 R=2=—=F+="—H=+—HMWE (4) Land bank as at 31 December 2023
M 13 45

2
The PRC

s,
Tianjin Le Leman City
_ KBIEX-ER

The Spring Land - Nanjing

N
>/\5 ENEEHY

Changzhou Fashion Mark

LigEAEE
Shanghai Bay Valley Project

Chengdu Fashion Mark

men
1660, RERFFES L
A E'.‘ ijﬁ-‘ % Dongguan [ Dongguan Landmark
ESBUIEES g Syingzho”| WB HongKong 58 Lk mmsa A
Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula Nanr:i_ng Hong Kong Sheung Shui
Ma Sik Road Project
& Shenzhen ~
EETTHATN\BKIER
Hong Kong Yuen Long
R=ZZB-=F+=H=+—H 20 property projects my = Shap Pat Heung Road Project
z BRI K TEED
#2018 #3535 B as at 31 December 2023 Shenzhen Water Flower Garden % 3 7T B A 225818 B
® EIRTIARE Completed projects BRYIR 8L Hong Kong Yuen Long
® TEEIEA Projects under development Szt iz llefez ety R
) _ %7%128 WATERLOO
® H{ERKBEEKD AN Projects held for future et ] Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO
u pemmop T meenper  development or contracted to U1 Il e = e ) i
4 RS HIE B be acquired or under application R3S AL E S BERNEERWREEE
for change in land use Shenzhen Excellence Hong Kong Kowloon Tong

Times Square Rutland Quadrant Project

YIS LR Kig
Shenzhen Jianshang
Commercial Building
FYIKHE ERE
Shenzhen Upper Residence
HRYIESRE R K E
Shenzhen Topspring
International Mansion

O RAESHEEENOEEHT  Major city with high speed railway
m— R High speed railway
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AEBRPENER RT=AM FEH -
RERKAMLBREERTREBOER
REEAREEMENERRHEE

The Group is specialised in the development and operation of urban
mixed-use communities and the development and sale of residential
properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the Central
China, the Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongging regions in the
PRC.

RZEBE-=%F+-A=+—8 4X&EH
RI0ERTHE S L 20BERTRERE
PBEEEMMEER  BEGBTFIHEE
A EEEEAEA 342,547 F A KB R
TIHE  FFHFAHE M HEZERRK
#4990,588 F FAKMEREBE B RGFHFA
HE MHEREEmELN6,497 F KM
EEl4 TR B IE£ BB E £ it A
BRMIEE MTBEEBMNETFIHEE
AHEREMEAETH/A439,632 F 7K -
BRAFFBOT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 20 property projects
over 10 cities in various stages of development, including an estimated
net saleable/leasable GFA of completed projects of approximately
342,547 sg.m., an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of projects under
development of approximately 90,588 sq.m., and an estimated net
saleable/leasable GFA of projects contracted to be acquired or under
application for change in land use of approximately 6,497 sq.m., totalling
an estimated net saleable/leasable GFA of approximately 439,632 sq.m.,
the details of which are as follows:

(CERES
AHE/THE
BREER

Estimated net

A%
LR
Interest
attributable to
the Group

HEAR

Project EiF,/
no. Hm City

saleable/
leasable GFA

sg.m. %

Region/

Project Type of project

BRIER
Completed Projects

1 sl Shenzhen  RIIAK#H L Shenzhen Hidden Valley FE Residential 99 100.0
2 3l Shenzhen  KEIHEX—FII The Spring Land - Shenzhen EES Commerdial 33,454 100.0
3 gl Shenzhen IR TEED Shenzhen Water Flower Garden ~ B % Commercial 4,992 100.0
4 M Changzhou  EMNHEHE Changzhou Fashion Mark [SE Commercial 82,989 100.0
5 R Dongguan ~ RERZHEF DL Dongguan Landmark [EES Commercial 20,172 100.0
6 M Hangzhou — MMAEREEF L Hangzhou Landmark [EES Commerdial 26,264 100.0
7 BB Chengdu RBREHE Chengdu Fashion Mark GES Commerdial 39,776 100.0
8 X Tianjin REREH Tianjin Laimeng City £%,/B% Residential/Commercial 19,595 58.0
9 AR Nanjing KHEXR-ER The Spring Land - Nanjing S Commercial 717 100.0
10 g Shanghai EAEA Bay Valley Project [FES Commercial 97,526 70.0
11 BB HongKong  &EBNBEEREEME Hong Kong Kowloon Tong R& Campus 574 100.0
HAH Rutland Quadrant Project
12 = Kunming EREMHELS Kunming Dianchi Lakeside [SES Commercial 1,415 100.0
Peninsula
13 3l Shenzhen RYKHE ERE Shenzhen Upper Residence E%/B%  Residential/Commercial 9,442 100.00
14 BB Hong Kong &% 128 WATERLOO Hong Kong 128 WATERLOO FE Residential 4212 60.0
15 A Shenzhen  RIIEHERES Shenzhen Excellence S Commercial 423 100.0

Times Square

/Mgt Sub-total

342,547
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HEAR

Project EiF,/ Region/
no. i) City

HEEE

Projects under Development

Project

Type of project

st

AHE /WS
EEEE
Estimated net
saleable/
leasable GFA
ERR

sg.m.

16 R Shenzhen FNRFERRE Shenzhen Topspring International 7% Commercial 58,020
Mansion
17 FI Shenzhen RIS LB KE Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial % Commercial 9,531
Building
18 G HongKong & A+ 1\ 45 Hong Kong Yuen Long T Residential 20,050
HE Shap Pat Heung Road Project
19 EE HongKong &BTHAARE Hong Kong Yuen Long FE Residential 2,987
ER Tai Tong Road Project
‘Nt Sub-total 90,588
BAARTFREREERFNZ L ARNER
Projects Contracted to be Acquired or under Application for Change in Land Use
20 EE HongKong & L/KFiER Hong Kong Sheung Shui FE Residential 6,497
A Ma Sik Road Project
Nt Sub-total 6,497

@i Total

439,632

r&
FEfh R
Interest
attributable to
the Group

%

100.0

100.0

10.0

10.0

50.0
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REBHMA L EFEFBSRIWOT - Details of land bank in major cities are set out below:

fhatF

AHE FHE

EEME

Estimated

net saleable/

B, W m Region/City leasable GFA

sq.m.

AR AR (BERRE) Shenzhen and surrounding regions (including Dongguan) 137,030

apis) Shanghai 97,526

EZhR Nanjing 717

i Chengdu 39,776

Al Hangzhou 26,264

KiE Tianjin 19,595

B Changzhou 82,989

EH Kunming 1,415

BB Hong Kong 34,320

mst Total 439,632
REBBREERELSH TEFEER The Group intends to continue to leverage its experience in identifying
FEEAR,SREEINYE R land parcels in and/or outside the PRC with investment potential at
BEBENM L WHEeXHTEIB advantageous times and acquiring land reserves which are or will be
REAMEHEERETEEN T MG - well connected with transportation and infrastructure developments.
o REEBREEN T EREAR K Moreover, the Group intends to continue to acquire new land parcels or
FEEINFTRMEEENTEBERER projects in locations in and/or outside the PRC with vibrant economies
EBOMEKEHN LB LEE and strong growth potential, in particular, the Greater Bay Area

e (BEES  FIIRERES) M EF - (including Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Dongguan) and Shanghai.
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RZEZ=F AEEKEKALE
954,300,000 7L * HEE Z T ZZFH D 4
740%  HE2—_T-_=F+-_RA=+—HIEF
B ARREERERKATRBESFFEA
JE 16 B 18 49 £876,900,0008 7T © = F 8158
AAaEERE KA R ESFTFE ARG
E5184)4185,100,0008 L - B E T - =&
TZA=+T—BIEE  AEEOEKRERGD
(TB#7B)) ERERAREEEES R AL057E
TROS7TE T (BE_E-_—_F+-_A=1+—
BIEEE DRI AKH012BTTR0128TT) -
AAE SRR MKA AR ESFTE ARG
EREEFER_ZE-__F+=-A=+—H
H6OBILHMLYNMNINE-_T-_=F+_A
=+—H#%53%T°

EEefEE RNz -_=Z4+_A
=t HLEFEMNRBEBRE (BE-_ZT=-_—_F
+ZA=+—BLFE : AARRRERER
KAA R EFHIFE ARG 1) -

A

WAEMEHERA - HEWARRFAER
HYEERE MARBERE WA R EREHE
MR RS BRER A A (B HIBR I8 E T A R Ho At
HEMRBANER AT

HE_T_=ZF+-_A=1+t—HLFEHNK
ABHBEZZ_F+A=+T—BHL#F
€ 493,667,200,000/8 TR 2 4174.0% = 4
954,300,000 T c MAB L EFZHRAEE
ZMEBEERARD BEZT_=F+=A
=+ HLEFE  AEEEERYEHEELD
405,500,000 87T * (B ALI42.5% - AEH
R 4L U A 4217,200,00078 7T 15 22U A
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

In 2023, the Group’s consolidated revenue reached approximately HK$954.3
million, decreased by approximately 74.0% as compared with 2022. The loss
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$876.9 million, as
compared to a loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and
holders of PCSs of approximately HK$185.1 million recorded in the previous
year. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s basic and diluted loss
per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were approximately HK$0.57 and
HK$0.57 respectively (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$0.12 and HK$0.12, respectively). Net assets per Share attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs decreased by
approximately 11.7% from approximately HK$6.0 as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$5.3 as at 31 December 2023.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: HK1 cent
per Share to equity shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs).

Revenue

Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income and income
from provision of property management and related services and income from
provision of education related services earned during the year, net of value-
added tax and other sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased by approximately
74.0% to approximately HK$954.3 million from approximately HK$3,667.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. This decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in the Group’s income from sale of properties. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recognised property sales of
approximately HK$405.5 million, representing approximately 42.5% of the
total revenue. The Group recognised rental income of approximately HK$217.2
million, representing approximately 22.8% of the total revenue. The Group
recognised property management and related services income of approximately
HK$287.4 million, representing approximately 30.1% of the total revenue. The
remaining approximately 4.6% of the total revenue of approximately HK$44.2
million was income from education related services.
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Revenue from the Group’s sales of properties decreased by 87.1% in 2023 as
compared with 2022 primarily due to the decrease in sale of properties and car
park units in Hong Kong and Shenzhen.

Direct costs

The principal component of direct costs is the cost of completed properties
sold, which consists of land premium, construction and other development
costs, capitalised borrowing costs during the construction period, the cost of
rental income, the cost of property management and related services and the
cost of education related services. The Group recognises the cost of completed
properties sold for a given period to the extent that revenue from such
properties has been recognised in such period.

The Group's direct costs decreased to approximately HK$1,208.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$3,072.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. This decrease was primarily attributable to the

decrease in the sales of properties for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Gross loss/profit

The Group recorded a gross loss of approximately HK$253.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as compared to a gross profit of approximately
HK$594.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group reported
a gross loss margin of approximately 26.6% for the year ended 31 December
2023 as compared to a gross profit margin of approximately 16.2% for the
year ended 31 December 2022. Such change was mainly due to the impairment
of certain inventories.
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Other revenue

Other revenue decreased by approximately HK$10.9 million, or approximately
6.4%, to approximately HK$158.8 million in 2023 from approximately
HK$169.7 million in 2022. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease
in bank and other interest income.

Other net loss

Other net loss increased significantly by approximately 944.7% to approximately
HK$39.7 million in 2023 from approximately HK$3.8 million in 2022, mainly
due to the increase in fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVPL.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses decreased by approximately 50.8% to
approximately HK$76.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from
approximately HK$155.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The decrease in selling and marketing expenses was primarily attributable to
the decrease in commission expenses incurred in 2023 as compared with 2022.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 31.5% to approximately
HK$176.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
HK$258.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was due
to the decrease in staff costs incurred and other tax fees.
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Valuation gains/(losses) on investment properties and
investment properties classified as held for sale

The Group recorded valuation gains on investment properties and investment
properties classified as held for sale of approximately HK$14.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 as compared to valuation losses of
approximately HK$23.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
turnaround from valuation losses to gains was primarily due to the higher rental
rate of respective properties in Shenzhen in 2023.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 1.3% to approximately HK$320.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$324.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the repayment of certain bank loans.

Income tax

Income tax expense decreased by approximately 42.2% to approximately
HK$63.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately
HK$110.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was
primarily attributable to the decrease in sales of properties.

Non-controlling interests

The loss attributable to non-controlling interests was approximately HK$23.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December
2022: gain of approximately HK$1.5 million).
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash position

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the Group’s cash and bank
deposits was approximately HK$2,191.0 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$2,637.4 million), representing a decrease of approximately
16.9% as compared with that as at 31 December 2022.

Borrowings and charges on the Group’s assets

The Group had an aggregate borrowings (including bank and other borrowings
and lease liabilities) as at 31 December 2023 of approximately HK$7,289.3
million, of which approximately HK$3,312.0 million is repayable within one
year, approximately HK$3,356.4 million is repayable after one year but within
five years and approximately HK$620.9 million is repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$6,490.7
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$6,902.2 million) were
secured by certain investment properties (inclusive of investment properties
classified as held for sale), other land and buildings, leasehold land held for
development for sale, properties under development for sale, completed
properties for sale, pledged deposits and rental receivables of the Group with
total carrying values of approximately HK$12,247.0 million (as at 31 December
2022: approximately HK$12,972.2 million).

The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank and other borrowings were
denominated in RMB except for certain borrowings with an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$1,759.6 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$2,141.8 million) and HK$979.2 million (as at 31 December
2022: approximately HK$979.3 million) as at 31 December 2023 which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US dollars, respectively.
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Cost of borrowings

The Group's average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses expensed and capitalised by average borrowings during the year) was
approximately 6.6% in 2023 (2022: approximately 6.3%).

As at 31 December 2023, the weighted average borrowing cost for the Group'’s
existing borrowings was approximately 6.1% (2022: approximately 4.9%).

Net gearing ratio

The net gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the Group’s net borrowings
(total borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged
deposits) by the total equity. The Group's net gearing ratio was approximately
62.8% and 54.7% as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022,
respectively.

Foreign exchange risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash balances denominated in
RMB of approximately RMB1,819.3 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,001.2 million), in US dollars of approximately US$0.1 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$1.1 million).

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars
or Australian dollars as a result of its investment in mainland China and the
settlement of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings
in Hong Kong dollars or Australian dollars. In addition, RMB is not freely
convertible into foreign currencies and the conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the Directors monitor the Group’s foreign
exchange exposure closely and may, depending on the circumstances and trend
of foreign currency, consider adopting significant foreign currency hedging
policy in the future.
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NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets per Share of the Company as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are
calculated as follows:
.
+=-—A=+—H~
As at
31 December
2022

+=A=t+-~8

As at
31 December
2023

AN BT IR B (G & B R (E (T8 JT)Net assets attributable to equity shareholders

of the Company (HK$'000) 8,092,201 9,223,880
BETERREE (TR Number of issued ordinary Shares ('000) 1,412,733 1,412,733
HARITEE R A PTHRFEH BB (FAR) Number of outstanding PCSs (‘000) 116,553 116,553
RIEFFEEREEFEMNRNEE Number of Shares for the calculation of net
(FRO assets per Share ('000) 1,529,286 1,529,286
NQRERS IR R ok AR 2R 545 Net assets per Share attributable to equity
BABGEEREEFE(CET) (M)  shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs (HK$) (Note) 5.3 6.0

Mgk ARAEZBRERKATRKILFBEARMS
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Note: The net assets per Share attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company and the
holders of PCSs is calculated as if the holders of PCSs have converted the PCSs into Shares
as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, save for the guarantees of approximately HK$242.3
million (as at 31 December 2022: approximately HK$462.4 million) given to the
financial institutions for the mortgage loan facilities granted to the purchasers
of the Group’s properties, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.

Pursuant to the mortgage contracts, the Group is required by the relevant
banks to guarantee its purchasers’ mortgage loans until it completes the
relevant properties and the property ownership certificates and certificates
of other interests with respect to the relevant properties are delivered to its
purchasers. If a purchaser defaults on a mortgage loan, the Group may have to
repurchase the underlying property by paying off the mortgage. If the Group
fails to do so, the mortgagee bank may auction the underlying property and
recover any shortfall from the Group as the guarantor of the mortgage loan.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures from 1 January 2023 up to the date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of approximately 851
employees (as at 31 December 2022: 883 employees) in mainland China and
Hong Kong, of which, approximately 50 were under the headquarters team,
approximately 99 were under the property development division, approximately
670 were under the retail operation and property management division and
approximately 32 were under the education division. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the total staff and related costs incurred was approximately
HK$218.6 million (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
HK$238.6 million). The remuneration of the employees was based on their
performance, work experience, skills, knowledge and the prevailing market
wage level. The Group remunerated the employees by means of basic salaries,
fringe benefits, cash bonus and equity settled share-based payment.

The Company had adopted a post-IPO share option scheme on 28 February
2011 for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the contribution that
eligible employees have made or may make to the Group. On 26 June 2012, 20
June 2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015 and 23 October 2015, the Group
granted 15,720,000 share options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share options (Lot 2),
82,650,000 share options (Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options (Lot 4), 10,000,000
share options (Lot 5) and 31,000,000 share options (Lot 6), respectively, under
the post-IPO share option scheme at the exercise prices of HK$2.264 per Share
(adjusted), HK$4.14 per Share, HK$3.3 per Share, HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45
per Share and HK$2.796 per Share, respectively, to certain Directors, senior
management and selected employees of the Group. The post-IPO share option
scheme expired on 27 February 2021 and all share options granted under such
scheme had already lapsed.

A new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme"”) was adopted
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 8 June 2022. As at 31 December 2023 and the date of
this report, no share option was granted by the Company pursuant to the New
Share Option Scheme.
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RN KA L

SHENZHEN HIDDEN VALLEY

TERTBE

HAgk
AR (F 5 K)
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A REEEE (FAK)
RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—HHK

fhEtF A E AT SR EEE (F5K)

HEHE

Project Overview

Key Statistics

No. of phases 4 4
Site area (sq.m.) 143,047 143,047
Construction start date —ETLF LA July 2007
Completion date —E——%XA June 2011
Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 131,736 131,736
Estimated net saleable/leasable

GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 996 996

i 2h Location

BREFRNTELRREERK

Yulong Road, Bao’an District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province

MEFR Property type

F=

Residential

= Highlights

RYNZERNEIRE 2 —WRE[ R IR
B EE R 2] I [ BB R
TEE R AR

AR OLHBE(POEEE]) (B
BEfRATORBEE T DEER) -
mARBHIEAE - FERFEEAR

—HR TN \FRAFERL R
EENFRRAYSEEETIHN
RBHER  —HR_ZTTN\FA
A IEEE 2R EERK -
R FERE PR A 2 R E

One of the best villa projects in Shenzhen and was
awarded “Global International Garden Community
Nominations Award” and “China International
Garden Community Award”

Offers close proximity to central business district
("CBD") (10 minutes drive from Futian CBD) and
is surrounded by suburb parks with natural living
environment

Phase 1 was launched in May 2008 and became the
best selling project in the luxury residential market
in Shenzhen in 2009. Phase 2 was launched in
September 2008 and was sold out within a short
period of time despite the global financial crisis

RN AL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
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KEEX-RY
THE SPRING LAND - SHENZHEN

FERTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 6 6
AR EAE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 166,979 166,979
Faase L A HA Construction start date —ZEZTNFAHA May 2009
% T HE Completion date —ZT—HFENA August 2014
fhEHABEEERE (T K) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 774,371 774,371
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H0H Estimated net saleable/leasable
hEHFIsEE AITAERE®E (FK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 33,454 33,454
HEME
Project Overview
i B Location BERAEFMEREESEE Renmin South Road, Longhua Town, Bao'an District,
AREE Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
BREIDH Lease termof =HFAE Long lease
HEHR  investment
portion
YIEER Property type FE=RZTE Residential and retail
=5 Highlights 7 A Hb 85 70 555 AR AT 1L 3k Located at the Hongshan Station of Subway Line No. 4

KFFER—FY (—H KX —H)) X (= The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phases 1 and 2) and

IR —ZE—ZF N —_F——F5 5] (Phase 3) were ranked the best and the second best-

BY)RY &G R E 5 IETR R selling projects in Shenzhen for 2010 and 2011,
respectively

K ERX—FI (AH) B == — = The Spring Land — Shenzhen (Phase 5) was ranked
FE=FHIFIIFIBHEEEEE  the best selling residential project in Shenzhen in the
third quarter of 2012

K ER =R
The Spring Land — Shenzhen
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ARYIK A5 7E AR
SHENZHEN WATER FLOWER GARDEN

FELRTHE Key Statistics
H gL No. of phases 3 3
AR EAE (7 K) Site area (sq.m.) 164,764 164,764
F4A e T A & Construction start date —TE_HF=H March 2002
% T B Completion date —TERFTA October 2006
fhFT B EEEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 294,638 294,638
RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEtF o iEE M HEEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 4,992 4,992
EHEAHE
Project Overview
i B Location BRAF)TRERAREEE Xiangmei Road, Futian District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province
BREWMBDH Lease termof EHAEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
YMIEER Property type = - ZEKEFAT Residential, retail and clubhouse
=E Highlights FEE T AR OB ML B - FR LB E M Situated prominently in the exclusive region of the

LE_ZT=F[HhEFELM
BRIUNEZZET_FR-ZTT
MEIFERRHAE]

N

i)
=

city centre and offers unique view of the Honey
Lake

[t was awarded ‘Classical Chinese Model Residential
Property’ in 2003 and ‘Real Estate of the Year’ in
both 2002 and 2003

RYIKBTEE

Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ENRRHE
CHANGZHOU FASHION MARK

EfTEE Key Statistics

HR & No. of phases 4 4
b8 A& (5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 120,296 120,296
FgA e T A & Construction start date —ZTTHFENA August 2005
% T B Completion date —T—=%XA June 2013
ﬁsﬂ@&i SEmiE (CFAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 513,404 513,404
R= =F+ZA=+T—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
1éiu+aﬂ€ﬁ%/ﬂﬁiai$ &MEfE (FFA>K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 82,989 82,989
HEBE
Project Overview
b B Location AEEEMNMERRARE Xiyingli, Zhonglou District, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province
BEILDH Lease term of FHEE Medium-term lease
HEHR investment
portion
YIEER Property type = - ZENKHAE Residential, retail and office
=% Highlights TREMTEEP O Located at the commercial centre of Changzhou city

Y —EERE[FEEFEMET A Ranked in “China Top 10 Mainstream Real
FRFEEE]  MEBEBNREE %i Estate Projects” in 2005 and Twin Stars (serviced
fl ROE(RBADE)REIZF  apartments) of the project was awarded “2006 Best
ZERFEKERRAR] International Apartment in China”

—HE=HEBHTEKAFLAM ©  Phases 1-3 comprise mainly retail or apartments
P4 B B & = 8 150 K E’] AAEEIE  while Phase 4 is a large-scale residential project with
H height over 150 metres

BRAEERRF Secured well-known anchor tenants

EMNHEZEE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
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YIREERE

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

SERBEHAD
DONGGUAN LANDMARK

FELRTHE Key Statistics

H gL No. of phases 1 1
HARERE (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 18,738 18,738
FAHE T A & Construction start date ZTEREFERA June 2006
% T A 5 Completion date T N\FLA July 2008
AErREEmE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 79,679 79,679
RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEtF o iEE M HEEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 20,172 20,172
EHEAHE
Project Overview
i B Location &R A R 5e T o S IR AR BK 88 5 No. 88 Hongfu Road, Nancheng District, Dongguan,
Guangdong Province
BEELDH Lease termof RHMEE Long lease
HEHR investment
portion
MEFR Property type FERTE Residential and retail
=2 Highlights UREEFOEBEE  ANEEF L Located in the CBD of Dongguan and the dramatic
JEEEA LEEF  KAIEFE setting and accessibility of the mall substantially
Hh 5% e B9 7K S upgrade the local amenities

RERZAET D

Dongguan Landmark
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

PN SRR = D
HANGZHOU LANDMARK

FEHTTEE Key Statistics
HAZ No. of phases 1 1
AR E R (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 14,780 14,780
FianE T A HA Construction start date —EERE A January 2006
% T B Completion date —TTEFLA July 2007
fhEH AR EmEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 49,989 49,989
RZBEZ=F+=ZA=1+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
fhEtF A E AT E R LM AE (FFJ5K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 26,264 26,264
HEME
Project Overview
h B Location L F N R A& B T Ouhuazhou Avenue, Linping, Yuhang District,
BICNKE Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province
BREMBDH Lease termof FHEE Medium-term lease
FHAEHR  investment
portion
Y E X Rt Property type =& Retail
=% Highlights 23T Hb 88 Close proximity to metro station

BESEEHMES BRFEWTA Leveraging on high growth city attributes, Linping is

mN=EEgREERT 2 — set to be one of the three high growth satellite cities
of Hangzhou

ESMEBMEENTEPL » TMEMKY  Secured well-known anchor tenants attract not only

S| B =5 - M B 3| BE AR A other retailers, but also significant pedestrian traffic

=S
L

A ESE SEE Ll

Hangzhou Landmark
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MEXEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

REREHEG
CHENGDU FASHION MARK

FELRTHE Key Statistics
H gL No. of phases 2 2
HARERE (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 20,727 20,727
FAHE T A & Construction start date —ET——FXA June 2011
¥ T A Hf Completion date —ET—=—F+=A December 2012
fhaT B EEmE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 139,265 139,265
RZZE—=F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable/leasable
HETFAIHE A HEEREEE (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 39,776 39,776
EHEAHE
Project Overview
ih B Location o114 AR T B R [ — IR B P R Hongpailou, Fourth Section of Second Ring Road,
FANC R Wuhou District, Chengdu, Sichuan Province
MEER Property type Z&RHAE Retail and office
=% Highlights SEim b iE = SR AR SR PR BR b Close proximity to Jialing Road Station of Metro line
ghiig p y 9
no. 3
AR IE T 5 KL ARE 1,426.57T  Site was secured at approximately RMB1,426.5 per
A KBERITELEREEB BT sq.m., significantly lower than the average land cost
B A for comparable projects
KERZEE S

Chengdu Fashion Mark
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RERTH
TIANJIN LE LEMAN CITY

FERTEE Key Statistics

HA & No. of phases 3 3
HARERE (F 5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 114,080 114,080
F A e T A & Construction start date —ZT——fXA June 2012
% T A Hf Completion date —ZET=ZTFRA June 2020
AErREEmEE (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 114,080 114,080
RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
Bt RO iEE MHEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 19,595 19,595
EHAHE
Project Overview
i B Location ﬁﬁgfi bRk e Junction of Beihua Road and Jincang Expressway,
ERRBRENEEA Jinhai County, Tianjin
MEER Property type FEZEKRZTE Residential and retail
=2 Highlights FEEE R EmA L (FHE) 208 2 Located 20 kilometres (“km”) away from Tianjin city
([RE]) centre (Nankai District)

EE%&;”ZE" KEZESRE
/N

] 15 Z’] 12 Approximately 12 km away from the south station
NERIFRESR #)5

of Beijing-Tianjin high-speed railway and 5 km away
from Beijing-Tianjin Expressway

B
P

KA

Tianjin Le Leman City




42 AEEREEERAF-T- 4%

MEXEEBE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

KBER-ER
THE SPRING LAND - NANJING

FELRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
AR mEAE (SF 75 K) Site area (sq.m.) 60,825 60,825
R #a e T A HA Construction start date —T—=F—A January 2013
3% T B Completion date —ZE—HENAR August 2015
fhEH AR SEmEE (FHK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 188,125 188,125
RZEBEZ=F+ZA=+—H0K Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEtFatEE M HEEREEE (FAK) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 717 717

HEME

Project Overview

i 25 Location L&A R R E AR Hexi CBD, Jianye District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province

%=
mERR Property type TE£RTE Residential and retail
=B Highlights Az 7R 78 O B TS [ B R 0 b A Located in the central area of Hexi CBD

A EE D R R B R A
REeES BE XEREFHHE
i3 B AR RII =AM
=

Hexi CBD has been planned to be a modern area
integrating trade, business, culture and sports in
the city which is connected with Shanghai in the
Yangtze River Delta

IKEIE R — R
The Spring Land — Nanjing
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

LigERIEE
SHANGHAI BAY VALLEY PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
Y i B A Acquisition date —E—+F 31 July
+A=+—H 2017
ErrREE®E (FAK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 97,854 97,854
RZE-=F+="A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
e FAIHE A EELmAE (F5K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 97,526 97,526
HEBE
Project Overview
i B Location ESB AR TENBERAEMR®E  International Community Sector, New Jiangwan
City, Yangpu District, Shanghai
YIEER Property type iz Office
=& Highlights I RIS ERIAI R O — BB AR Located at Yangpu Technology Venture Centre —
B EFHKISEEERRESESE Bay Valley Technology Park, with the same level as
WIEAL Zhangjiang Hi-tech Park

EBEAREE
Shanghai Bay Valley Project
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YIREERE

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

ERNEREEREEL

HONG KONG KOWLOON TONG RUTLAND QUADRANT PROJECT
FELRTHE Key Statistics
SiiE No. of phases TEA N/A
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 958 958
Yo H 51 Acquisition date —E-N\F 7 February

—AtH 2018

RZZE-=F+-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable/leasable
HEHFEE AIMEEEREE (FHK)  GFA(sqg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 574 574

HEHME

Project Overview

ih B Location ERENEEEBEOR No. 6 Rutland Quadrant, Kowloon Tong,
Hong Kong
YIEER Property type #&& Campus

o

L Highlights ENBRE B TS D E

5-minute walk from Kowloon Tong MTR Station

BENEEZREER

Hong Kong Kowloon Tong Rutland Quadrant Project
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

BEMAEY B
KUNMING DIANCHI LAKESIDE PENINSULA

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 558 558
Y5 B A7 Acquisition date —E-N\F 31 January
—A=+—H 2018
RZE-=F+="A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
fETFAIHE A EELmAE (F5K)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 1,415 1,415
HAHE
Project Overview
i B Location EHEEERANFHEMREREMN Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula Business Center,
B SEBH O Liujia Sub-district Office, Guandu District,
Yunnan Province
YIEER Property type f{I= Residential
=& Highlights WERE MK E IREMEM - B{E  Close to the waterfront of Dianchi with superior and
&7 i@ comfortable living environment
BEREMBEXS

Kunming Dianchi Lakeside Peninsula
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YIREERE

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIKGE £ RE
SHENZHEN UPPER RESIDENCE

FELRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
Fta e T A H Construction start date —E—+FmMA April 2017
% T HH Completion date —E-__FNA April 2022
hFH R W (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 73,228 73,228
RZE_=F+A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
RO iEE M HEREEE (FAKX) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 9,442 9,442

HEBE

Project Overview

b B Location BRERYIMIEERNEAER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
MEER Property type = Residential
=5 Highlights ZEE BT EYEMEE UL - 1T Highly accessible with a 5-minute walking distance
55 & from Shangtang Metro Station

IR E FRE
Shenzhen Upper Residence
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

% %128 WATERLOO
HONG KONG 128 WATERLOO

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 1 1
A ERE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,692 1,692
FaaHE L A HA Construction start date —ZE-NFE/N\HA August 2018
3% T B Completion date —T-_—%+—A November 2021
HEREEER (F 7 K) Total GFA (sq.m.) 7,966 7,966
RZE_=F+ZA=+—8BH Estimated net saleable/leasable
HETFAIHE A HEEREmE (FHK)  GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 4,212 4,212

HEBE

Project Overview

i B Location BENEEBITEE 1289 No. 128 Waterloo Road, Kowloon Tong,

Hong Kong
WHEER  Property type =% Residential
=8 Highlights A8 ML BEVE B AR HAZ M Luxurious landmark residence located in prestigious

school district in Kowloon Tong

&5 128 WATERLOO
Hong Kong 128 Waterloo
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YIREERE

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RY| = KRS
SHENZHEN EXCELLENCE TIME SQUARE

FELRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases TEA N/A
g mAE (5 K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,822 1,822
I i& B 88 Acquisition date —ETX 29 November
+—A=+ANAH 2006
RZZE-=F+-A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
BEtF e AIMEEEREE (FAK) GFA(sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 423 423
HAHE
Project Overview
i 25 Location YT 1R H = = B Yitian Road, Futian District, Shenzhen
YIEER Property type &% Commercial
=% Highlights R ZRIF O IS E A P AR Located in the southern central axis of Shenzhen
CBD

RY| 2 B ES

Shenzhen Excellence Time Square
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIRKREBRKE
SHENZHEN TOPSPRING INTERNATIONAL MANSION

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 1 1
Faa e T A H Construction start date —ZE-NENHA August 2019
TEHR% T H HA Expected completion date ZEZMF A June 2024
hFH4RREmE R (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 107,281 107,281
RZEBEZ=F+-_A=+—H0H Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEH RO iEE M HEREEE (FAKX) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 58,020 58,020

HAME

Project Overview

ih 2h Location EREFRIITRRERTEAEBR Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
MEFR Property type ZELHAE Retail and office
=5 Highlights RiMITE - BRI Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang

Metro Station

RN BB KRE
Shenzhen Topspring International Mansion
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YIREERE

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

RYIE LR KRR
SHENZHEN JIANSHANG COMMERCIAL BUILDING

FELRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
Fta e T A H Construction start date ZZT—NFNA  September 2019
TEHR% T HHA Expected completion date —ENFE=R February 2024
hFH R EmE S (F77K) Total estimated GFA (sq.m.) 21,829 21,829
RZE_=F+A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
EEt RO iEE M HEREEE (FAKX) GFA (sg.m.) as at 31 December 2023 9,531 9,531

HEBE

Project Overview

b B Location BRERYIMIEERNEAER Xinqu Ave West, Longhua District, Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province
MEER Property type ZELEMHAE Retail and office
=5 Highlights RimIT 8 - BRI b Convenient transportation and close to Shangtang

Metro Station

ARYIE LA AR

Shenzhen Jianshang Commercial Building
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

BRTHT N\HMKER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG SHAP PAT HEUNG ROAD PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases 1 1
WAREE (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 6,504 6,504
A e T B Hi Construction start date —E-—#=AH March 2022
TEHRME T H A Expected completion date —E-_RF+—A8 November 2025
HEREEER (F 7 K) Total GFA (sq.m.) 22,764 22,764
R_E—_=F+=-A=+—HH Estimated net saleable/leasable
hEHFAIHE P EREmE (FHK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 20,050 20,050
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location BB R TAE T N\ Shap Pat Heung Road, Yuen Long District, NT,
Hong Kong
WHEER  Property type =% Residential
= Highlights PEPRISARTTRANA S S $EEAR + #/\BF 5-minute drive from Yuen Long Station of West Rail
AR ET R Line, to reach downtown within half an hour
BT\ HIEIEE

Hong Kong Yuen Long Shap Pat Heung Road Project
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YIREERE

PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

EEBTBARKIER
HONG KONG YUEN LONG TAI TONG ROAD PROJECT
FELRTHE Key Statistics
EREL No. of phases 1 1
AR (F77K) Site area (sq.m.) 1,031 1,031
a6 T BEA Construction start date —E-——&F=H March 2022
TEER T HEA Expected completion date —E-RHERA May 2025
HELEER (FF7K) Total GFA (sq.m.) 3,383 3,383
RZZE—=F+=-A=+—HHK Estimated net saleable/leasable
BB ARG, A HEREEEE (FAK)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 2,987 2,987
HEBE
Project Overview
i Bh Location BEFTRTHERER Tai Tong Road, Yuen Long District, NT, Hong Kong
WEER  Property type =% Residential
=5 Highlights PEEPRE AR T RAuE S D EEE AR 5-minutes drive from Yuen Long Station to West
HFNEFA R ET R Rail line, to reach downtown within half an hour
BERTAAREKIER

Hong Kong Yuen Long Tai Tong Road Project
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MEXEBHE
PROPERTY PROJECTS PORTFOLIO

BB LKEHEKER
HONG KONG SHEUNG SHUI MA SIK ROAD PROJECT

Key Statistics

HAZ No. of phases TiEA N/A
AR EAE (F 75 0K) Site area (sq.m.) 9,098 9,098
Wi H 58 Acquisition date —E—+F 11 July
+A+—H 2017

et EmE (FHXK) Total estimated GFA (sg.m.) 7,278 7,278
RZZBZ=F+=-A=+—HH® Estimated net saleable/leasable
fhEHBAIsEE AITAERE®E (F5K)  GFA (sq.m.) as at 31 December 2023 6,497 6,497

HEBE

Project Overview

i B Location BERFR LKGER Ma Sik Road, Sheung Shui, NT, Hong Kong

YI¥EH  Property type = Residential

= Highlights W 3T b 7K b 88w DA K2 #9353 3 S8 Proximity to Sheung Shui MTR Station and Fanling

MTR Station
BB LEKGEKESR

Hong Kong Sheung Shui Ma Sik Road Project
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRARE
REBEBREEERARMAZRARE e
rErmE ((FHE])  HiXEEHE—F
TEFET A= -BLEFEERE HEK
ER(TBRRE HERERD THTEBLERK
BB E o

& HIE

KREMEREN _BE_=F—HF—HBF=-Z
Z=F+ZA=t+-—RB(=Z==F]3[#®
SHIR | EASEMNPTRFE R HRE -
HEREREBHHERKE -

& i
AHRERERFEBEEEERAR ([R2F])
MEMBAR (GHEIAE@I L [&RM)) =
RREBEFEANRMAZOEBHNREREER
B RXE-REBBRENBEREE TE -
EXER YEERE HERRENGAMSE
B AREEMANFERTRARNERREE
UREEMENBRIEE  XBHREER
Y~ EBREEFZOWT

AHERBEORFBERAELER ((HARERE
B BRERDBEFEARMR T EAMLREFS
BHEE TR ERRAFEE (HERM) -
TXF#

o FIIKHEIL
Shenzhen Hidden Valley
o RYIKEHIEE
Shenzhen Water Flower Garden
e REXZEBEEPRDL
Dongguan Landmark
o MIMNEEBEEFHDL
Hangzhou Landmark
PSS & 57

Tianjin Le Leman City

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Top Spring International Holdings Limited is pleased to present this
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management approaches affecting the operation
and performance in respect of environmental, social and governance (“ESG")
aspects for the year ended 31 December 2023.

REPORTING PERIOD

This report provides an overview of Top Spring’s ESG management approach
and performance during the year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
("2023" or the “Reporting Period”), which is in conformity with the Group’s
financial year.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers Top Spring International Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”, “we” or “us”) focuses on the
environmental and social performance of our core business during the year
under review. Top Spring is a conglomerate group with businesses focused on
boutique residences, retail, industrial parks, property management, education,
and investment. The Group specialised in the development and operation of
urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale of residential
properties with regional footprint covering core cities including Shenzhen,
Shanghai and Hong Kong.

The environmental key performance indicators (the “KPIs”) disclosed in this
report cover our offices and own assets (prior to sales) under our operational
control in Mainland China and Hong Kong during the year under review as
listed below:

o KBIEHEXR-IRI
The Spring Land — Shenzhen
o EMEZR#HE
Changzhou Fashion Mark
o RYIHRER
Shenzhen Fashion Walk
o  KEEZHE
Chengdu Fashion Mark
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

WHERE
ABEN2REEBARZABERAR (&
BB Er ETARRA(TETRRAD 8
Q-CRE g kEREEED ((RER -
HEREARBEEID) MRE - AEECDE
SCRE - HeRERAREEIDAEHTET
BB ESZR - ARESTAUATHRER
AE2MN B FER -2 - B TR
SEECERMEEETENKRR -

& R A
Reporting
Principles

REEE M

Application by the Group

REPORTING BASIS

This Report is prepared with reference to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEx"). The Group has complied
with the disclosure requirements of the “comply or explain” provisions set out
in the ESG Reporting Guide. This Report summarised the Group’s performance
in corporate and social responsibilities applying the reporting principles of
“Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency” as below.

B2M REEFAEFHEFEBBINNRTERE HIREMBECEAMREEN  UZEETAKENE
BEERAFEERE -

The Group identified and evaluated the materiality and the importance of ESG issues through continuous
communication with our stakeholders and taking into consideration the Group’s business operations and

sustainable development.

Materiality

21t REBEEHHTEHE  THEEBAAGEHBRERNRTERE - AEBHHERE I SHREBIRRE
TE(LIREE - WA o

The Group has taken the initiative to formulate policies and record relevant measurable data for performance
monitoring and evaluation. The Group disclosed its environmental and social KPIs quantitatively with

explanations.

Quantitative

i REENEBREERER RARMNAFERREIRE HgRE6EBcRE  UBEFAESTEE
FEBERRNAEN N ESEE BRI ERBA -

The Group has presented our performance in sustainable development and ESG issues based on objective facts
and avoided improper selections, omissions or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a decision

or judgment by the report reader.

Balance

— AEBESFHARENFELELBREVIESART T ARA - THER - BHABRNLBRUFER
SEZRH -

Consistency The Group adopted a consistent approach annually on the disclosure scope and statistical methods used for KPIs

in this Report to provide a meaningful comparison for our performance evaluation.

5 B RIR
RBEMBOESNBEFRRAEEEAR
XM SETREMAFRER - LEBAME
FEZ - ABERARRER(EED e ([E
EgERRIE HEAREEN - £HEIE
MEEMEE -

BERARE

N ER B P N &R - 3 A E R
AEZ2HE - EREAXBRABEMEERE - #
NEXMR &% BT A& AR R
www.xingyewulian.com % 7 4 B 32 T 4 4
www.hkexnews.hk & B 8 5 5 6 B F X f ©

SOURCE OF INFORMATION

Information and data contained in this Report are derived from the Group’s
formal internal documents, statistical reports and public information, after
verification by relevant departments. This Report was reviewed and approved by
the board (“Board”) of directors (" Directors”) of the Company who takes the
responsibility for the truthfulness, accuracy and completeness of its contents.

ACCESS TO THE REPORT

This Report is available in electronic version in Chinese and English languages.
Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and English versions,
the English version shall prevail. You may access the Company’s website at
www.xingyewulian.com and the website of the HKEx at www.hkexnews.hk for
an electronic copy of this Report.
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RE #HERERERSE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes all stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions.
Stakeholders can provide valuable advice in respect of the Report or the Group’s
performances in sustainable development by email to IR@topspring.com.

ABOUT US

We are a conglomerate group integrating the real estate investment and
development, industrial operation, commercial property management,
formative education and emerging industries investment businesses operating
in the mainland (excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan Province, “Mainland
China"”) of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) and Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”).

The Group always adheres to the positioning of building quality property. With
a strong focus on the commercial and residential property investment and
development, asset management, industrial operation and other businesses
in the Greater Bay Area (as defined below), the centres of which are Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Guangzhou, as well as the economically dynamic regions
including Shanghai, the Group actively leverages multinational operations and is
familiar with the characteristics of Hong Kong and Mainland China to integrate
global resources and develop sustainable metropolitan industry communities
through city-industry integration, serve urban development and industrial
upgrading and strive to become a practitioner on diversified investments in
facilitating the achievement of national strategies.

ESG GOVERNANCE

Sustainable development remains a top agenda in the business world and
stakeholders are demanding more actions from corporations to address
emerging ESG challenges. We operate with a mission to explore relationship of
privity between men and city, to make positive impact on communities in which
we invest, and to lead a quality and environmental-friendly lifestyle.

The Group commits to the incorporation of sustainability into our business
strategy, planning and overall governance structure. Recognising the
importance of ESG-related matters, the Board carries overall responsibility
for overseeing the Group’s ESG issues, ESG strategy and reporting, relevant
policies, and initiatives. It is also the responsibility of the Board, to evaluate
and determine the ESG-related risks, and ensure appropriate and effective ESG
risk management and internal control systems are in place. The management
monitors the implementation of relevant policies and measures to ensure the
Group is on track to achieving our ESG-related goals and targets. Reports are
made to the Board for their review and confirmation.

ESG Management Structure

To ensure the efficacy of ESG management, the Group has established ESG
management structure with a three-tier hierarchy consisting of the Board,
senior management and the ESG function group, each of which is responsible
for well-defined duties and work in a coordinated manner.
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HERERERTM -

Decision-making and approval level

IRR M ERLE R

Supervision, Coordination and implementation level
EE - wANERER

As the highest decision-making body of the Company, the Board has a
primary role in oversight for the Group’s overall ESG governance issues, and
incorporates sustainability into our Group’s long-term business development
strategy and value creation. The Board regularly assesses risks and opportunities
associated with the ESG issues as highlighted by the management; reviews and
approves the implementation of the ESG strategies, goals and performance;
reviews and ensures the risk management and internal control system are in
place.

The management is responsible for monitoring the implementation of relevant
policies and measures to ensure the Group is on track to achieving our ESG-
related goals and targets. Reports are made to the Board for their review and
confirmation.

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

Every year, through the risk identification, stakeholders engagement, materiality
assessment and the review of policy formulation process, the Board approves
the management approaches on ESG issues that are material to our Group and
bases on the regular review on ESG performance with the strategic goals and
targets to make constant progress and improvement on ESG issues in our daily
operation responding to the stakeholders’ expectations and jointly promoting
the sustainable development of the Group.

In order to assess the effectiveness and the appropriateness of the ESG
strategies, goals and targets, regular review on the progress achievement is
necessary for any rectification if the progress falls short of expectation. To
promote a long-term sustainability and develop a realistic roadmap, the Group
formulates ESG strategies with strategic goals to achieve in five years.

Review of Progress against ESG-related Goals and Targets

The Board is responsible for reviewing the progress of attaining ESG-related
goals and proposing direction for the Group’s ESG development going forward
based on the progress.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends on the
support from our stakeholders, who (a) have invested or will invest in the
Group; (b) have the ability to influence the outcomes within the Group; and
(c) are interested in or affected by or have the potential to be affected by the
impact of the Group’s activities, products, services and relationships.

The Group engages with our stakeholders to understand and respond to the
concerns of our stakeholders, develop mutually beneficial relationships and
seek their views on its business proposals and initiatives so as to promote
sustainability in the marketplace, workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained from our
stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s business
activities. The Group has identified our key stakeholders that are important to
our business and established various channels for communication. Through
general communication with stakeholders, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns from stakeholders. Their feedbacks allow the Group
to assess the impact of our decisions on ESG issues, but also to adjust our
direction of business development and growth. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of
our key stakeholders.

The following table provides an overview of the issue of concerns of the
Group's key stakeholders, and various communication channels and methods
used to reach, listen and respond.

HHE BEEE SHERE B8
Stakeholders Issues of Concerns Engagement channels Practices
BT I BB W o ESFRA EERER e FERTIFEHE - TIEME e« BREBEZEREREE-
Government and Compliance with the rules, RERREXBEHARAR BB R AT
regulatory laws and regulations MEEm Operated, managed and paid
authorities Research and discussions taxes according to laws and

o  ZEHMMBK
Proper tax payment

s  EERBUTEK

Response to the

government’s policies

through work conferences, regulations

work reports preparation

and submission for approval ¢ EARFEE - BEK
ERGES

s FH/RDNEH
Annual reports and

Cooperated with
government’s supervision,

announcements inspection and evaluation
review
e AR
Company website o REFWEREMIFE K
o FERR Disclosed and reported
Annual filing information in a timely and

accurate manner
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SHERE
Engagement channels

R

Practices

RRREER
Shareholders and
Investors

&8

Employees

EEHENARHER
Information disclosure and
transparency

[ B K =] 3R
Risk and returns

RERRER R A FHEF

S

Protection of interests
and fair treatment of
shareholders

HNE

Remuneration packages

BERERZE
Occupational health and
safety

THEIRER
Working environment

BEIRES
Career development
opportunities

FH - PBREDE
Annual and interim reports
and announcements

AN aE A uh
Company website

BEAE

General meetings

aoll - g - TEGR
Ehe

Training, seminars,
workshops, briefing sessions

MIERBEED
Cultural and sport activities

NEEA - BHR N BES
Intranet, emails and notice

EEHE

Employee surveys

SRRt PN U 3
REBEANIEEKE

Made relevant disclosures
about Group’s business
development in a timely
manner

FAEZERANKREESH -
RaREENRAE
Carried out different forms

of investor activities with an
aim to improve investors’
recognition

ARRRRE

Convened general meetings

TE At A 33 & P B2 B2 8 B B
BAXNFBILRRESEER
REBBEBEX

Disclosed company contact
details on website and in
reports and ensured all
communication channels
available and effective

RERERZEZ2OHTERER
Provided a healthy and safe
working environment

BEBREREXE THE
Organized occupational and
professional staff trainings

VAN RO SR il
Developed a fair promotion
mechanism on career path

RiEBEBHEE RAENEES
Organized care and welfare
activities for employees
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Stakeholders Issues of Concerns Engagement channels Practices

LSS e RERBHERNRE o REMEU - /MBF - mE e REBEZL2MRERME
Customers Safe and high-quality W FHREASE Provided a clean and secure
products and services Company website, environment and community
brochures, notice boards,
e MEERFHX annual reports and o  EERPIRFEIEHS
Responsive to customers’ announcements Improved customer complaint
needs handling process
s WMEERE
o  EH{ZB& Satisfaction surveys o FERFHEREXRATMRE
Mutual trustworthy MEEREFER
relationship o EPFRBERZ Enhanced intelligent functions
Customer service hotline and customer experience
through mobile application
e EFFEFHERRERN
Mobile application for
customers
HEFKEBEE o KESEBER o ENewm HEEgE. o RIUQNFHEHRD
B Long-term partnership BRE MEE Established a fair tendering
Suppliers and Business Business meetings, supplier mechanism
partners o AHREHKEME conferences, phone calls
Performance and obligation and interviews o  INEBEEE HEZHMHE
under contracts ARkEBEEIRASHE
o BEERIRE B R
e HIEERF On-site audit or checks Enhanced daily
Tendering process communication, and
established long-term
cooperation with quality
suppliers and contractors
o  RHMTHIREMERE
Provided regular feedbacks for
improvement
GEI s KBHZE o (TEEH MAE s MEQATHEF HERAXAE
Industry associations Experience sharing Industry conference/seminar ERERRD ZLER
Maintained fair play,
e &1E o EMHDH cooperated with peers to
Cooperation Site visit realize win-win situation and

shared experiences
e RNFHmF
Fair competition o ZINITEME - LS
TEAFEER
Attended industry seminars to
promote industry sustainable
development
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has evaluated the materiality and attached the importance in ESG
aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification by industry
benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritization with stakeholders’ engagement;
and (3) validation and determining material ESG issues based on results of
communication among stakeholders and the management. Hence, this can
enhance understanding of their degree and change of attention to each
significant ESG issue, and can enable us to be more comprehensive when
planning our sustainable development work strategy in the future. Those
important and material ESG areas identified during our materiality assessment
were discussed in this Report.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the Report by
understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the business of the
Group. All the key ESG issues and KPIs are reported in this Report according to
disclosure requirements set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through benchmarking analysis,
with consideration into industry trends, regulatory and market
requirements and corporate development strategies. In accordance
with the ESG Reporting Guide, ESG issues were categories into
four areas: Environmental Protection, Employment Management,
Operating Practices and Community Involvement.

Step 2: Prioritization — Stakeholder Engagement

o The Group obtained the opinions and expectations from key internal
and external stakeholders including those identified in the section
“Stakeholders Engagement” during daily operation on key ESG
issues identified above to ensure all the key aspects to be covered for
prioritization and assessment.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

° The Group's management discussed based on the result of
benchmarking identification and stakeholders’ engagement, and
determined the materiality of each ESG issue in relations to our
business characteristics and daily operation.

. The Group’s management ensured all material ESG issues, which were
important to our business development, were reported in this Report
and in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group identifies the most relevant ESG
aspects on an ongoing basis by reviewing our business operation, latest market
landscape and relevant legislations to understand and address the concerns
of our stakeholders. There were no major changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities, hence our latest list of material issues has remained
unchanged on the basis of the materiality assessment conducted in previous
year. 15 material ESG issues across environmental, social and governance
aspects have been identified as impactful and significant to the Group and its
stakeholders.

B e BR

Environmental Social Governance

o FEKEREKAK e H[E o NEER
Water consumption and Community Corporate governance
conservation e EmEMR s FEEEE

o BERMUIE MENBETEBE Product responsibility Business integrity
Energy efficiency and conservation o {EREHEE IR

o EEWER Supply chain management
Waste management o BT AR|

e ERNERHZ Labour practices
Indoor air quality e EEREZRE

o ERBEM Health and safety
Air emission e EEERKEI

o RIREKREREHM
Climate change and GHG emission
e HREKRE

Community Investment

ELasRS - BPE - ER D EANEE R
ROEXEENNEEEH - RPIBROIRFTEDH#
RZEFEH YAKNERE  BERLEER
PIEIRE - HERERTIF -

Employee development and training
BT
Employee benefits

Within the list above, we have further identified eight most significant issues to
our Group and stakeholders. We are committed to adequately address these
issues and maintain comprehensive and transparent disclosures of our ESG
efforts to our stakeholders.
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Environmental

e
Social

= IUN
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Governance

EXREBE

Material issues

Indoor air quality

FEKE RETHAK
Water consumption and conservation

BE IR AN PE I EP e FE e
Energy efficiency and conservation

EmEE
Product responsibility

R B 2 2
Health and safety

R E#RKE

Employee development and training

ERER

Corporate governance

[SESEE

Business integrity
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Relevance

FREARMETHENENEZREZRUREEFER
Improve living quality with enhanced indoor air quality in our
residential projects

EHPER REBHNYES - BBEKRRES AR
BEHTHHARKBREALER BRI RETKEE
BRANBEUEE

Improve water use efficiency through water efficient designs
in our designed and managed properties; recycle and reuse
of water in our construction sites as much as possible; ensure
wastewater discharge on our construction sites meet relevant
discharge standards
FRERMIFTRET RE IR RN EN B R 5T R B = e
R HEEERIRER  RESHNER

Improve energy efficiency through the adoption of energy-
efficient designs and equipment in our designed and managed
properties; continue monitoring of energy consumption to
promote energy conservation
WRMEHEERBEVENRE  BREKENEFPERE
FHERE

Ensure the quality of property projects and educational supplies;
ensure customer information collected is well protected
MRETIAZALZE2NTERE  WEEEEEISO 45001
B % & 2 2 2 B ¥ 8 K (Occupational Health and Safety
Management System) R : [l 8 TR T HEE L 2E
Ensure safe working environment for our staff; property
management is certified with I1SO 45001 Occupational Health
and Safety Management System; provide regular health and
safety training for staff
FRAAGETREADBEIRERFECEEETET
TR

Continue staff’s development by providing in-house training to
front-line staff and sponsoring further studies by application
BRAQRMMA - BRREBFE - WHEERAQFNER
e RER R

Ensure system of rules, practices and processes are in place and
that the Company is managed in the interest of shareholders
EREHMEERBRTNER  BEEHR RERRHEE -
REE=FTHANHERE UARMIERBFITR

Manage issues surrounding ethical conduct of business,
including compliance, anti-corruption and bribery, protecting
intellectual property rights of third parties, and preventing anti-
competitive practices
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Green designs and features

RIEEER
FEFTEEAALEREME—BE/IESIT
REEBREETRBATEREEERER
BIEETRACREARKMEIRERE
E) (R EARLFMBEARSEPAE)
(REEARLEMBET R AE) (P&
AR E E R Y5 RIRIE I AE)
(PEARKEMBEEHHERE)E - A
SEREEET IS EEER B eAE
T E RS WA gL B ERMIHBE -
AEEERBEHEAENELTIRES
BEX  WHEES TISOI4001REE
BREARE BRHEERETERREW
TEHEE  URSRMANCEETHE
RIEMFE - RS M AEEW T
THEBERTREREZEHEMNEMER
FH(ZEZZF &) -

L E
BMEeEdsecEZfEamARZENE
mEH e MENRE RAZHIB
B BMELRBEEEEYTHIZE
(Assessment Standard for Green Building)
(GB/T 50378-2020) 4 B LA RE
Ko BBFBALLEM  ERNERBA -
PREMERE - BREF N - REMBEL IR
BNEGEAR SO E R - FZMET
ERRZERENGZERE -

WE R RS .

Passive building design

BE IR IE I EP e TR B o
Energy efficiency and conservation

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT

Guided by our vision to be the provider of ideal living space, the Group is
in strict compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations
in PRC, including but not limited to the Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC (% A R ZL A 3R 15 (R JL) , Protection and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution of the PRC {Hr % A R B K RS 2B 85D,
the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC {# # A R
MEIKS B8 7%), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes { FZE A R £+ F B & 42
WS RIRIE LA E), the Energy Conservation Law of the PRC {1 £ A
REFMBIEHI4EJR%). Our Group would be subject to payment of fines
and penalties, and our reputation may be damaged if there is any failure
to comply with these laws and regulations. The Group has established
an environmental management system based on its operating models
and continuously obtained the certification of ISO14001 Environmental
Management System intending to promote the improvement and
development of the environmental management system and mitigate
the impacts of our operations on the environment. During the Reporting
Period, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance issue (2022: nil) in
relation to the environmental laws of Hong Kong and the PRC.

Property Design

The green building concept is incorporated into the lifecycle of our
buildings. From the development and design phases to the construction
of properties, we refer to green building guidelines and requirements,
including the Assessment Standard for Green Building (GB/T 50378-2020).
By taking into account various aspects such as public green space, indoor
natural ventilation, sound insulation quality, building lighting, construction
material optimisation, thermal insulation and shadings, we are creating
green buildings with lowered environmental impacts.

HH B

Relevant measures

MARDRARERTUARSZBRBALRFSFIRANR

Incorporating passive building designs to improve ventilation and optimise
sunlight exposure

EEREETEEERRE RS WEERNEERY

Installing smart temperature and humidity sensors in each unit to enhance living
conditions of residents

ZHEEEERE (MLEDEA)

Installing energy-efficient fixtures such as LED lighting

P AR B A RS 2 & B aE DU F R B R

Improving energy efficiency with designs such as variable speed ventilation
drives and heat recovery

REANGREAHEERES

Exploring renewable energy opportunities such as solar energy



RE - HERERKRE

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 65

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BERTREH HHBAtE HE

Green designs and features Relevant measures

PR T 8 4 FR 7K o (ERMEKEESH KRS

Water efficiency and conservation Using water-efficient designs such as water-saving features
ENEREER o LZERERFERBEUNEZENERER

Indoor air quality Installing air purifying equipment to improve indoor air quality
fo$u) o  EIEZMEREAK

Green space

Tih
BMERETRAMNEZERIBESEER
HERSEEEREG BRAOLS M
TEETHBENRBEEZEER BHEZ
SHREARARMEETIHNIRERYT
M WRADESOTENEmEE -

Greening of rooftops and vertical walls

Construction Sites

We ensure full compliance with the relevant environmental laws and
regulations at operating locations by enforcing various monitoring and
control measures in different key construction site management aspects.
Implementing the measures promotes the environmental friendliness
of our construction sites and reduce its negative impacts on the nearby
communities.

EEEM HEBAE I
Management aspects Relevant measures
REHEH e MEBEERENIH THERSAEHREFEEEI61E100% ] ([61E
Air emissions 100%])
Implementing the “Six 100%" (“61&100% ") measures of dust pollution
prevention and control at construction sites under regulatory requirements
o RBE BT T RIS KR HIIE B RS B 69 520 5 6 RE S Bk AR
Measuring and limiting the exhaust smoke of diesel engines for non-road mobile
machinery as required by local government
REEYE R o INSRIEE BRI EHKITIRE B EREEMNEE

Waste management

REKE .
Wastewater management
RIGEHE .

Environmental management

Reinforcing the management of the disposal and recycling of construction
wastes in response to the latest requirements
ERAERNBERERLZERBREEEEEY

Sourcing qualified vendors to ensure proper treatment and disposal of hazardous
wastes

TEHE AR 2 AT A% T4 % 7K B B2 2 AT B K °F

Treating wastewater at our work sites to acceptable limits before discharge
ZHUREABEHETHIRE L2 REFEHRBETENRSES

Arranging regular inspections on the environmental, safety and health measures
conducted by construction contractors
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MEER

BIEBRMIBRREN  BERSAE

Property Management
We continue to enhance the environmental performance of our self-

¥OBRREER - TR AFEREERKIE operating properties by adopting various green measures. Below are the

FOIRBEFEMERNNEREE -

EEEE

major initiatives carried out during the year to manage the environmental
impacts of our activities.

HEEE

Management aspects

ERERE

Energy management

REER

Environmental management
HPE2H

Tenants’ engagement

&= % A
Recycling

K ERER

Rainwater collection and reuse

MEERE

Property management

Relevant measures

o BRPRGTRKB/LEDEER
Upgrading lighting systems with LED fixtures

e HARHEHNRABECHS
Reducing the amount of lighting used in common areas

o MEFFISO 14001 IRFEE R AMARE
Maintaining ISO 14001 Environmental Management System certification

o FEEFLKERE - KRWEER) BERZEHE
Encouraging tenants to minimise their resource consumption (electricity, water
and material use)

o MAPIERMEIWERNE - LURDEY
Providing tenants with recycling facilities for waste reduction

e RMEMHSHEZERZERETEFEDUZBELPBLERY TEREN
AL AXHEBBTNEXRYEREBREZE
Supporting the old clothing recycling activity of local government by providing
venues for equipment and publicity activities and encouraging tenants to donate
old clothes to those in need

e HMBBEKFKESKIE RiELPMRMREAREAEERPETLS
R IE FE B4R 11t 175 B
Assisting construction contractors to implement safety protective measures for
tenants during construction work by separating rainwater from sewage

e WMREBBEBEBMZREARERERE BEEATREHMARERER
B S
Ensuring strict compliance with relevant regulations when using pesticides and
cleansing agents, and aiming for zero incidents regarding their use and storage

o REFMATHEBHREZER B METERIE
Treating waste cooking oils from restaurants before being discharged

o REBERRMAFEEEELRABMETK  EVRERS
Managing community wastewater, waste and noise according to national and
local standards
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A1:

Education-related business

As part of our environmental protection efforts, the Group emphasises
energy conservation and reduction of paper use in the operation of our
education-related business. Through the replacement of paper-based
office administrative systems with the electronic office automation (OA)
system, we are promoting paperless practices across our offices. We have
also raised environmental awareness of employees as they are encouraged
to turn off electronic appliances when not in use, reuse paper and adopt
double-sided printing whenever possible.

In terms of provision of educational products, in addition to strictly
complying with the stringent requirements of the Education Bureau of
Hong Kong on quality of educational supplies, we are advocating the
adoption of energy-efficient and environmental-friendly products such as
supporting the transitioning from traditional paper books to e-books and
will work towards this direction in the course of book publications. We
have also provided recyclable teaching supplies to schools by storing them
in warehouses when not in use.

Emissions

Air Pollutants Emission

The air pollutants emitted by the Group mainly come from the fuel
consumed by electric generators. We encourage employees to adopt
alternative communication means, such as continuing to actively
implement carbon reduction measures in order to reduce air pollutants
emissions that arise from operations. Furthermore, the Group targets to
reduce the emission of air pollutants by 10% by 2030 as compared to
2022.

During the reporting period, the air pollutant emission was as follows:

Type of air pollutants

AEty (gl y)
Nitrogen oxides (NOx)
ey (HmEiy)
Sulphur oxides (SOx)
SBF RN (2 RERL)
Particulate matter (PM)

Fx 1,807.90
kg
Fx 11.87
kg
Tr 46.64
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BERBHER

GHG emission’

HENHRE?

Scope 1 emissions?
BHE2HME3

Scope 2 emissions®
REREEIREE
Total GHG emission
mERBHREE

GHG emission intensity

RERBHERENAENENREREZEENL
EertAsmEER] -

FE N - ANRE PR SRS HOR B A AL -

EE 2 MEFHEEREENEL 2 RMEDN -

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emission

The Group recognise that the community is gradually concerned with
climate change as it affects our daily life and poses a risk to its business.
Hence the Group is committed to mitigating the effects of climate change
and protecting the health of our employees and community.

As a conglomerate group integrating real estate investment and
development, industrial operation, commercial property management,
formative education and emerging industries investment businesses,
our source of emission is mainly the indirect emission through electricity
consumption for our business operation. The Group attaches great
importance to reducing the carbon footprint by gradually establishing
emission targets, incorporating energy-saving initiatives and measures
into our daily operations and continuously exploring new opportunities
to achieve emission reduction through our environmental management
system. The Group targets to reduce the GHG emission by 10% by 2030
as compared to 2022. Details of the Group’s energy efficiency measures
and practices were summarised in the section “Use of Resources” and
green office policies mentioned in the section “The Environment and
Natural Resources”.

The decrease in GHG emission in 2023 was primarily attributable to the
effective implementation of energy-saving policies during the reporting

period.

During the Reporting Period, the GHG emission was as follows:

WE—E ikE = 381.71 411.98
tonnes of CO,-e
WE—E ikE = 8,469.13 9,319.61
tonnes of CO,-e
W —E bikEg = 8,850.84 9,731.59
tonnes of CO,-e
WS bixE 2 F K 0.0057 0.0062

tonnes of CO,-e/m?

The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the “Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standard” from GHG protocol.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect emissions include energy indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity.
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Non-hazardous waste generated
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group's operational activities do not involve the production of finished
products and do not generate hazardous waste. The non-hazardous
waste generated was mainly general waste such as office paper, domestic
waste, etc. As part of our waste management, the Group have formulated
detailed guidance for all front-line and back-office staff to follow in our
operating places and offices to mitigate our impacts on the environment.

The Group plans to establish steps to gradually increase the garbage
sorting spots in our communities under management to facilitate
recycling and to engage contractors to undertake and handle the recycled
waste in a timely and orderly manner. We will promote the concept of
a green community by conducting various community activities so as to
strengthen public awareness of environmental protection and establish
the habit of garbage sorting and recycling. In our daily office operation,
we continue to adhere to the green office policies listed in the section
“The Environment and Natural Resources”. Given these current operating
practices and plans, we continue to strive to prevent hazardous waste
generation and target to reduce the generation of nonhazardous waste
by 10% by 2030 as compared to 2022.

During the Reporting Period, non-hazardous waste for epidemic
prevention supplies such as one-off surgical masks and alcohol-based
sanitisers, etc., became inevitably consumed in our operational area
to safeguard the hygienic environment in our workplace under the
circumstances of regular epidemic control and prevention. As a result
of the post-COVID recovery period in the PRC businesses, less domestic
waste is generated compared to the larger scale of lockdown in 2022.
the amount of non-hazardous waste decreased accordingly during the
Reporting Period.

The non-hazardous waste generated by the Group during the Reporting
Period was as follows:

EEH—MREEY

General waste generated
AR R R
Construction waste generated
EENBEEYEE

Waste generated intensity

158 18,489.5
tonnes

Mg - -
tonnes

WA, 7oK 0.01185 0.01677
tonnes/m?

26,260.66
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A2: Use of Resources

In our daily operation, energy and water are the major sources of resource
consumption. The Group consistently aims to implement energy and
water efficiency initiatives to reduce energy and water consumption.
The Group also motivates all its employees to participate in resource
conservation activities and encourages them to save energy and water.

Energy Consumption

The Group considers environmental protection as an essential component
of a sustainable and responsible corporate. With aims of resource
conservation and implementation of energy-saving measures, the
Group actively promotes the concept of energy saving and emission
reduction into the entire process of its development and operation. In the
meantime, the Group puts effort into raising employees’ awareness of
green behaviour by implementing green office policies (extracted in the
section “The Environmental and Natural Resources”), including switching
off all the lights and applicable electronic office equipment by the end
of the work day. Air-conditioning temperatures are set to 25.5T. In our
daily operation, purchased electricity is the major source of our energy
consumption.

In order to further mitigate our impacts on the environment from
energy consumption, we target to establish in steps by applying in our
community’s management for lighting systems with sensor functions;
investigating the feasibility of the implementation of solar panels and
incorporating the assessment with energy-saving characteristics when
making new quotation for equipment. The Group targets to reduce
energy consumption by 10% by 2030 as compared to 2022.

The increase in energy consumption in 2022 was mainly attributable
to the expansion of portfolio of properties under management and the
increase in manpower in the PRC offices during the Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, the energy consumption of the Group
attributable to the purchased electricity was as follows:

BAEERE

Purchased electricity consumption
baii:Di=b

Petrol consumption
SemE e

Diesel consumption
RARHEFE

Natural gas consumption
BEIREFEAET

Total energy consumption
BEREREE

Energy consumption intensity

FEKE
KEAEEREELEFHEEENEARE
TRZ— c RIREHE - AR AEEEEE
Fith 75 BUAS AT IR (R MO 7KR « MU S B
EAMSKEGERKRAOME - NEBE
BERFERLVEKEBBECRAE
BRIESEIHOBAKEDS WIRES
TRIEE/KEEDE - & B & F 4 (KR
EWHIEZ2RMEZE - AEBRYEBR K
MEEHEAKEETEADITUER
EBEE AEENEER =T =F
FERKRKEL - - _FEFHL10%

TR ERKEBEMNEEHANEEH
RANEEMEASBEARPEBERA
F - WHSRKERE LT -

JK FL B 14,877.76 16,390.73
MWh

JK FL B - 319.99
MWh

JK FL B 38.76 87.49
MWh

JK FL B 1,773.61 1,775.73
MWh

JK FL B 16,690.13 18,573.94
MWh

JKELBF S5 K 10.70 11.84
kWh/m?

Water Consumption

Water is one of the most important natural resources for the Group’s
daily operations. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any issue in sourcing water as we use water resources provided by the
regional government legally. The Group actively seeks ways to mitigate
water consumption by raising employees’ awareness of water saving
through green office policies such as reminding employees to turn the
faucet off tightly and conducting regular inspections and maintenance of
our water supply pipelines to prevent leakage and blockage. The Group
closely monitors and performs monthly analysis of the water usage in the
communities under management to spot any abnormal consumption.
The Group targets to reduce water consumption by 10% by 2030 as
compared to 2022.

The increase in water consumption in 2022 was mainly attributable to
the expansion of the portfolio of properties under management and the
increase in manpower in the PRC offices during the Reporting Period,
which recorded an increase in water consumption intensity.
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RWERME  NEBEFEKENT - During the Reporting Period, the water consumption of the Group was as
follows:

KB
Water consumption
FKE SR 514,787.40 553,752.60
Water consumption m?
FKEEE MRS FIK 0.33 0.35
Water consumption intensity m3/m?

A3 IRIERRKARER A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
MAEBEMEEMS - ML ANEBA Regarding the operation of our Group, we are not aware of any significant
EBEHIRBE R RARAERERNEAZE - impacts of our activities on the environment and natural resources.
R4 BRfE - AN B 2 1515014001 3R During the Reporting Period, the Group has obtained the certification of
REIRRRRE  UEREZRMHEITRRIK the 15014001 Environmental Management System in recognition of our
RUBNBLERERRARBERNZE - efforts in incorporating the environmental policies to minimize the impacts
REBGEEBTISORER ZXMEFR on the environment and natural resources. The Group will continue to
E O WEAREEAEERHETRRERE - adhere to the international requirement from the 1SO Standard System
RAERRASEEER - and implement environment-friendly practices in the Group’s operation in

order to enhance environmental sustainability.

e AP Green office policies

BMEERABRFREHE S - AKX Our green office policies incorporate the management and consumption

WERMAAGOERERERE  BER of electricity, water, paper, and office supplies intending to reduce

DR SRR R ERBRE - (tmER emissions and conserve energy and resource consumption achieving

BLEMEBEFNERMNA RMZF optimal utilization of resources in our operation ultimately. We have

BEADNGSCMABRRB S HER H persistently adopted effective green office policies throughout the years,

FELE which include:

o BTEFIRERBEBML255T e Setting of air-conditioning temperature to 25.5C;

o BN AEREBEE  EHREN - e Turning off the lights, air-conditioners and computers when they
EREERM A A A leave the office to ensure efficient use of energy;

e RENUNEFHARRBARLRERE e Advocating the electronic means to replace paper and implementing
FEEFIRG the digital operating approval system;

o EBFRRRAREKNRERKEDF e Reducing paper consumption by using recycled paper and double-
RR D 4 5RE#E sided printing or shrinkage modes;

o HEHARRBBERA - BETY e Promoting the replacement principle for office supplies requisition to
ZHREE avoid unnecessary purchases;

o BNMANEHLBEEANREREK e Sorting office waste to facilitate waste handling and recycling;
Bl

o HEEBRERMOBITEXOR e Promoting virtual meetings to reduce carbon emissions caused by

BERL travel;
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A4:
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o Proactively promoting the staff's environmental awareness and
energy conservation knowledge in daily operations through
publication or educational activities;

o Performing regular inspection and maintenance of equipment in
good condition for operational efficiency; and

o Boosting environmental-friendly vibes in workplaces by posting
posters, and slogans and organising staff activities.

Climate Change

The Group acknowledges that climate change has caused frequent
extreme weather events, global warming and rising sea levels and
bringing impacts and challenges to the world, while increasingly stringent
environmental laws and regulations can potentially raise compliance
and operating costs of the Group. This impact can threaten corporate
operations, and our operations are no exception.

Given this, we incorporate and address climate-related risks in our overall
risk assessment that may impact us taking into consideration its frequency,
possibility and intensity. We collaborate with available national data,
local information and expert knowledge in the risk assessment process in
order to identify existing and future risks and opportunities. Through the
risk management process, we aim to diversify the risks with our business
strategy and contribute our efforts to the community to confront climate
change.

We continue to keep our awareness of climate change regarding
monitoring of carbon footprint in our daily operation. Our Group
assesses how the business should respond to climate-related risks and
takes the initiative to monitor and mitigate our impact by reducing the
environmental footprint.
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Climate-related Issues

follows:

BERE

Potential impact

During the Reporting Period, the Group classified the climate-related
risks into physical risk and transitional risk, which have impacted and/or
may impact our Group, as well as steps taken to manage these risks, as

HEEAEERARRANEE

Steps taken to manage the risks

ERAR
Physical Risk

BREERER

Acute physical risks

o BE RMKF IR G M KR E
HE) SRS R BREE AR I AN
Increased frequency and severity
of immediate extreme weather
events such as typhoons and
floods.

REUERRR

Chronic physical risks

o REKEANRBE (L RRER
=B RRiG 2 #E
Long-term changes in
precipitation patterns and
extreme variability in weather
patterns.

o REFRRARESITEMIHRE R
RIS  EREBKTE X
EINEERTE °
The weather phenomenon may
result and damage our equipment
and facilities leading to business
interruption and increasing
operating costs.

e EFRE AL FHERRREIL
RESEHEERIAFAE N - Wi
D& B J HERER A ©
Prolonged rising temperatures in
summer or frost in winter may
lead to higher energy consumption
and increased operating and
maintenance costs.

o FTE EFAIBEEAROLK - A
BEAEEKIEE
Rising sea levels may bring
flooding and cause damage to the
building structure

HE RS EEHRRLHRE
IEE

gL ©

Formulate an emergency plan in
response to the worst weather
scenario.

BEBEHBMHRRRIFES
WHEZESEMEERTFHRERER
REHRMOELIEEALZR -
Attend to the official announcement
of the weather/climatic warnings
and remind our customers to be
aware of personal safety through
mobile applications when warnings
in issued.

HREETOITRE AR TIEIR
B WRAOEBIRIEREHAZEM
i ) R L o

Conduct routine inspections on the
equipment to maintain order and
reduce the potential risk of business
interruption as affected by climate
events.

ARKERRESHNMELED
HERIFT o

Install flood gates for properties with
higher flood risk.

ETEMRE - UBRREL L
KESRFBED - LUR K08
FEEAHTE-

Conduct regular inspections to
ensure manholes and drains, etc. are
unblocked to reduce the impact of
floods or rising sea levels.
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BEE A AR AT R A

Steps taken to manage the risks

BERE

Potential impact

B R

Transitional Risk

EERE

Legal risk

e HERBNEGHEBRREEL
BT BRAR B AR BOE R BV E B o
Exposure to tightening laws and
regulations on climate change
issued by the government.

15 = B
Technology risk

EA{R] 138 <7 5 E 8917 R Y9 AT AR IS
INFESNG & R

Any failure in compliance may
increase additional compliance
costs.

NEGSEZES AT S YNE - A
Change in requirements and
standards for property supervision
by the government.

THR R BB B X BT R BT B9 &
B R S PTHER B P FE R B
B WIS RE S BIREK
KR HFEEFI L o

Upgrading our systems and
equipment with low-carbon and
energy-saving technologies may
foster our business development
but may involve higher investment
costs and R&D expenses.

G HRFARREMNER -
Monitor the updates on relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

RV LS MBIRIEREB T
Maintain proper emission records
and data for internal analysis.

ERBENRRREM R BEERE
AR EEN AT R -
Examined the feasibility and benefits
of applying the latest environmental
technologies and renewable
resources into our operation.

FEET N TS ENRIEERE
ES S

Continuous update and optimize the
environmental management system
of our enterprise.
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BERE REEBEERAMRRNER

Steps taken to manage the risks

i 2 AR BE R ER RE IR S M A BRTS &
BARR -

Continuously incorporate the
concept of emission reduction and
energy conservation into our service
management.

Potential impact

mERBERAR .

Market and reputational risk

BRI AT BEEI S RIS o
MEBOBFEBNETFME
EREREE -

Lagging behind new technologies
may weaken our competitive

edges and reputation in respond

to customer satisfaction to win

new engagement. o

FRRBUFRRERE - ARBEME R

FBRBUE R KRR R RAER
FIRIRBEAEER W ROME - Pl
RERERB R MR EIEE EEMA
KB ROBRK AL EBEFERRTIS
S  RMBEBEERHEE ¥
BFRRFHE UBRRIKEEE

KOm > H & E R e R B o

A E R R EER B R MR = R B8 PR
BRARRTERERE B RIRAEEER
REHBRMEEEROTEOBBEER -
REBEEHEMZSEET U TR
PEERERBENERIL -

RETHR

Apply government subsidy to
purchase materials and upgrade
equipment.

o  HEMFHNAIEEBGERRES -
RATEAN®ERA BTN -
Organize green environmental
campaigns and cooperated with
local government with high
degree of recognition to raise our
competitiveness in the industry.

By adopting the measures reducing our environmental footprint, we
recognise opportunities arising from the climate-related issues such as
saving operating cost in long-term with energy-efficient equipment and
technologies, reducing energy consumption cost, and gaining new access
to environmental-friendly markets. We will continue to explore further
new opportunities together with our stakeholders to develop climate
resilience and reduce their operational carbon footprint.

Our Group regards the energy consumption and GHG emission indicators
are the key metrics used to assess and manage relevant climate-related
risks and their impact on our operation. By regular tracking of these
indicators, our Group can assess the effectiveness of emission reduction
initiatives and targets.
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R BIE 5
By Gender

38%

62%

7% Female  @E 14 Male

BERARE D
By Age Group

12%
23%

65%

®3075%2 AT 30 or below 31-50%% 31-50 5155k A _E 51 or above

B. SOCIAL ASPECT

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
B1: Employment

The Group believes our employees are essential assets, which are
also the foundation for the success and development of the Group.
As such, we aim to attract and retain talents, ensure a safe and
equal working environment for our employees, provide development
opportunities and promote employee health and well-being. The
commitment is incorporated into our staff handbook. The staff
handbook covers the Group’s standards in respect of compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods and other benefits and welfare.

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group fully complied with
all of the relevant laws and regulations in the region we operated,
including the Labour Law of the PRC.

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group had 851 (2022: 883)
employees.

Below are the employee breakdowns by gender, age group,
employment position and geographical region.

RERENE S
By Employment Type

1%
5%

94%

o REE PRERRE BREERE
General staff Middle management Senior management
Rt EE D
By Geographical Location
'&. 7%
-
93%

® %% Hong Kong A PRC
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RREEME - RHER - FRARI R

The employee turnover rate during the Reporting Period by gender,
age group and geographical region are as follows:

EERALE Employee turnover rate

BRI & D By gender

e Bt e Male 61% 55%
o It e Female 37% 42%
REREAERSE D By age group

e 30U e Age 30 or below 90% 101%
. 31-50% e Age31-50 47% 39%
e SImEMALE e Age 51 or above 14% 27%
Rt EE D By geographical region

e FHAE e Hong Kong 17% 33%
e e ThePRC 54% 50%
g Overall 51% 50%

HHERS - BERABMATNE
RASEBRARNEETR -
PREEBENRR - K RARK
EEREBREABRF NOFHMEFE -
NEREREHAEENEERR -
BES - AR & T EBA R ROA
B REERHUEESREIEEA
B -

BAERETELMELACREA
REMBELER) (BHARE) -
CRACEFE ARFEE) A N L 57 & I 2
B BREEEA  TERH - BRE -
FERE ZHEE RERALE
fil 18 M R AR AL AE B W0 B B DA 2
AR WHERBXRERARZZ
BEETREERES  BREBLE

ERMFEARRR - (B THREEIEH
E) (EHMBRAERGIE) (&
EABERGIE) k(AR ERE
EEESDERREESIHME R
B wBrEHM- - TRTR B8
EIEETTEARE RIFEL B -

Remuneration is an important tool for us to attract, retain and
motivate talents in achieving key goals of the Group. We provide
competitive remuneration packages for our employees according to
their performance, experience and relevant skill set in recognition
of their invaluable contribution to the Group. In addition, we fully
complied with relevant laws and regulations to provide social
insurance and housing provident funds for our employees.

We strictly comply with the Labour Law of the PRC{H ZE A R 2L AN
& #))%), the Labour Contract Law % &) & A /%), the Law on
the Protection of Minors <R A & A R # %), and other relevant
laws and regulations in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare, in where we operate, ensure occupational health and safety,
optimise employee career development mechanism and strictly
prohibit any form of discrimination. Our policies and guidelines,
such as the Recruitment Management System, the Attendance and
Leave Management System, the Assignee Management System,
and the Guidelines for Career Planning for Officers, outline the
provisions and conditions of employment, recruitment, benefits and
remuneration, code of conduct, attendance management, etc.
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We are an equal opportunities employer who endeavours to create
a diverse, anti-discrimination and inclusive workplace where all
our employees are treated with dignity and respect. The principle
of equal opportunities is applied in all employment practices and
policies, in particular to aspects of remuneration, recruitment,
training, career development and promotion of employees. In
addition to our commitment in promoting equal opportunity, we
have designated grievance channels in place such that employees
can report suspected non-compliance or misconduct without fear of
reprisal. We encourage our employees to report any alleged unlawful
practices or misconduct and maintain two-way communication
through networking activities and feedback sessions. Upon receipt
of the suspected case, we will address their complaints or grievances
according to our predetermined formal procedures.

The Group promotes fair competition and prohibits discrimination
or harassment against any employee on their gender, age, marital
status, religion, race, nationality, disability or any status protected by
law.

The Group offers fair promotion opportunities which serve as a
motivation for employees to continue learning and improving work
performance. We conduct performance appraisals regularly on
employees’ working ability, behaviour and development potential
to rank and adjust job positions. We are devoted to helping our
employees to demonstrate their capabilities in line with their own
career ambitions and the business objectives of the Group.

All of our employees are entitled to paid annual leave (adjusted by
seniority), paid sick leave, compassionate leave, maternity leave or
abortion leave, work injury leave and etc are provided on top of
statutory holidays, aiming to support their work-life balance and
accompany their needs. In accordance with statutory regulations, all
eligible employees are enrolled on a defined contribution mandatory
provident fund scheme in Hong Kong or a social insurance scheme
in Mainland China.

Staff Activities

The Group is dedicated to create a caring and harmonious working
environment to achieve a balance between the work and cultural
lives of our employees. During the Reporting Period, we held various
recreational and teambuilding staff activities to strengthen employee
cohesion, enhance their sense of belongings to the Group and
establish a motivated corporate culture.
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B2: Health and Safety

The Group has always placed the highest priority on securing the
health and safety of our employees. We strive to provide a safe and
healthy working environment for all employees to protect them
from occupational injuries or accidents. With our efforts, we have
continuously obtained I1SO 45001:2018 Occupational Health and
Safety Management System certification in recognition of our service
quality. Our safety plans include the following aspects:

e  Provide safety guidance to our employees and conduct
education and training in occupational health and safety.
Promote the culture of “Safety First” so that the employees
can foster and enhance their occupational safety awareness
and acquire necessary knowledge in preventing safety risks;

° Carry out regular fire drills and trainings with communities; and

e  (Care for employees’ physical and mental health, conduct
regular interviews to understand employees’ concerns and
launch surveys to learn more about employees’ needs.

We are committed to creating a safe and comfortable work
environment that allows employees to thrive and succeed.
The Group strictly adheres to local health and safety laws and
regulations, including the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases of the PRC {7 % A Rt 71 B0 B 2 75 B
JA /%), the Provisions on the Supervision and Management of
Occupational Health at Work Sites T{ESZ TR G A E B EIE R
7E), the Regulation on Work-related Injury Insurances{ T {5 Rk {5
) and other relevant laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance (2022: nil)
with the relevant laws and regulations in providing a safe working
environment.

During the Reporting Period, there were 5 work injury cases
(2022: 4, 2021: 1) and 310 lost days due to work injury (2022: 348,
2021: 160) in our business operation. There was 1 work-related
fatality case (2022:nil, 2021: nil) in 2023. The fatality rate is 0.1% in
2023.
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Case: Car accident resulting in death

On 1 November 2023, Mr. Tang had a fatal accident when
his tricycle was involved in a collision with a car at a rural road
intersection. Despite being promptly transported to Nansha Hospital's
Intensive Care Unit (ICU), Mr. Tang unfortunately passed away on
November 10, despite the tireless efforts of the rescue team.

Following the notification of the accident, the project company took
immediate action to handle the admission procedures at the hospital
and provided support to Mr. Tang’s family. It also assisted the family
in liaising with the traffic police team and managing hospital affairs
during this difficult time. Furthermore, upon the announcement
of Mr. Tang’s passing, we have actively communicated with family
lawyers to jointly handle work-related injury determinations.

The Group is deeply saddened by the loss of Mr. Tang and offers our
sincerest condolences to his family. We are committed to providing
ongoing support and assistance to the family throughout this
process. We will continue to closely follow up on the compensation
matters associated with this incident.

In order to prevent such incidents from occurring again in the
future, on 20 November 2023 the project company arranged for its
employees to participate in a safety training session organized by the
Zhujiang Street government. All employees of the project company
underwent comprehensive internal traffic safety training during this
session. In addition, the training also emphasized the importance of
adhering to the company’s regulations regarding daily vehicle usage
and operating procedures.
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Safety Training and Prevention Demonstration

Annually, we held a series of practical trainings and seminars
to enhance the occupational safety awareness of our staff and
provided best practice guidance on management services to enrich
their occupational knowledge and strengthen their adaptability.
The Group believes that providing training to our staff with respect
to their soft skills in crisis management as well as upgrading the
safety hardware in the community are both important pillars to
safeguard the health and safety of staff and also the property
owners. Fire safety management, flood prevention management,
elevator maintenance and epidemic control and prevention are
our core aspects to safeguard workplace safety. Regular fire drills
were conducted to rehearse the set emergency plans to enhance
our employee’s resilience during accidents. Safety equipment is
subject to regular inspection under closed-loop management to
ensure in proper order and allow strict rectification of any problems
timely noted with the applicable requirements. With these safety
prevention measures, we aim to further improve the safety
awareness of our staff and also our customers and establish a safe,
stable and harmonious workplace and community.

Epidemic Controls and Prevention

Safeguard the health and safety of our customers and employees in
our communities under management and workplaces are always our
mission. During the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic and under the
circumstances of regular epidemic control and prevention, the Group
actively responded and implemented precautionary and control
measures to fight against the pandemic with the society:

. Regular sanitation management in public areas, buildings and
facilities and perform frequent disinfection in key areas;

. Strict prevention, access control, identification track and
temperature checks at community entrances and exits;

e  Frequent temperature checks daily on staff to monitor any
irregularities;

e Promote remote lift control by user through mobile application
to reduce direct physical contacts;

e Arrange designated garbage bins to collect the used epidemic
prevention materials and centralise the disposal process
properly to reduce transition;
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e  Facilitate and coordinate the daily grocery shopping for
property owners at safe and convenient conditions during
necessary quarantine period;

e Require mask-wearing by staff and customers in indoor area.

The severely widespread flooding has substantially increased the
risk of spreading the COVID-19 pandemic. Our staff coordinated
the anti-pandemic work for our properties under management.
Comprehensive disinfection and sanitation in key areas including
green zones, public facilities and drainage pipes were conducted
twice daily to minimise the spread of the virus from the source. Our
staff remained accountable and stayed on guard paying additional
attention in the underground carparks, sewage systems and garbage
stations which are the severely affected areas during flooding to
conduct the sanitation work.

All members of the Group are united to build a frontline force
and cooperate with the government’s prevention and control
arrangement to defend our communities.

Development and Training

We actively support the continuous development of our employees
to help them develop in their both existing roles and future careers.
In accordance with our internal policies and guidelines such as
the Training Management System, the Guidelines for Assignment
Management Training and the Internal Trainer Management
Guidelines, the Group continues to allocate resources to promote
the long-term professional and personal development of our
employees that align with their professional ambitions and goals.
The proportion of our trained employees to the total workforce and
the composition breakdown of trained employees by gender and
employment position were as follows:

trained employees (%)

gk =F by By gender

e it e Male 93% 81%
o Ik e Female 87% 77%
REBNE S By employment position

s SREREE e Senior management 100% 82%
o HREEE e Middle management 95% 100%
e EBBET e General 94% 77%
B Overall 91% 97%
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Besides, the average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employment position were as follows:

5T R 32 S B9 7 39 B

Average training hours completed

(I MES) (hours/employee)

BRI &S By gender

. B . Male 30.16 12.57
o ik e Female 30.31 10.10
BB E D By employment position

e EMERERE e Senior management 6.00 6.07
s FTRERE e Middle management 8.84 9.31
e ERWEBET e General 33.69 8.68
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The professional growth of our people is essential to the
advancement of our business. Training Plan are developed annually
to ensure the training provided aligns with the needs of the Group
and employees, keeping them abreast of the latest developments
in the industry. To nurture our talented workforce, we offer tailor
on-the-job training and self-learning programmes to build an elite
team that is long-last, professional and highly efficient. For example,
employees under the education division are provided with training in
curriculum development and facility management to enhance their
knowledge in the education services industry. Meanwhile, employees
under property management division are offered job-specific training
on topics such as standardised management, emergency response
and epidemic prevention and control.

To foster a culture of lifelong learning and continuous pursuit of
excellence, we also encourage our employees to participate in
courses organised by professional organisations which are beneficial
to their career development, enhancing their professional knowledge
and skillsets.

We care about our employees’ well-being and encourage them
to achieve work-life balance. Through organising different team
building events, we aim to enhance cohesion and teamwork among
staff and deepen their sense of belonging to the Group.
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B4: Labour Standards

The Group is committed to upholding the elimination of all forms of
forced and compulsory labour and supporting the effective abolition
of child labour. The Group strictly complies with the Labour Law of
the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and other applicable
laws and regulation. We have formulated strict regulations on
managing the prohibition of child labour. To prevent unlawful
recruitment of employees under the age of 16 as child labour,
employees are required to provide identity proofs to the human
resources department to verify their age as part of the recruitment
process. All work should be voluntarily performed and shall not
involve forced labour. If any violation of laws and regulations in
relation to labor standards is found, we would investigate the
incident, and impose appropriate penalties to accountable staff
subject to the severity and review any defects in the human
resources system in place.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance (2022: nil) in relation to the employment of child labour,
forced or compulsory labour in any of our operations.

&EE G OPERATING PRACTICES

BS : tIESREE B5: Supply Chain Management
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The Group works with various product and service providers. We
integrate sustainability into our supply chain by purchasing products/
services from reputable enterprises that uphold high corporate
standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had a total of 165 suppliers
(2022: 165), which were 100% location in the PRC. With the
principles of fairness and impartiality and incorporation of sustainable
development factor, the Group makes comprehensive appraisals on
suppliers based on factors such as suppliers’ quality of the goods
and services, efficiency, qualifications and experience to determine
our Qualified Supplier List. We review the background information
of suppliers at least once a year and classify them into different
grades according to their performance, qualification and credit. To
ensure the service quality of the Group, disqualified suppliers will
be removed from our Qualified Supplier List. Procurement tender/
quotation invitation will only be sent to suppliers on our Qualified
Supplier List.
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B6:

For our education-related business, we regularly evaluate our food
suppliers and school bus operators to assess their alignments with
our strategic visions and guarantee the delivery of quality products
and services.

The Group also emphasizes on the selection of products that cause
minimal impacts on the environment, for example, we purchase
green cleaning products and/or reusable goods instead of single-
use disposable ones. To raise environmental protection awareness
and engage our suppliers to contribute to sustainable development,
we welcome suppliers who demonstrate their commitment to
environmental sustainability. Suppliers with I1SO certification will also
be considered with higher priority during procurement assessment.

Product and Services Responsibility

As a property management service provider, we commit to taking
our responsibility of quality management over our product and
service. The Group follows the Regulation on Property Management
of PRC and has formulated and implemented the Property
Management Quality Management Measures and other applicable
laws and regulations. With our effort, the Group has continuously
obtained ISO 9001 Quality Management System certificate for our
property management service. To improve our service, the Group’s
complaint handling policy is strictly in accordance with regulatory
standards to ensure that customers’ opinions are heard and
responded in a timely manner.

For our property management services, we stick to the following
objectives in delivering quality services to our tenants:

Develop quality properties that embrace innovation and
enhance the neighbourhood;

° Provide sincere service and constantly improve our property
management;

° Strive for high standards by building scientific and standardised

property management, and achieve customer satisfaction; and

e  Provide a tasteful living and working environment with
standardised service.
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Safety is of paramount importance to our business. To ensure
the quality of property, we carried out assessment on a variety
of criteria in our property development projects, including actual
measurements, safety and civilisation, quality risk and management
measures. Furthermore, we commissioned independent third-party
professionals to carry out additional inspections, including delivery
risk inspection, quality inspection and sentience evaluation, to obtain
impartial and unbiased opinions on delivered projects. For major
defects identified from the assessments, we would explore relevant
improvement measures and review annually, thus allowing us to
adopt more appropriate construction methods and further improve
the construction quality in our future projects.

We place the health and safety of students and staff in our schools
as a top priority. We have established a hierarchical quality control
system in managing the quality of our day-to-day food supplies. To
ensure that food quality is up to standard after the long delivery
journey, we have appointed dedicated personnel to manage food
supplies in specific areas of each school. Regular inspections on
the hygiene conditions of food processing, handling, storage and
distribution are also conducted.

During the year under review, the Group had no non-compliance
(2022: nil) with relevant laws and regulations concerning health and
safety relating to products and services provided.

Customer satisfaction and recognition

We aim to achieve service excellence by thoroughly understanding
the needs of customers and surpassing their expectations. As a
regular practice, the Group conducts a customer satisfaction survey
to gather honest feedback on our service quality. Through assessing
the survey results, we are better equipped to achieve our objective
and make meaningful improvements. For our property management
business, we have consistent protocols and solutions for handling
customer complaints in a closed-loop management approach.
Through our offline and online platforms, we promptly handle
complaints and comments from our customers, providing them with
timely and detailed responses. During the reporting period under
review, the Group addressed customer complaints related to our
products and services, with a 100% prompt processing rate. We
also arrange customer site visits to our commercial projects quarterly
and our residential projects biannually. These site visits enable us to
better communicate with our customers and quickly respond to their
needs.
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B7:

Protection of Customer Data Privacy

The Group recognises the importance of our customers’ information
and their privacy, we have formulated a series of internal policies to
identify the rationale for the collection of personal information and
detail how we responsibly collect, manage and store data, including
but not limited to the Guidelines for Information System Security
Management and the Staff Non-disclosure Agreement. These policies
abide by relevant laws and regulations, including the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. These measures include customer
data that is only accessible by delegated employees; statements
and declarations for information collection for business use to
inform customers with their consent. All employees are required
to stringently comply with all internal guidelines relating to the
collection, handling, transferring, storage, and disposal of customers’
personal information.

During the Reporting Period, there were no complaints (2022:
nil) of leakage of customers’ data and information or violation of
customer’s privacy.

Protection of Intellectual Properties

We consider intellectual properties as our crucial business assets,
key to our customer loyalty and essential to our future growth. The
success of our business depends substantially upon our continued
ability to use our brands, trade names and trademarks to increase
brand recognition and foster brand building. We strictly comply
with the Intellectual Property Law of Hong Kong, the Patent Law
of the PRC and other applicable laws and regulations relevant to
advertising, labelling, and intellectual property rights, so as to protect
our trademark and the book authors’ intellectual properties from
infringement. During the Reporting Period, there were no reported
non-compliances (2022: nil) regarding intellectual property and
copyright, and advertising and labelling of our products and services.

Anti-Corruption

The Group maintains a high standard of business integrity
throughout its operations. We have no tolerance for any form
of corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering and
embezzlement. We request our employees to conform to our
requirements on anti-corruption outlined in staff handbook. Once
a misconduct case is discovered and confirmed, the employee will
be subject to disciplinary action and the case will be reported to law
enforcement authority when necessary.
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The Group has established a whistle-blowing policy to provide
employees with a confidential platform to raise concerns about any
suspected cases of misconduct and malpractice through email and
hotline. All reported cases are promptly and thoroughly investigated
by the internal audit department under the audit committee. The
Group will absolutely ensure the identity of the whistleblower and
the contents of the report are strictly confidential.

The Group adheres to the Criminal Law of the PRC{/ # A R 3£ F1
B 3% ), the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC{F 2 A R 4t
B & IEE 55 %) and other applicable laws and regulations.
During the Reporting Period, no legal case concerned (2022: nil)
with corrupt practices has been brought against the Group or its
employees.

We encourage our employees to understand explicitly several areas,
which include the provisions of anti-bribery and corruption. We
invited our solicitor to provide structured training to our directors
and senior management on the topic of anti-corruption during the
reporting period.

There was no anti-corruption training (2022: nil) organised during
the reporting period. Nevertheless, the Group will try to manage
anti-corruption training for our staff to raise their awareness of
integrity and anti-corruption in the future.

COMMUNITY

B8: Community Investment

The Group recognizes that our community constitutes the
foundation for the Group’s sustainable development. Adhering
to our mission of “providing warm services”, we promote our
warm services for customers and also extend to our community.
As a socially responsible property services company, the Group is
committed to understanding the needs of the communities in which
we operate, and dedicates to providing support and contribution to
our communities, with aims to promote our corporate culture and
deliver the concept of caring needy in our community neighborhood
and spreading to our society.

Since the establishment in 2013, Shenzhen Top Spring Charity
Foundation has collaborated annually with institutions such as
Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (Jt RiEZE A ZE & @), Beijing
Zhonglun Charity Foundation (1t = f 2 22 & £ &), and Shanghai
Cedar Highrise Public Welfare Foundation ( /8B A E € @).
Through multiple targeted donations and care, the foundation has
supported and assisted children in impoverished areas such as Gansu
Province, Sichuan Province, and Guangxi Province in their daily lives
and education. Additionally, the foundation periodically invites Top
Spring’s employees to participate in charitable teaching activities in
the sponsored areas.
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In 2023, we, together with Beijing Green and Shine Foundation (3t
RIEZZZHE S E) and Tencent Charity Foundation (Bl A 2524
ZH £ ), invited compassionate individuals to join the charitable
cause. With the efforts of these compassionate individuals and
ourselves, we aim to bring light to more children in mountainous
regions, providing them opportunities to change their futures and
roads toward their dreams.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPls)

Al

Mg Em
EEAL
KPIAT.1
Mg E M
BIEA12
KPIA1.2

BREN
BIEA13
KPI A1.3
BREY
BEA4
KPI A1.4
BREY
BIEALS
KPI A1.5
BREY
BIEALE
KPI A1.6

A2:

BREN
BIZA21
KPI A2.1

B

Environmental

3587

Emissions

—RBE

General Disclosure
PERRIE R IR B BR o

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

ER(8E) g REZ (BE2) RERBHERER (WER)
TR

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions and, where appropriate, intensity.
ELEEEENRER (NER)BE -

Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,
intensity.

ELEZEENEER (NER) BE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,
intensity.

BHPTET LB 2 BB R AR EL B FEFRBASR -
Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
BREREERESEENN AL  RIERET AR R
BRAEIELEEARROFSR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

ERER

Use of Resources

—MRBRE

General Disclosure
RERIANERRSRZERERERTE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity.

it

Disclosure

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

BERE
Disclosed
NERB
Not applicable

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

A1)

Section

[REEE]
"Environmental Aspects”
AL - BRI EMH

A1, Emissions — Air Pollutants Emission

ALBEY - REREHN

A1, Emissions - GHG Emission

AEERCERRTEELEREEY -

The Group did not produce hazardous waste during the
operation.

MFRD-EEREEEEY

A1, Emissions — Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

AVEERY - HEE 2

A1. Emissions — Emission Targets

ALBI - SRR S

A1. Emissions — Emission Targets

A2 BRI
A2. Use of Resources
A ERER-sRER

A2. Use of Resources - Energy Consumption
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

BREN
BiEA22
KPI A2.2
BREN
BiEA23
KPI A2.3

BREN
BIZA24
KPI A2.4

Mg Em
B1EA25
KPI'A2.5
A3:

AR
EIRA3
KPI A3.1

Ad:

BREN
BIZALT
KPI A.1

BRKEREE -
Water consumption in total and intensity.

BT R EANG B ERAEIEL B EMRR
TR e

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.

$e K ERE AR E AT BRI R - DA AT AT S 60 P K s
ERRREINELBRARROTR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
HRGMAERMBNGER (WER) GEESNGE -
Total packaging material used for finished products and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
RERRRER

The Environment and Natural Resources

—REE

General Disclosure

B EBRHURERAABERNEAYERERNERE
WY ENTH -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

RERE

Climate Change

—RBE

General Disclosure
WHREERIHEHBETAEEZENERRREREE -
RIEHTTE -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
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Disclosure

ERE
Disclosed

BHE
Disclosed
BHE
Disclosed

TER
Not applicable

BHE
Disclosed
ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed
ERE
Disclosed

|

B

Section

ALERER-FKE

A2. Use of Resources — Water Consumption

AN ERER-EREERR

A2. Use of Resources — Resources Management Targets

AN ERER-EREERR

A2. Use of Resources — Resources Management Targets

FEARZEBRTEEERRMBENE
No packaging materials for finished products was produced by
the Group during its operation.

A3 BERAAAR
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 BRERAAAR
A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

M. REZL
A4. Climate Change
M. REZ
A4. Climate Change
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Disclosure  Section
Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
B. e
Social
EREREIER
Employment and Labour Practices
B1: &R
Employment
—REE BRE  BLEMR
General Disclosure Disclosed B1. Employment
BiEy RUR ERER FRAFREEASNESEY ERE BI.EM
1

JE1ZB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Disclosed B1. Employment
KPIB1.1  geographical region.

BREN RUR - FRANEREDNEERALE BERE BI.EM
JE12B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Disclosed B1. Employment
KPIBT.2  region.

B2 BEEZ2
Health and safety
—R%E ERE  BLREFEZZE
General Disclosure Disclosed B2. Health and Safety
BiREYN BEZF(RREREE)SFRITHMAYRLE- ERE B2l 2

JE12B2.1  Number and rate of work-related fatalities that occurred in each Disclosed B2. Health and Safety
KPIB2.1  of the past three years including the reporting year.

BEN AIBGBXIERZ: BERE B2EEELS
JE12B2.2  Lost days due to work injury. Disclosed ~ B2. Health and Safety
KPI B2.2

BMREN mAimRaNRERRER2HER UERRORERENE - ERE BLigRERE
JE12B2.3  Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, Disclosed B2. Health and Safety
KPIB2.3  how they are implemented and monitored.

B3: B

Development and Training

—R%E ERE  BLERRSE

General Disclosure Disclosed B3. Development and Training
MEEN RUBIRERBEAENNXIESADIL - ERE B3.# & K&

JE12B3.1  The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Disclosed B3. Development and Training
KPIB3.1  category.

BMRER RUEBIREBERNE D  B8RESTKXINTIIRE - ERE B3.# & NI

J812B3.2  The average training hours completed per employee by gender ~ Disclosed ~ B3. Development and Training
KPIB3.2  and employee category.

B4: EIER
Labour Standards
—RBE BHRE B4. 4 T 8|
General Disclosure Disclosed B4. Labour Standards
BREN R EEENNERNEEEIRBHST [REiE B4 & TR

JE1ZB4.1  Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Disclosed B4. Labour Standards
KPIB4.1  child and forced labour.

MREN HOEERERBERSERERBERMRRASR - BERE B4. % T2
J812B4.2  Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when  Disclosed ~ B4. Labour Standards
KPIB4.2  discovered.
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

EEED

Operating Practices

B5: HERER
Supply Chain Management
—RBEE
General Disclosure

BREn REHSOHEERHE -

JE1ZB5.1  Number of suppliers by geographical region.

KPI B5.1

BipEn mAEEERMEENED MENTEEEMNMERHE

Hi2B5.2 UARMEEHTRERTE -

KPIB5.2  Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored.

BiER HOEREAREEGERENIRE R EBRNEN - U

HIEB53  RAEMRIRERTE-

KPIB5.3  Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

MREn HlEREREARERESARRERRRBOEN UK

HIEBS4 HEEATRERNE-

KPIB5.4  Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

B6: ERER
Product Responsibility
—RBE
General Disclosure

MREN EEICEREREETRARTBRFEAMENNNEDL o

JE1ZB6.1  Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for

KPIB6.1  safety and health reasons.

BMREN REARERRRBORFYEARELETE -

JE1286.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and

KPIB6.2  how they are dealt with.

BiEy REERRENHEESRORELRER

JE1286.3  Description and practices relating to observing and protecting

KPIB6.3 intellectual property rights.

MpER flEshERRREREYRER -

JE1ZB6.4  Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

KPI B6.4

BigER HEBEEERRERABEE UREBRATRERGE

J812B6.5  Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,

KPIB6.5  how they are implemented and monitored.

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Disclosure

BHE
Disclosed
BHE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed
TR
Not applicable

ERE
Disclosed

ERE
Disclosed

TER
Not applicable

ERE
Disclosed

93

B

Section

BS. ftEEE R
B5. Supply Chain Management
BS. B E T
B5. Supply Chain Management

B5. fIEREE
B5. Supply Chain Management

B5. ffEREE
B5. Supply Chain Management

B5. ffEREE
B5. Supply Chain Management

B6. EmE (T

B6. Product Responsibility

TEEYE2REREERRE -

The Group was not involved in product production and
manufacturing.

B6. EmE (T

B6. Product Responsibility

B6. EmE £
B6. Product Responsibility

AEETESREREERRE -

The Group did not involve in product production and
manufacturing.

B6. Em A £

B6. Product Responsibility
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Disclosure  Section
Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
B7: RES
Anti-corruption
—REE BRE  B7.RES
General Disclosure Disclosed B7. Anti-corruption
BREN RBEHAHBTASEEERMYCEANESHFARN ERE TEEEENESHRDEN
1B1EB7. WA RAFAER - Disclosed  No concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices was noted.

KPIB7.1  Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting

period and the outcomes of the case.
BEN mahEEEREEER  ARAENTRERRE- BERE B7.R&)5
JE12B7.2  Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Disclosed B7. Anti-corruption
KPIB7.2  procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
ey HlmEEREIRENRESE - BHE B7.RES
JE12B7.3  Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and Disclosed B7. Anti-corruption
KPIB7.3  staff.

HE

Community
BS: HERE

Community Investment

—MRBE BERE B8 it E

General Disclosure Disclosed B8. Community Investment
MREN ZIEHER(WHE REFE B3IFR BFE Xt ERE B8 iR A
igiZB8.1 EE) - Disclosed ~ B8. Community Investment

KPIB8.1  Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

MREN ERIRBMYRER(MeERERE) - ERE B8 iR A
JE12B8.2  Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Disclosed B8. Community Investment

KPI B8.2
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the Code
Provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code"”) during the year ended 31 December 2023
and, where appropriate, adopted the Recommended Best Practices set out in
the CG Code, except for the following deviation:

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. WONG Chun
Hong performed his duties as the chairman and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person
ensures consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient planning of long-term strategies and implementation of business
plans. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately
ensured by the operations and governance of the Board which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals, with more than half of the Board
members being non-executive or independent non-executive Directors. The
Company will review the current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate governance of the
Company to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to
protect and maximise interests of the shareholders of the Company.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for supervising and overseeing all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of overall management
and operation strategies, reviewing the internal control and risk management
systems, reviewing financial performance, considering dividend policies and
monitoring the performance of the senior management, while the management
is responsible for the daily management and operations of the Group.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely Mr WONG
Chun Hong, Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley and Mr WONG Sze Yuen, two non-
executive Directors, namely Mr YIP Hoong Mun and Mr KUI Qiang, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr CHENG Yuk Wo, Professor
WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman. Mr. WONG Chun Hong is the
chairman of the Board. Mr. WONG Sze Yuen is a son of Mr. WONG Chun
Hong.
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The Company has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views
and input are available to the Board, a summary of which is set out as follows:

1. In terms of composition of the Board, (i) at least one-third of its members
are independent non-executive Directors; (ii) the Company would receive
independence confirmations from its independent non-executive Directors
annually pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and (iii) the Board
composition and the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors are reviewed by the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company on an annual basis (in particular, for
independent non-executive Directors who have served for more than nine
years).

2. In terms of conduct of Board proceedings, (i) all Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are provided with regular updates of
the Group’s performance, position and prospects to enable them to make
informed decision; (i) all members of the Board may seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their responsibilities; (iii)
the Directors shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board
resolution approving any contract, arrangement or any other proposal
concerning a matter that is significant to the Company’s business in which
such Director or any of his/her close associates has a material interest,
save as otherwise permitted under the Listing Rules; and (iv) the chairman
of the Board shall meet the independent non-executive Directors at least
once annually.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code and performed the following
duties in 2023:

—  develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

—  review and monitor the training and continuous professional development
of the Directors and senior management;

—  review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

—  develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

—  review the Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions and disclosure
in the corporate governance report.
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During the year under review, the Board held four Board meetings (exclusive
of meetings of the Board committees constituted by the Board held during
the year under review). The attendance of each Director is set out in the table
below:

HERE, BB

Number of
attendance/Total

HITES Executive Directors

BRBLE(EERTHAER) Mr WONG Chun Hong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 4/4
MERL L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley 4/4
EERREE Mr WONG Sze Yuen 4/4
HTES Non-executive Directors

EREE Mr YIP Hoong Mun 4/4
B 58 o A= Mr KUI Qiang 4/4
BIYkHTES Independent non-executive Directors

ER GRS A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 4/4
ROMREIZ Professor WU Si Zong 4/4
PR {6 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman 4/4
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The non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are
typically appointed for a term of three years under their respective letters of
appointment. Each appointment letter may be terminated in accordance with
the provisions therein by either party giving to the other not less than three
months’ prior written notice.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

TRAINING AND COMMITMENT

To ensure that a newly appointed Director will have a proper understanding
of the operations and business of the Company and is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under all applicable laws and regulations (including the Listing
Rules), he/she will be provided with a comprehensive, tailor-made and formal
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment.
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The Group also provides trainings, briefings and materials to the Directors and
senior management from time to time to help and ensure that they are apprised
of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and regulatory environment in
which the Group conducts its businesses and to refresh their knowledge and
skills on the roles, functions and duties of a director of listed company. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, materials relating to various latest amendments
to the Listing Rules, new guidance letters and listing decisions were distributed
to the Directors as part of their continuous professional development trainings.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
as follows:

EmR A
BRFEET

Latest
amendments to

Name of Director the Listing Rules

Executive Directors
Mr WONG Chun Hong
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley
Mr WONG Sze Yuen

NSNS

Non-executive Directors
Mr YIP Hoong Mun 4
Mr KUI Qiang v

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo

Professor WU Si Zong

Mr CHAN Yee Herman

AN

Remarks:
v represents compliance

The Company has received confirmations from the Directors that they have
provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Besides, the
Directors have disclosed to the Company their interests as director and other
office in other public companies and organisations in a timely manner and have
updated the Company on any subsequent changes. Each of the Directors has
complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code.



ERERRS

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 99

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERRITHRAR
BRBEEFRITRANEXEC2.116 EFEETT
BEHNABATANY - BAEHAR— AL
BE-8-FT-N\F=ZA—RE FEELLE
BEARREZRERTHAN -EFEALH
F-ARTESELRITRAHACLSHERAE
ER—EEE) - BRBRERENEER
EABAEEMER AR -EERNMAELAE
FENEEBEREECEERREN RENZF
& EBEEHAKBRLBKENEAMK - B
B—F¥ULWESTERBRIFNTRELIEH
TEF  ARRKERRTRBRE -

EEHFERRAG T
REEEEN ARAR-F-=FHf
S HZ AT REEEE AR ((REEE A
&) - BEFHEEEARINTE -

Name of Director

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
the chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. With effect from 1 March 2018, Mr WONG Chun Hong has
become the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that vesting both roles in the same person ensures consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient planning
of long-term strategies and implementation of business plans. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by the
operations and governance of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals, with more than half of the Board members being non-
executive or independent non-executive Directors. The Company will review the
current structure when and as it becomes appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETINGS

During the year under review, the Company held one annual general meeting
on 23 May 2023 ("AGM"). The attendance of each Director is set out in the
table below.

BRREFAE
AGM

HITES Executive Directors
SERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong
(FEFTHAAZ) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) v
MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka Shirley v/
5ERRELE Mr WONG Sze Yuen v
HITES Non-executive Directors
BRENXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun v
PR ok 2 A4 Mr KUl Qiang v
BIYkHTES Independent non-executive Directors
BRGNS A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo v
ROMREIZ Professor WU Si Zong v
PR {6 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman X
C Remarks:
v EREE v/ represents attendance
X 1ERRE X represents absence
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr
WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of formal and transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy. The duties of the Remuneration Committee are detailed in its terms of
reference which is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

In determining the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management,
the Remuneration Committee would consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors
and the senior management, performance and contributions of the Directors
and the senior management and the change in market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is set out in
the table below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

ERERA ST (FE) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 212

EERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong 2/2

RN R Professor WU Si Zong 22
REBEEEN HFWEESETHITEE 2 For the year under review, the Remuneration Committee determined the
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policy for the remuneration of executive directors, assessed performance of
the executive Directors, approved the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts, recommended to the Board on the year-end bonus of executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023. No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration or
options granted.

The Company adopted Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) out of the two models
suggested by the CG Code. As a result, the Board as a whole is responsible
for determining the remuneration of non-executive Directors whereas
the Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Company and its subsidiaries as well as share options
related matters. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors and senior
management of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set
out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and in the section headed “Remuneration for Senior Management” under the
Directors’ Report of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Professor WU Si Zong. As at
the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consists of one executive
Director, Mr WONG Chun Hong and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the structure,
size, composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience required)
and diversity of the Board on a regular basis; (i) to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, having
due regard to the board diversity policy and the nomination policy of the
Company, when a vacancy occurs on the Board by reason of disqualification
resignation, retirement, death or an increase in the size of the Board; (iii) to
make recommendations to the Board on matters related to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
any other area where action or improvement is needed; (iv) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (v) to review the
board diversity policy as appropriate and make recommendations on any
required changes to the Board for consideration and approval, and monitor
its implementation so as to ensure its effectiveness, and make disclosure
of its summary and the progress of its implementation in the corporate
governance report; (vi) to review the nomination policy for directors and to
make disclosure of the summary of nomination policy in annual report of the
Company annually; and (vii) to ensure the disclosures required by the terms of
reference are set out in the circular where the Board proposes a resolution to
elect an individual as an independent non-executive Director. The duties of the
Nomination Committee are detailed in its terms of reference which is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The chairman of the Nomination Committee shall attend the annual general
meeting of the Company to answer questions raised by the Shareholders on
Directors’ nomination and other nomination policy matters.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a “Nomination Policy” on 1 January 2019 in relation
to the nomination, appointment, re-appointment of new Directors and the
nomination procedure of the Company, which provides that in evaluating
and selecting any candidate for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall
consider the candidates’ character and integrity, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience, independence, diversity on the Board,
willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and such other criteria that are appropriate to the business of the Company.

Before a prospective Director’s name is formally proposed, opinions of the
existing Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) will be
solicited. The proposed appointment will first be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee, taking into account the balance of skills, knowledge and experience
on the Board. Upon recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the
proposed appointment will then be reviewed and, if thought fit, approved by
the Board after due deliberation. If necessary, the Company may also engage
external search firm to assist in the sourcing and identification of appropriate
candidates for Board appointments. The Company will also consider the
prospective Director’s time commitment to the role being applied for and any
potential conflicts of interest identified, if he/she has outside mandates.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a revised “Board Diversity Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
relation to the nomination and appointment of new Directors, which provides
that the selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and specific
needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural
background, educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. The above measurements were also reviewed and adopted when
the Nomination Committee reviewed the composition of the Board. After
assessing the suitability of the Directors’ skills and experience to the Company’s
business, the Nomination Committee confirmed that the existing Board
was appropriately structured and no change was required. The Nomination
Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy annually.

The Board’s composition as at the date of this report under diversified
perspectives is summarised as follows:

5
Gender
1

»

B %

Designation

-4

7

JE#177 E = non-executive Directors 2 1% female E 4 male

%837 3E$1 77 Z = independent non-executive Directors

FiE B (58)
Age group (years

|

31-40 ©41-50
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EFERNEFERETHEREL —BUKEE
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51-60

R & 58

years of service
1

old)

3

\

2-5 ©6-10

1 4

61-70 11-15

The Board achieved gender diversity as it has appointed one female Director.
The Board will maintain at least one female Director to be a member of the
Board. To develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve
gender diversity, the Company has adopted relevant hiring policies for
considering candidates of senior management positions which would take into
account diversity perspectives including gender diversity.

As at 31 December 2023, the ratio of male and female in the workforce is
62% and 38%, respectively; and the ratio of male and female in the senior
management is 90% and 10% respectively. As such, the Company’s workforce
and the senior management have both achieved gender diversity between
males and females. The Company would continue to take into account of
diversity perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year under review.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set out in the
table below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

SNSRI (£ /) Professor WU Si Zong (Chairman) 11
=ERLE Mr WONG Chun Hong 11
BRERAN S A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo 11
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During the year under review, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board in accordance with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules, and recommended the re-election of the retiring Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) is Mr CHENG Yuk Wo. As at the date of this report, the Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, Mr CHENG
Yuk Wo, Professor WU Si Zong and Mr CHAN Yee Herman.

The Audit Committee reports to the Board and is authorised by the Board
to assess, review and monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company. The Audit Committee oversees all financial reporting procedures
and the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
system, advises the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of external
auditors, and reviews and monitors the independence and objectivity of
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
the applicable standard.

The Audit Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board on matters
related to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, which is subject to the approval of the Board and the Shareholders
at general meeting of the Company. For the year under review, the Board has
not taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee regarding the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The
Audit Committee meets with the external auditors annually in the absence of
management to discuss matters relating to any issues arising from audit and
any other matters the external auditors may wish to raise. The duties of the
Audit Committee are detailed in its terms of reference which is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year under review. The
attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in the table
below:

HERE B

Number of

attendance/Total

BRER RN A (£ /) Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (Chairman) 212
ROMREIE Professor WU Si Zong 2/2
PREESE Mr CHAN Yee Herman 2/2
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Audit services
Other services (Note)

At the above meetings, the Audit Committee considered, reviewed and
discussed the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
interim results of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the
effectiveness of financial reporting, internal control, consultancy services,
internal audit function, risk management systems and its other duties under the
CG Code.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total fees paid/payable to the
external auditors of the Company, KPMG, in respect of audit and non-audit
services are set out below:

BE-ZE_-=
+=—A=+—H
IEFE

For the year ended
31 December 2023
FHERT

HK$°000

4,950
1,639

Total

6,589

M : £ BRERFEBRRBEIN REBINSEHR
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Note: Apart from the provision of annual audit services, KPMG, the Group’s external auditors,
also provided review services on half yearly financial results, audit services on the financial
statement of the Group’s subsidiaries and other non-audit services including provision of
environmental, social and governance report advice and tax advice during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, and confirm that the
financial statements give a true and fair view for the year under review, and
are prepared in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards. The statement of the external auditors of the Company,
KPMG, in relation to their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is fully responsible for maintaining proper and effective internal
control system and for regularly reviewing the operational efficiency of the
financial, operational, compliance controls, risk management and other aspects
of the system in order to safeguard the investment of Shareholders and the
assets of the Company. During the year under review, the Board has conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group covering the above aspects. The Board has also
considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function,
and their training programmes and budget during the year under review. The
Board is not aware of any significant internal control and risk management
weaknesses nor significant breach or limits of risk management policies, and
considers the existing internal control system and risk management systems
effective and adequate. The Company has complied with the risk management
and internal control code provisions under the CG Code for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for regular review
and audit of the Group’s major finance and operating activities. The purpose of
such work is to ensure the normal operation of internal control and the playing
of its due role.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management framework,
and for determining the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Audit Committee is delegated with overseeing the effectiveness of internal
control and risk management, while management is responsible for the design,
implementation and monitoring of such systems. The Board office is responsible
for coordinating risk management activities, and to report regularly to the
Board.
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Our approach to manage risks involves identification and assessment of
principal risks from the external and internal environment at different
organisation levels. The assessment considers the changes in nature and
extent of significant risks and the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its
business and the external environment. Action plans have been developed and
risk ownership has been assigned for each key principal risk. The risk owners
coordinate the mitigation measures to ensure proper implementation of these
action plans. The process is closely monitored by the Board office. The internal
control and risk management systems and the effectiveness of internal audit
function are reviewed by the Board on an on-going basis to ensure they are
effective.

Taking into consideration the principal risks and mitigation actions, the Board
believes that the Company has the ability to respond to any such changes in
our business and the external environment.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the “Dividend Policy” on 1 January 2019 in
recommending dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits and enable the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth, which provides that subject to the approval of the Shareholders
and requirement of the relevant law, the Company shall pay annual dividends
to the Shareholders if the Group is profitable, operations environment is stable
and there is no significant investment or commitment made by the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties that may cause the Group’s financial
conditions or results materially different from the expected or historical results
are described below:

Risks with regard to the property market in the PRC

Most of the Group’s property projects are located in Mainland China, and
some in Hong Kong and overseas, and most of the Group’s revenue is derived
in the PRC. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 20 projects at
various stages of development. As such, the Group is therefore subject to the
risks associated with the PRC property market. The Group’s operations in the
PRC may also be exposed to the risks of policy change, interest rate change,
demand-supply imbalance and the overall economic conditions, which may
pose an adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or results
of operations.
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Risks with regard to the funding of property development
The property development business is capital intensive. The Group funded its
land acquisitions and property developments primarily through bank loans,
internally generated cash flows (including proceeds from the pre-sale and
sale of the Group’s projects), note payable, convertible bonds and loans from
substantial Shareholders. The Group’s ability to obtain adequate funding
depends on a number of factors, some of which are beyond the Group’s
control, such as general economic conditions in the PRC, the performance and
outlook of the property development industry in the PRC, the Group’s financial
strength and performance, the availability of credit from financial institutions,
and regulatory measures instituted by the PRC government. There is no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain adequate financing for land
acquisitions or property developments at all and/or on terms that will allow the
Group to earn reasonable returns.

Risks with regards to the redevelopment projects
Redevelopment projects in the PRC involve many uncertainties and are capital
intensive. The Group is required to obtain numerous government approvals in
relation to the Group’s urban redevelopment projects and to obtain consents to
relocate all of the existing residents. There is no assurance that the Group will
be able to obtain all of the necessary consents to relocate the existing residents
or that the Group will be able to obtain all necessary government approvals.

Risks with regard to the property leasing

The rental rates and the occupancy rates depend on various factors, including
but not limited to, prevailing supply and demand conditions, economic
conditions as well as the quality of the properties. There is no assurance that
the Group will be able to look for new tenants within a short period of time or
procure new leases or renew existing leases at the prevailing market rates.

Operational risks

The Group’s operation is subject to a number of risk factors distinctive to
property development and property related businesses. Default on the part of
the Group’s contractors, buyers, tenants, and strategic business partners, and
inadequacies or failures of internal processes, people and systems or other
external factors may have various levels of negative impact on the results of
the Group’s operation. In addition, accidents may happen despite systems and
policies set up for their prevention, which may lead to the Group’s financial
loss, litigation, or damage in reputation.

Interest rate risks

Most of the Group’s borrowings are floating-rate bank loans, which expose the
Group to rising interest rates. We will closely monitor the interest rate risk and
when appropriate adopt measures to manage the associated risk, including
but not limited to, the issuance of fixed rate bonds, and use of derivatives such
as interest rate swaps and management of the ratio of fixed or floating loan
portfolio. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had not carried out any hedging
activities to manage its interest rate exposure.
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Currency risks

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars or
US dollars as a result of its investment in Mainland China and the settlement
of certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings in Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars or Australian dollars. We will closely monitor
the fluctuations of the RMB exchange rate and give prudent consideration as
to entering into any currency swap arrangement as and when appropriate for
hedging corresponding risks. As at 31 December 2023, the Group had not
carried out any hedging activities to manage its foreign exchange rate risk.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information which sets out the procedures and internal controls for
handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such
a way to avoid placing any person in a privileged dealing position. The inside
information policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements. The Company has appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its code of conduct for securities transactions by the
Directors. After having made specific enquiries with all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in
the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since
the date of the Company’s 2023 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
Mr WONG Tak Chun, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board
processes and the timely preparation and dissemination to the Directors of
comprehensive meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings
and Board committees are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary
to record in sufficient details of the matters considered and decisions reached
by the Board or Board committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views voiced by any Director. All draft and final versions of the minutes of
Board meetings and meetings of Board committees are sent to Directors and
committee members respectively for comment and record and are available for
inspection by any Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully
apprised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments
relating to the Group and that it takes these into consideration when making
decisions for the Group. From time to time, he organises seminars on specific
topics of significance and interest and disseminates reference materials to the
Directors for their information.

The Company Secretary is also directly responsible for the compliance of the
Group with all obligations of the Listing Rules and the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, including the preparation, publication
and despatch of annual reports and interim reports within the time limits laid
down in the Listing Rules, the timely dissemination to the Shareholders and the
market of information relating to the Group.

Furthermore, the Company Secretary advises the Directors on their obligations
for disclosure of interests and dealings in securities of the Company, connected
transactions and inside information and ensures that the standards and
disclosures required by the Listing Rules are observed and, where required,
reflected in the annual report of the Company.

During the year under review, Mr WONG Tak Chun attended no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
RIGHTS

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy with
the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders and potential investors are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including financial performance, strategic
goals and plans, material development, governance and risk profile).

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made for its
business and financial performance through a variety of formal communication
channels. Information regarding the Company is published in its website:
www.topspring.com. Interim and annual reports, circulars and notices of the
Company are despatched to the Shareholders. The website of the Company
provides information such as e-mail address, correspondence address,
telephone numbers for enquiries, and provides information on the business
activities of the Group. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing either by email to IR@topspring.com or direct
mailing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary.

The Company’s annual general meeting is a good opportunity for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. Notice of annual
general meeting and related documents will be sent to Shareholders pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association, and are
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company.
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, Shareholders holding not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in the requisition. The requisition must state the objects
of the meeting, and must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
those Shareholders. The requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary via mail to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong at Rooms 04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company shall hold general meeting within
two months after receiving the requisition. If the Directors fail to proceed to
convene the extraordinary general meeting within twenty-one (21) days of the
deposit of such requisition, the Shareholder(s) himself or themselves may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by him/her/them as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Shareholder(s) by
the Company.
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If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director
for election as a Director at a general meeting, pursuant to Article 85 of the
Articles of Association, the Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written
notice, duly signed by the Shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed
of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should be lodged at the
Company’s head office or the office of the Company’s share registrar in Hong
Kong (the “Hong Kong Share Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited.
The period for lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions at
general meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by the Company
Secretary and scrutinised by the Hong Kong Share Registrar of the Company.
The results of the poll are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Regularly updated financial, business and other information on
the Group is made available on the website of the Company for Shareholders
and investors.

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by sending
written notice of their proposals to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Company Secretary.

The Company also meets the investment community and responds to their
enquiries about the status of the Company from time to time, so as to
strengthen the contacts and communication between the Company and its
investors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no significant changes in
the Company’s constitutional documents.

After taking into account that the Shareholders have multiple channels to
communicate their views as mentioned above as well as the steps taken
by the Board to solicit and understand the views of the Shareholders and
the stakeholders during the year ended 31 December 2023 including but
not limited to open discussion with the Shareholders during the AGM, the
Board’s review of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy was found to be sound and adequate.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr WONG Chun Hong (E % &), aged 69
Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr WONG is the Founder of the Group and is the executive Director, Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries within the Group. In addition, he is also the founder, the
second largest shareholder and vice chairman of the board of directors of
Rainbow Digital Commercial Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. He has over 30 years of experience in the real estate business in the
Mainland China and Hong Kong, and has profound accomplishments in the
finance and retail fields.

From 1993 to 1996, Mr WONG was the deputy managing director and the
second largest shareholder of Top Glory International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as World Trade Center Group Limited), a company which was listed on
the Stock Exchange and is now privatised and was the vice chairman of China
Foods Limited (formerly known as China Foods Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. From 1996 to 2001, Mr WONG was a major
shareholder, chairman and chief executive officer of ITC Properties Group
Limited (formerly known as Cheung Tai Hong Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr WONG attended the Global CEO Programme
for China in 2007 which was co-organised by China Europe International
Business School, IESE Business School and Harvard Business School. He is the
executive chairman of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organizations Limited, the chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou
Associations Limited, the Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Real
Property Federation and a member of Guangzhou Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (&M ™ B 1% & Z). In July 2016, Mr WONG was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in recognition of his continuous contribution to
the well-being of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region over the years, and
for his achievements towards the commercial sector and community affairs. Mr
WONG was bestowed an Honorary Doctor of social science by City University
of Hong Kong in October 2020. Moreover, in July 2023, the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region awarded Mr. WONG the Silver
Bauhinia Star (SBS). Mr. WONG is dedicated to community services and has
held key positions in a number of influential Guangzhou clan organizations.
He vigorously supported the promotion of national education and donated
his ancestral home for the construction of the Sha Tau Kok Memorial Hall
of Resistance Against Aggression in Hong Kong. Over the years, he has also
generously funded local universities to bolster their teaching and research. Mr.
WONG has been awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star for his devotion in public
interests and outstanding achievements.
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Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), a substantial shareholder (as defined
in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung Yuet (B.V.1.)
Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned
by HSBC International Trustee Limited (“HSBC International Trustee”) as
the trustee of The Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust
established by Mr WONG (the “Wong’s Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of
which include Mr WONG's family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the
protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. Mr WONG is also a director of Chance
Again. Save as mentioned above, Mr WONG does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling
Shareholders of the Company.

The discloseable interest of Mr WONG in the Shares and underlying Shares
under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO") is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and its Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of
this report.

Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley (#3£2X), aged 53
Executive Director

Ms LAM was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 March
2018. Ms LAM joined the Company in October 2017 and was appointed as the
managing director of Top Spring Healthcare Holdings (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, where she was responsible for overseeing
the business operations related to education and healthcare services of the
Group. Prior to joining the Company, Ms LAM served in senior managerial
positions in a number of blue-chip property developers in Hong Kong, including
Techno Factor (Development) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson
Land Development Company Limited, New World Development China Limited,
Hopewell Real Estate Agency Limited and MTR Corporation Limited. Ms LAM
has accumulated over 20 years of the management experience in the real estate
industry with a focus on real estate development, asset management and
management of shopping mall operations. Ms LAM graduated from Ottawa
University, the United States with a bachelor’s degree in business administration
and obtained a master's degree in Project Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. She is a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors and Chartered Institute of Housing.

Ms LAM does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management,
substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.

Ms LAM does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr WONG Sze Yuen (Z2R), aged 40
Executive Director

Mr. WONG joined the Group in September 2015 and is in charge of overseeing
the operational management of the Group. Mr. WONG was or is currently
a director of a number of subsidiaries and joint ventures of the Company.
Mr. WONG was responsible for and brought about instigating growth and
increasing diversity within the Group's businesses. Mr. WONG possesses
extensive knowledge and professional experience which allows him to assist
the Group to seize growth opportunities in this ever-changing market. He was
appointed as an executive Director on 4 August 2022. Mr. WONG obtained
his Bachelor of Arts degree from University of New South Wales in 2006, his
Master of Commerce degree from University of New South Wales in 2009 and
his Juris Doctor degree from University of New South Wales in 2015.

Chance Again Limited (“Chance Again”), which is a substantial shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, is wholly-owned by Cheung
Yuet (B.V.l.) Limited (“BVI Co"). The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee Limited as the trustee of The
Cheung Yuet Memorial Trust, a discretionary family trust established by Mr.
WONG Chun Hong (the “Wong’s Family Trust”), the beneficiaries of which
include Mr. WONG Chun Hong’s family members. As Mr. WONG is one of the
beneficiaries of the Wong's Family Trust, Mr. WONG is deemed to be interested
in the Shares held by Chance Again.

Mr. WONG is a son of Mr. WONG Chun Hong who is the founder of the
Group, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board, the chief executive
officer and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Save as disclosed, Mr. WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr WONG does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr YIP Hoong Mun (¥ & XX ), aged 62
Non-executive Director

Mr YIP was appointed as a non-executive Director and a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 1 September 2017.
Mr YIP is the executive Director and Group Chief Executive Officer of Metro
Holdings Limited (“Metro Holdings”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Metro Group”) since June 2019. Metro Holdings is a company listed on The
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company.

Mr Yip has over 30 years of experience in executive and senior management
roles in strategic planning, operations, hospitality, real estate investment and
development. Mr Yip started his career with Indeco Engineers and later joined
BP South East Asia. Prior to joining Metro, he spent over 20 years with the
Capitaland Group, and served different roles in various strategic business units.
He was Managing Director of Ascott China in 2003 and then Chief Executive
Officer, Asia Pacific and the Gulf Region of The Ascott Group in 2006.
Subsequent to that, Mr Yip has been involved in property developments in the
Gulf Region, Vietnam and Indonesia of the CapitaLand Group.

Mr Yip has a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree with first class honours
from the National University of Singapore and a Master’s degree in Business
Administration from Stanford University, USA. He also completed a
management course at Fudan University, Shanghai, China.

Save as disclosed above, Mr YIP does not have any relationship with any
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr YIP does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr KUI Qiang (Bt3&), aged 38
Non-executive Director

Mr KUI was appointed as a non-executive Director on 6 December 2019. He is
currently the director and financial controller of Caiyun International Investment
Limited (“Caiyun”). From December 2015 to March 2017, Mr KUl worked as
the deputy supervisor of the financial department of Yunnan Health & Cultural
Tourism Holding Group Co., Ltd. (“YHCT"). Mr KUI obtained a double bachelor
degree in E-commerce and English Studies from Northeast Normal University
(4L AN #K 28) in 2008 and a master degree in Accounting from the same
university in 2010. Mr KUl is also a certified management accountant of the
Institute of Management Accountants in the USA. Mr KUI has over 14 years
of experience in the fields of fund management, information technology, real
estate development and telecommunication.

Save as disclosed above, Mr KUI does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling Shareholders (each
as defined in the Listing Rules).

Mr KUI does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr CHENG Yuk Wo (#f%i#1), aged 63
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHENG was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 30
November 2010. Mr CHENG worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers (formerly
known as Coopers and Lybrand) in London in 1984 and at UBS AG (formerly
known as Swiss Bank Corporation) in Toronto in 1989. He is also the co-
founder of Centurion Corporate Finance Limited. In 1999, he became the sole
proprietor of Erik CHENG & Co., Certified Public Accountants. Mr CHENG
received his master’s degree of science (economics) in accounting and finance
from the London School of Economics and Political Science in 1984, and his
bachelor’s degree of arts (honours) in accounting from the University of Kent
in 1983. Mr CHENG is currently a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered
Professional Accountants of Canada, a Certified Public Accountant practising in
Hong Kong and a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr CHENG does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.
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TR BEEHEAREDREZHEBS L The table below sets out Mr CHENG's directorships in a number of companies

MAREAESHRBHER listed in Hong Kong up to the date of this report:
EHATER B
Name of the listed company Position
PREBEZKRER AR B IENITES

CPMC Holdings Limited
BARBWERR AR

CSI Properties Limited
MANBEERAR AR

Somerley Capital Holdings Limited
BRIFMEER QR

Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited
SYERERER A A

Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited
ERBEEREARAT

Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited
S A EEBIRFE AA IR A =)

Kidsland International Holdings Limited
PEBLERERREERAR

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

Independent non-executive director
W IFMITES
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITES
Independent non-executive director
W IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
W IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
W IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
W IFMITE S
Independent non-executive director
B IFMITE S

Independent non-executive director

B A RA R B RAAEEBA RS - AR  Mr CHENG does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
LEAFTEREETMESERIFEKRFSEXY  and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
EEIE T RER o provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Professor WU Si Zong (2 3R), aged 72
Independent non-executive Director

Professor WU was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
30 November 2010. Since 1997 and until now, he is a professor, a doctoral
tutor, at [A)% KX (Tongji University), where he had been the secretary of the
Party Committee and the vice dean of the Economic and Management School.
Professor WU is the vice chairman of L/ % 2 & (Shanghai Marketing
Society) and the standing director of F Bl 1% 2 € (China Marketing Society).
Professor WU lectures in economics and international trade. His main research
fields are business management, marketing and international trade. From
1994 to 1997, he was the Head of Affairs Committee of the International
Trade Faculty at Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (T 78 B A&X K £2).
From 2001 to 2008, Professor WU published several theses and was involved
in various research projects in his fields of expertise. He also published many
books in marketing, commerce and trade from 2000 to 2007. Professor WU
received his Bachelor’s degree in Economics from (Jiangxi University of Finance
and Economics) )T 78 Bf £ K 2 in 1982. In 1995, he received his master’s
degree in economics at Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (_E &
B 4% K 2). Professor WU does not have any relationship with any Directors,
senior management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Professor WU does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr CHAN Yee Herman (B &), aged 69
Independent non-executive Director

Mr CHAN was appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairperson of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
the Audit Committee of the Company on 2 January 2018. He is currently a
consultant of Y.T. Chan & Co., a law firm. Mr CHAN has more than 10 years of
experience in the legal sector. He was admitted as a solicitor of the High Court
in Hong Kong in May 2011. Prior to his legal career, he was a superintendent
in the Hong Kong Police Force and had served the public for over 38 years.
Mr CHAN obtained his bachelor of laws (LLB) degree from the University of
London in 2003 and a postgraduate certificate in laws from City University of
Hong Kong in 2005. Mr CHAN was a non-executive director of Infinity Financial
Group (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 1152) from July 2013 to June 2017.

Mr CHAN does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr CHAN does not have any interests in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations under the
provisions of Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr WONG Tak Chun (Ef££), aged 42
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary, Senior Vice President

Mr WONG was appointed as chief financial officer of the Company on 9
January 2018 and was appointed as senior vice president in charge of business
operation in the PRC. He joined the Group as the Company Secretary in
February 2017. Mr WONG is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and the Chartered Governance Institute.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of British
Columbia in 2005, and a master’s degree in corporate governance from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2014.

Mr WONG has more than 19 years of experience in accounting, corporate
governance, corporate finance, capital markets, and investor relations. He
worked as an assistant manager in KPMG from August 2005 to May 2010.
From May 2010 to June 2013, he served as a company secretary and finance
manager of Central China Real Estate Limited (Stock Code: 0832). He served
as the deputy chief financial officer since February 2014 and the company
secretary since April 2014 of Modern Land (China) Co., Limited (Stock Code:
1107) until January 2016. He served as the company secretary and the chief
financial officer of Helidongsheng International Logistic Company Limited*
(R SZ R FHEEBR ¥ m EE 2 A BR A A1) in Hunan, the PRC, from March 2016
to February 2017. Mr WONG has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Dadi Education Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8417) since
17 January 2017.

Mr WONG does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the
Company.

Mr LI Guohua (Z=[El %), aged 50
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group on 26 December 2009, and is currently the executive
vice president of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he had held senior
management positions in a number of companies, including the general
manager at the Baolong Group (Qingdao) Commercial Properties Company
(ERSESSREWEART). Mr U has engaged in real estate industry for
over 24 years and gained extensive experiences in practical management. Mr
LI obtained a degree specialized in radio communication from the South China
University of Technology in 1996. He is now attending the courses of Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) at Peking University, and completed
the Private Equity Investment and Corporate Listing Programme (L 2 % ##
WA EDE TS ) at the HSBC Business School, Peking University in
2020. He is now attending the Advanced Strategy Programme for the New
Practical Real Estate (G & 8 AL 5 i &= = AR # B§ #H{E JE) at the Tsinghua
Shenzhen International Graduate School. He completed the Advanced Strategy
Programme for the New Practical Real Estate (375 Bi AU 5 b 2 = AR BRSBTS TT )
at the Tsinghua Shenzhen International Graduate School in 2023. Mr LI does
not have any relationship with any Directors, senior management, substantial
Shareholders or controlling Shareholders of the Company.
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Mr LI Shouwen (Z5F18), aged 47
Vice President

Mr LI joined the Group in August 2018 and currently acts as the vice president
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he held various senior management
positions in several companies, including the general manager of business
development department of China Travel International Investment Hong Kong
Limited, the regional general manager of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited, the
general manager of Vanke Projects. Mr LI has over 24 years of outstanding
experience in real estates as well as cultural tourism projects. He has a thorough
understanding of the entire operation of real estate development and project
management and control of investment. He has extensive expertise and
practical management experience, as well as practical experience in cultural
tourism scenic area projects. Mr LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
and civil architecture from Xi‘an University of Architecture and Technology in
1998 and got the graduate degree in industrial and economic studies from the
Central University of Finance and Economics in December 2018. Mr LI does
not have any relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Xiang Xianhu (@ % &), aged 41
Vice President

Mr. Xiang joined the Group in July 2008 and is currently a vice president of
the Group and the general manager of the Accounting and Finance Centre
and presides over the daily management of the domestic operation business.
Meanwhile, Mr. Xiang has been serving as a director of Rainbow Digital
Commercial Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 002419) since September 2022 to date.
With 16 years of experience in real estate, Mr. Xiang has extensive experience
in real estate business management, finance, financing and investment.

*for identification only
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a
real estate property developer in the PRC and is specialised in the development
and operation of urban mixed-use communities, and the development and sale
of residential properties in the Greater Bay Area, the Yangtze River Delta, the
Beijing-Tianjin and the Chengdu-Chongqing regions in the PRC. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 14 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year and the material factors underlying its
results and financial position as required under Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are included in the
sections of Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis
of this report, respectively. The future development of the Group’s business is
discussed in the section of the Chairman’s Statement of this report. In addition,
further details regarding the Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are
included in the section of the Corporate Governance Report of this report. The
sections of the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis
and the Corporate Governance Report form part of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022: HK1 cent
per Share to equity shareholders of the Company and the holders of PCSs).
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Thursday, 23 May 2024. A notice convening the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company will be issued and sent to the shareholders of the
Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND
REGISTER OF HOLDERS OF PCSs

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company or any
adjournment of such meeting:

The register of members and the register of holders of PCSs of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 20 May 2024 to Thursday, 23 May 2024 (both
days inclusive), during such period no transfer of the Shares and PCSs will be
effected.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company or any adjournment of such meeting, (a) in the
case of the Shares, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 17, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 17 May
2024; and (b) in the case of the PCSs, the notice of conversion in prescribed
form, together with the relevant certificate of the PCSs and confirmation that
any amounts required to be paid by the holder of the PCSs have been so paid,
must be duly completed, executed and deposited with the Company at Rooms
04-08, 26th Floor, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 10 May 2024.

The record date for such purposes is Thursday, 23 May 2024.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 281 to 284 of this report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property and equipment and investment properties
of the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements,
respectively. Further details of the Group’s major investment properties are set
out in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.



ESHES
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FERRBTUR

AEENFRNOFERRTYEFERNTS
FERME18 AREOTEFERRTYEL
— HRHERAA RS TR B RN 8 -

FECSRIYE
AEBRFAMEEDRTYEFBHRRIB
BEME 18 AEBMEBBEHECRTYE
B — SR B AR A0 B AT R I
_/E"l‘j' °

FEGEXRPEE L

AEERFANFEERTHEHELHFEIR
MBMEAM T8 - NAEEFHFERRAKBED
TRZHAMENE - SEBENLARENE
BEWEOM—& -

% <
AATRE RS EF BN HRE M
5527 -

&5
KARWEREE - E-_=F+_A=+—H
IEFEBITERES -

BrRBERE
AP 2 BLE AT L EAN BB B
BT - B AR R BERIL MR KR
EHBL -

B IR %

ARRBAETHEFREFARREART A AR B ES
MESERBRBERR

BE HEIW@ALT L™
Bk

BE-_Z-_=F+_-A=1+—HIEFE ARQ
ARETAMBEARTERE  HEkEOA
PDEER ETES o

i
AR R R A R PO B 2 B S BB
BREH T2 REAREBBE -

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

123

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

Details of the properties under development for sale of the Group during the
year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major properties under development for sale are set out in the section
of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Details of the completed properties for sale of the Group during the year are set
out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the Group’s major
completed properties held for sale are set out in the section of Management
Discussion and Analysis of this report.

LEASEHOLD LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE

Details of the leasehold land held for development for sale of the Group during
the year are set out in note 18 to the financial statements. Further details of the
Group’s major leasehold properties held for development for sale are set out in
the section of Management Discussion and Analysis of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year are set
out in note 27 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2023.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 27 to the financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders and the holders of PCSs of
the Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, was HK$5,032,610,000 (2022:
HK$4,941,556,000). Under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the
Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders and
holders of PCSs subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, dividends shall be distributed out of
the retained profits or other reserves, including share premium and contributed
surplus, of the Company.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2023 are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (“KPI")

(a) Pre-sales
o Definition and calculation: Pre-sales measures the sale performance
of the Group’s properties and car park units by multiplying the pre-
sold GFA with the pre-sales ASP.

o Purpose: The Group monitors its product mix to be launched for sale
on the basis of the pre-sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP. The pre-
sold GFA and the pre-sales ASP provide direction for the Group to
determine its sale strategies in the forthcoming year. The extent to
which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing the
Group’s actual pre-sales to the pre-sales target, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s achievement in its sales planning.

o Quantified KPI data: The pre-sales, pre-sold GFA and pre-sales ASP
was approximately HK$600.4 million, 7,540 sq.m. and HK$78,355.4
per sg.m., respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
approximately HK$703.0 million, 7,877 sq.m. and HK$84,207.2 per
sg.m.).
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(b) Gross profit margin

(c)

Definition and calculation: Gross profit margin measures the
profitability that the Group generates from its revenue by comparing
the revenue net of direct costs as a percentage of the revenue. It
indicates the financial success and viability of the Group’s principal
business.

Purpose: The Group aims to enhance its gross profit margin. The
extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s gross profit margin from one year to the
next, as it is an indicator showing the Group's profitability.

Quantified KPI data: The gross loss margin was approximately 26.6%
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: gross profit margin of
approximately 16.2%).

Profit for the year

Definition and calculation: Net profit measures the revenue derived
from the Group’s business, less all expenses and taxes. It indicates
the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other related
activities.

Purpose: The Group emphasises cost control. The net profit provides
direction for a better control and utilisation of expenses. The extent
to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by comparing
the Group’s net profit from one year to the next, as it is an indicator
showing the Group’s earnings from its business operations and other
related activities.

Quantified KPI data: The net loss was approximately HK$900.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$183.6 million).
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(d) Net gearing ratio
e Definition and calculation: Net gearing ratio measures the financial
leverage of the Group by comparing the total borrowings net of
cash and cash equivalents, and restricted and pledged deposits as a
percentage of total equity. It indicates the proportion of equity and
debt the Group has been using to finance its assets.

o Purpose: The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a
net gearing ratio. The net gearing ratio provides direction for the
Group to optimise its financing and business development activities.
The extent to which this objective has been achieved is assessed by
comparing the Group’s net gearing ratio from one year to the next,
as it is an indicator showing the Group’s level of leverage.

e Quantified KPI data: The net gearing ratio was approximately 62.8%
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 54.7%).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately HK$350,000 (2022: HK$1,463,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the Group's five largest
customers accounted for approximately 15.4% of the Group's revenue for the
year and sales to the largest customer amounted to approximately 3.6% of the
Group’s revenue for the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 11.6% of the Group’s purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier amounted to approximately 5.0%
of the Group’s purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

ZEBH
Date of

BERH
Date of
resignation

appointment

HITES Executive Directors
BERERE Mr WONG Chun Hong —ETEAFNA=Z+HA 38 A
(EFFTHAEE) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 25 August 2009 N/A

MERLZ L Ms LAM Mei Ka, Shirley —E-)\F=A—H i A
1 March 2018 N/A

HEBIREE Mr WONG Sze Yuen “EC AR TiE A
4 August 2022 N/A

FHITES Non-executive Directors

BREXEE Mr YIP Hoong Mun —ET—tFNA—H T iE A
1 September 2017 N/A

B0k A4 Mr KUI Qiang —E-NnF+=ZANAB 38 A
6 December 2019 N/A

BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors

R AN S A Mr CHENG Yuk Wo —ZT-ZF+—-A=+H TiE A
30 November 2010 N/A

RO R Professor WU Si Zong —E-TF+—HA=+H T iE A
30 November 2010 N/A

PR {26 55 A Mr CHAN Yee Herman —T—-N\F—H=H I iE A
2 January 2018 N/A

BEZERANFEMMG REERRBF K
gL ERH=-O2MEST(MARLIE=N
Fg AREEBEAERIR =928 AZ)
BWmERT BREFAELEFRRER
FRAEHFET— X BFEINEEABA L
RERETRLZANRTHERENES  WE
ZEENRAERET  ABABMESRE
BRANEE (RIFBESERE) o 1IN R
BERMAESSR) G REMESTGRKE
R EAMAESTEESTS TN ESETR
EARF T —ERBRAFRGBFHE B
EEET - RIBERMAIF833) 1K &5 84(1)
- BEEREE MERKTRERRELER
RARBIEERFBFRAERERFAERL
e B BT -

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years. The Directors to retire in every year will be those who have been longest
in office since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire
will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
Also, pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, a Director who is
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. By virtue of Articles
83(3) and 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr Wong Chun Hong, Ms
LAM Mei Ka, Shirley and Mr YIP Hoong Mun will retire from office and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.
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Each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor WU Si Zong has served the
Company for more than ten years. As an independent non-executive Director
with extensive experience and knowledge and in-depth understanding of the
Company’s operations and business, each of Mr CHENG Yuk Wo and Professor
WU Si Zong has expressed objective views and given independent guidance to
the Company over the past years. The Board considered that their long service
would not affect their exercise of independent judgment and was satisfied that
they have the required integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role
of independent non-executive Directors and considered both of them to be
independent.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company considers that, as at the date of this report, all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are set out in the section of Biography of Directors and Senior Management in
this report.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and based on the confirmations from
the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since the
Company’s last published annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company has a service contract or appointment letter (as the case may
be) which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and reviewed by the Remuneration Committee with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, performance and contributions of the Directors and also the change
in market conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements, there is no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year under review in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

REMUNERATION FOR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the senior management of the Group by bands are as
follows:

A

Number of individuals

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules,
were as follows:
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REQXARGREBRONERE

Long positions in Shares and underlying Shares of the

Company
BEAA
BERA BEBRE ARKRES BERAR HEERTRA
‘& EA 2R (R) A (#) A (f) HER B A BRED
Total number
Number of  Number of Share Number of of Shares and Approximate
Shares held options held PCSs held underlying percentage of
Name of Director Type of interest (Shares) (Shares) (Shares) Shares held issued Shares
(Frzk1)
(Note 1)
(@+{b)+(c)
EREAE(EEED (HE2R3) XpiEER 148,500 - - 148,500 17 (L) 0.01
Mr WONG Chun Hong Interest in a controlled 148,500 Shares (L)
(“Mr WONG") (Notes 2 and 3) corporation
EFEEIZA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 13 (L) 37.81
Settlor of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
BREEA 5,083,200 - - 5083200 (L) 0.46
Beneficial owner 5,083,200 Shares (L)
B 3 Notes:
M) [LEEERBRMOSAEEBRMHOITE - (1) The letter "L" denotes the Director’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares.

(2)  KangJun Limited ([Kang Jun]) HE L2 EHE (2)
BIREH R B E GG &% EHE BN AKang
Jun$5 B 8 148,500 % iR 1 7 # B # 2% ° Chance
AgainEHBVI Co2 & ¥R ° BVI Com 2 HEH1TR
A ELBEBERIEAERRGEILIZTIAZ
BHA HIHZAREELENRERE &L
i%%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ*?&mém}\&ﬁ%/\ CIRIEE FH

BB 40 - = % E AR A Chance Again i &
Eﬁ417,593,500ﬁ§ﬁ%1ﬁ&¢| Chance Again # A 25k
%Tiﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁamne 552,800 % 1 B8 A% 19 7
B - B4 INE RS 5,083,200 KA ©

Kang Jun Limited (“Kang Jun”) is wholly-owned by Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Mr
WONG is deemed to be interested in 148,500 Shares held by Kang Jun. Chance Again
is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is wholly-owned by
HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust and the beneficiaries
of which include Mr Wong’s family members. Mr WONG is the settlor and the protector
of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in
417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and 116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation
to the PCSs held by Chance Again. And Mr WONG beneficially owned 5,083,200 Shares.

38 M=—ZT—P&E— A+ H " Chance AgainfECrown  (3)
Investments Limited ([ Crown Investments |) 5] 32
— M EE i - WA A B Chance Again [ Crown
Investments H % 84,763,946 X & 10 (R B |) - &
SEREHTK - EBER H5THIE + Chance Again
332,829,554 & IR 15 R B #E 25 o

On 10 January 2024, Chance Again and Crown Investments Limited (“Crown
Investments”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the sale
of 84,763,946 Shares by Chance Again to Crown Investments (the “Transaction”).
Completion of the Transaction took place on the same day. Immediately after completion
of the Transaction, Chance Again was interested in 332,829,554 Shares.

REXHEEEN RZZTEZ=F+=A
=+—H EFFIARAFTBTHAEHRER
ARARSEFEMBEEZE (ERREFFLHE
IRBIEXVE) B - HERNOIESTHEE
RWEIEHEA ()VRIRE %&Hﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ%xvﬁﬁ
BTRSDEEMEARANG RE R (BIERS
R HRF %&Hﬂ%ﬂlﬂﬁﬂE’Jungﬁi?&%f’ﬁﬁ?ﬂiﬁ
EHEEMRE=IAR) SR BESF KBRS
1619 28 352 178 EC BRI RZ IR DI P48 2 5C il - =k Gii)
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors are considered
to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors are entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of their
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to
any of the Directors.

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors’ liability insurance
during the year under review and as at the date of this report, which provides
appropriate cover for the Directors.

DISCLOSURES UNDER RULES 13.20 TO 13.22 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no circumstances which would give
rise to a disclosure obligation under Rule 13.20 to 13.22 of the Listing Rules.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or
subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

Share Option Schemes

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme on 28 February 2011
for the purpose of recognizing and acknowledging contributions that eligible
employees have made or may make to the Group. On 26 June 2012, 20 June
2013, 28 April 2015, 8 September 2015, 23 October 2015 and 5 December
2016, the Group granted 15,720,000 share options (Lot 1), 14,000,000 share
options (Lot 2), 82,650,000 share options (Lot 3), 3,000,000 share options
(Lot 4), 10,000,000 share options (Lot 5) and 31,000,000 share options (Lot
6) respectively, under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at the exercise prices
of HK$2.264 per Share (adjusted), HK$4.14 per Share, HK$3.3 per Share,
HK$3.65 per Share, HK$3.45 per Share and HK$2.796 per Share respectively,
to certain Directors, senior management and selected employees of the Group.
The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was terminated on 8 June 2022 and all
share options granted under such scheme had already lapsed as shown below.
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HE-_TZ-_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE BX Movement of the outstanding share options under the Post-IPO Share Option
AABEEERERETZETHMAITERERME  Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:
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THEE As at Share Share Share options As at

Exercise 1 January options options options forfeited 31 December
Price 2023 granted exercised cancelled  and lapsed 2023
FRAT
HK$
per Share

BRDREER  PostIPO

£t Lot 1 2.264 - - - - - -
FoH Lot2 4.14 3,950,000 - - - 3,950,000 -

=# Lot3 33 28,718,000 - - - 28,718,000 -
=l Lot4 3.65 220,000 - - - 220,000 -
ERH Lot5 345 10,000,000 - - - 10,000,000 -
EVaeiin Lot6 2.796 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 -
s Total 57,888,000 - - - 57,888,000 -

E’\\\_ E-—F+—_A=+—H  WESK7TE  Asat31 December 2023, there were no outstanding Lot 1 share options.
—HEEE A o
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T-=%—H—H2ZMAE3950,000% % All 3,950,000 outstanding Lot 2 share options as at 1 January 2023 were
TEE_MERERAEERESES - A& held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
T-FE-—=HF+-—A=+—HItFEF - AK&EFH 3,950,000 Lot 2 share options all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
BE#A 2 2503,950,00017 % —#tBE#E S no Lot 2 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
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Out of the 28,718,000 outstanding Lot 3 share options as at 1 January 2023,
1,000,000 of which were held by Mr CHENG Yuk Wo, 400,000 of which
were held by Professor WU Si Zong while the remaining 27,318,000 were
held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
28,718,000 Lot 3 share options held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 3 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2023, there were no outstanding Lot 3 share options.

All 220,000 outstanding Lot 4 share options as at 1 January 2023 were held by
employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023, 220,000
Lot 4 share option all held by employees of the Group lapsed and no Lot 4
share option was granted, exercised, cancelled. Therefore, as at 31 December
2023, there were no outstanding Lot 4 share options.

All 10,000,000 outstanding Lot 5 share options as at 1 January 2023 were
held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
10,000,000 Lot 5 share option all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 5 share option was granted, exercised, cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2023, there were no outstanding Lot 5 share options.

All 15,000,000 outstanding Lot 6 share options as at 1 January 2023 were
held by employees of the Group. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
15,000,000 Lot 6 share options all held by employees of the Group lapsed and
no Lot 6 share option was granted, exercised or cancelled. Therefore, as at 31
December 2023, there were no outstanding Lot 6 share options.

New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to an ordinary resolution
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8 June 2022 for the
purpose of (i) motivating the eligible participants to optimize their future
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group; (ii)attracting and
retaining talents or otherwise maintaining ongoing business relationship with
the eligible participants whose contributions are expected to be beneficial to
the Group; and (iii) recognizing and acknowledging the past contributions that
the eligible participants have made to the Group.
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The Board may at its absolute discretion grant share options under the New
Share Option Scheme to any director, employee, officer and/or consultant of
the Group. The Board may in its sole and absolute discretion select and subject
to such conditions (including, without limitation, any minimum period for which
a share option must be held before it can be wholly or partly exercised and/or
any performance targets which must be achieved before a share option can be
wholly or partly exercised) as it may think fit. The exercise period shall not be
more than 10 years.

The total number of Shares in respect of which share options may be granted
under the New Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 141,273,244 Shares,
representing approximately 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the
date of this report. The number of share options available for grant under the
New Option Scheme was 141,273,244 as at the date of its adoption on 8 June
2022 and the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2023, representing
approximately 10% of the total number of the issued Shares as at the date of
this report.

Without prior approval from the Shareholders, the number of Shares in respect
of which share options were granted and may be granted to any individual in
any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. For
any grant of share options to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or any of their respective associates, the Shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person within
any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued Shares in aggregate
and be with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million unless with the approval of the
Shareholders.

A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by each grantee accepting the grant of
share options. Share options are exercisable at a price that is determined by the
Board, which will not be less than the higher of the closing price of the Shares
on the date of grant, and the average closing prices of the Shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.

While the New Share Option Scheme will expire on 23 May 2023, the Company
may terminate the New Share Option Scheme by way of ordinary resolution in
general meeting of resolution in Board meeting.

No share option under the New Share Option Scheme was granted by the
Company from the effective date of 8 June 2022 to the date of this report.

Further details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in note
26 to the financial statements.
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PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES (“PCSs”)

Details of the deed poll in relation to the bonus issue of the PCSs subsisting at
the financial year ended 31 December 2023 are set out below:

On 20 June 2013, the Company executed the deed poll in relation to the
bonus issue of HK$25,092,080 PCSs. The bonus PCSs will be irredeemable
but will have conversion rights entitling the bonus PCS holders to convert into
an aggregate of 250,920,800 Shares (subject to adjustment). The conditions
precedent of the bonus issue of the PCSs are set out on page 9 of the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2013. All the conditions precedent
of the issue of the PCSs had been fulfilled on 20 June 2013. As at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this report, HK$13,436,800 PCSs had
been converted into 134,368,000 Shares, and there were HK$11,655,280
outstanding PCSs which can be convertible into 116,552,800 Shares (subject to
adjustment). For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27
March 2013.

The Directors considered that the bonus issue of the PCSs was a feasible and
practical solution to restore the minimum public float of the Shares.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance had been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year under review.

There is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year
under review.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not enter into any transactions which
constituted connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and for which the Company was required to
comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to any Director or the chief
executive officer of the Company, the following persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive officer of the Company) had interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of any other
members of the Group:

BREKA
BRRH BRERE TRRES
g8 88 %8

BERGBR
HERAAH
Total number
of Shares and

underlying

ETE

(KzE1)

HERTRG
HWERES

Approximate
percentage of
issued Shares

Number of
PCSs held

Number of Number of Share
Shares held options held

©
() &

(Shares) Sharés

(Shares) (Shares)
Chance Again (52 %7) ExBEBA 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %M (1) 37.81
Chance Again (Notes 2 and 7) Beneficial owner 534,146,300 Shares (L)
BVI Co (M2 R27) REEERS 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %@ H (1) 37.81
BVI Co (Notes 2 and 7) Interest in a controlled corporation 534,146,300 Shares (1)
ESEREEE2RT) [ EIN 417,593,500 - 116,552,800 534,146,300 %5 (1) 37.81
HSBC International Trustee (Notes 2 and 7) Trustee of a trust 534,146,300 Shares (L)
prEgt(Bat)) (W2 3R7) AL B 422,825,200 - 116,552,800 540,778,000 %@ % (1) 3828
Ms LIU Choi Lin (“Ms LIU") (Notes 2, 3and 7)  Interest of spouse 540,778,000 Shares (L)
FE (Mitd) ERERA 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840fkRk%A (1) 2838
Caiyun (Note 4) Beneficial owner 400,959,840 Shares (L)
ERREEE (M) REtERA 400,959,840 - - 400,959,840 (1) 2838
YHCT (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 400,959,840 Shares (L)
Crown Investments (#3E5 & 7) REEEER 227,970,810 - - 227,970810[R% (1) 16.14
Crown Investments (Notes 5 and 7) Interest in a controlled corporation 227,970,810 Shares (L)
Metro Holdings Limited ([ Metro]) (Fi55%7) ZEAEER 228,390,110 - - 228390,110BEH (1) 16.17
Metro Holdings Limited (“Metro") Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
(Notes 5 and 7)

ONG Jenn %4 (MiiE6 2 7) REEERR 228,390,110 - - 228390,110RRH (1 16.17
Mr ONG Jenn (Notes 6 and 7) Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)
ONG Sek Hian %t 4 (B 6 12 7) REEEER 228,390,110 - - 228390110 &R () 16.17
Mr ONG Sek Hian (Notes 6 and 7) Interest in a controlled corporation 228,390,110 Shares (L)

EREBA 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 RER1D (L) 0.14

Beneficial owner

2,000,000 Shares
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Notes:

(N

(2)

4

(6)

Save

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company.

Chance Again is wholly-owned by BVI Co. The entire issued share capital of BVI Co is
wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Wong's Family Trust. Mr
WONG is the settlor and the protector of the Wong’s Family Trust. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr WONG is deemed to be interested in 417,593,500 Shares held by Chance Again and
116,552,800 underlying Shares in relation to the PCSs held by Chance Again.

Ms LIU is the spouse of Mr WONG. By virtue of the SFO, Ms LIU is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares in which Mr WONG is interested.

400,959,840 Shares were held by Caiyun, which is wholly-owned by YHCT. Accordingly,
YHCT is deemed to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by
Caiyun.

227,970,810 Shares were held by Crown Investments which was in turn wholly-owned by
Metro China Holdings Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. 419,300 Shares
were held by Meren Pte Ltd which was in turn wholly-owned by Metro. By virtue of the
SFO, Metro is deemed to be interested in 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held
by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively.

Metro’s ultimate controlling shareholders (as defined under the Listing Rules) are Mr. Ong
Jenn and Mr. Ong Sek Hian, and their aggregate direct and deemed interest in Metro is
approximately 35.398%. By virtue of the SFO, Mr ONG Jenn is deemed to be interested
in the 227,970,810 Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren
Pte Ltd, respectively. Mr ONG Sek Hian is deemed to be interested in the 227,970,810
Shares and 419,300 Shares held by Crown Investments and Meren Pte Ltd, respectively. In
addition, Mr ONG Sek Hian beneficially owned 2,000,000 Shares.

On 10 January 2024, Chance Again and Crown Investments entered into a sale and
purchase agreement in relation to the sale of 84,763,946 Shares by Chance Again
to Crown Investments. Completion of the Transaction took place on the same day.
Immediately after completion of the Transaction, Chance Again and Crown Investments
were interested in 332,829,554 Shares and 312,734,756 Shares, respectively.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person (other than

a Director or chief executive(s) of the Company) had any interests or short
positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Notes:

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have been subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as total sums in certain tables may not
be an arithmetic aggregation of figures preceding them.
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COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To protect the Group from potential competition, Mr WONG entered into
a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with the
Company pursuant to which he represents, warrants and undertakes to the
Company (for itself and for the benefit of the other members of the Group),
among other things, that other than through the Group, neither he nor any
of his associates is currently interested, involved or engaged, or is likely to be
interested, involved or engaged, directly or indirectly, in any business which
is or is about to be engaged in any business which competes or is likely to
compete directly or indirectly with the Group’s business. Details of the Deed of
Non-Competition have been set out in the paragraph headed “Non-Competition
Undertakings from Mr WONG” in the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders and the Scarborough Group” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 11 March 2011.

The Company has received the annual confirmation from Mr WONG in respect
of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition.

In order to ensure compliance by Mr WONG of the Deed of Non-Competition
and to manage any potential conflict of interests arising from the business of
the Controlling Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted the following corporate governance measures (the
“Corporate Governance Measures”):

(@ the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed, on an annual
basis, the compliance with the undertakings by Mr WONG under the
Deed of Non-Competition;

(b)  Mr WONG provided all information requested by the Company which
is necessary for the annual review by the independent non-executive
Directors of his compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition such as: (i)
information on business opportunities including project names, amount
of investment and the geographical location which may be identified
by him or any of his associate(s); and (i) information on any property
developments conducted by him or any of his associate(s) during the year
or a negative confirmation, as appropriate;

(c) the Company disclosed decisions on matters reviewed by the independent
non-executive Directors relating to (where applicable) (i) compliance
and enforcement of Mr WONG's non-competition undertakings; (ii) the
exercise of the pre-emption rights where a business opportunity is referred
to the Group; and/or (iii) any decision on the enforcement of breaches of
his non-competition undertakings either through the annual reports of
the Company, or by way of announcement to the public;
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Mr WONG made an annual declaration on compliance with his
non-competition undertakings in the annual report of the Company
and ensure that the disclosure of details of his compliance with and the
enforcement of his non-competition undertakings is consistent with the
principles of disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules;

Mr WONG abstained from voting in all meetings of the Shareholders and/
or the Board where there is any actual or potential conflicting interest;

the Board has a balanced composition of executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong element on the Board that can effectively exercise
independent judgement. With expertise in different professional fields,
the Company believes that the independent non-executive Directors have
the necessary caliber and expertise to form and exercise independent
judgement in the event that conflicts of interest between the Group and
the controlling shareholders arise;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, that is,
where a Director has an interest in a company that would enter into an
agreement with the Group, the Director(s) with an interest in the relevant
transaction(s) would not be allowed to attend the relevant Board meeting,
and would be excluded from the Board deliberation and abstained from
voting and would not be counted towards quorum in respect of the
relevant resolution(s) at such Board meeting;

in the event that potential conflicts of interest materialise, the
controlling shareholders would be required to abstain from voting in
the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company with respect to the relevant
resolution(s); and

the Group is administratively independent from the controlling
shareholders as it has its own company secretary, authorised
representatives and administrative personnel.

The Directors consider that the above Corporate Governance Measures are
sufficient to manage any potential conflict of interests between the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates and the Group and to protect the
interests of the Shareholders, in particular, the minority Shareholders.

The Directors confirm that each of the Corporate Governance Measures has
been performed satisfactorily during the financial year ended 31 December
2023.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant
impact on the Group. The Group would seek professional legal advice from
its legal advisers to ensure transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. During the
year under review, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with any
relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on it.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and to
adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme
for office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operational impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time and will
implement further eco-friendly measures and practices closely enhancing
environmental sustainability.

For details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in
this report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S EMPLOYEES

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable assets. The
Group will provide trainings for employees to enhance their knowledge in
corporate values and culture and to implement them thoroughly. Meanwhile,
the Group accelerates development of young leaders and nurtures them
in establishing study-oriented teams and keeps them abreast of updated
knowledge and timely development.

The Group also aims to provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. Management reviews annually the
remuneration package offered to employees of the Group. Meanwhile, for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contributed to the success of the Group’s operations, the Group adopted the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme. Information
about these scheme is set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option
Schemes” in the Directors’ Report of this report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers and customers.
The Group aims at delivering high quality properties and services to its
customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing communication and
commitment between the Group and its suppliers, especially the commercial
banks and financial institutions as the Group's businesses are capital intensive
which require on-going funding to maintain sustainable growth.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there are no material events affecting
the Group after the end of the reporting period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed, together with the management and
external auditor, the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group
and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

KPMG will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

WONG Chun Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Spring International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) set out on pages 155 to 280, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes,
comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2(b) to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s
revenue generated from sales of properties reduced to HK$405.5 million (2022:
HK$3,139.9 million) and a net loss of HK$900.3 million (2022: HK$183.6
million) was incurred. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current bank loans
and other borrowings amounted to HK$3,305.9 million, while its cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$665.2 million. In view of the prevailing slow-
down of the property market and the tightening of the financing environment,
the Group may take longer time than expected to realise cash from the sale
of its properties and may have challenges in securing additional financing and
renewal of existing bank facilities and borrowings to meet its loan repayment
obligations. These conditions, along with the matters as set forth in Note 2(b)
indicates that a material uncertainty exists on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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ERETEE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FRESEEERERMOBELLE - RAY  Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
B ANPGRAVBRERRBEEMNEIE - %% of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
EEARMIEFBRRGAMEHRE LML AR of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
ERFETRIE  BHM T eYZESEEEREME  audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
BER -MAFELLEFERHZEXTHTAEZ  opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
—EiFTii B IEAN - HIEE T XFTELAEE  In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going
ARBMREREENRRETSEE - concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

REYENGE
Valuation of investment properties

BRI EHEN T 12 R TR T 2() »

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(j).
HREEtEE RN EFT MR EZEER

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

RZZEZ=F+-_A=+—H  EEEFE BMRTEREVENHEETHEAEFSEATEE:

AR BE AN EEENREWEMAS A% Ouraudit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties included
&8 /48,105,900,000 7T * & 215 EEME  the following:

BEBEMNIOR ZSREAVEEIEREGT

- ZTERBAME - e HSUHRAEHEEREZEMNINTYEGER RN MEERSE - &MAE
As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a BEREEEEENEEREVENIABBENKE

portfolio of investment properties located in obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the
Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong with a fair external property valuer engaged by management and on which the
value of $8,105.9 million which, in aggregate, management’s assessment of the fair values of investment properties was
accounted for 40% of the Group’s total based:;

assets. These investment properties principally
comprise residential, retail and office premises. o FHEINEIMEMLBERRMEEVMESIENER KHRRIENE - N
RERBEENEBMERB L

EREERESEBIINDWEMLERRRR assessing the external property valuer's qualifications, experience and
BB LEE FEREMER=T=_=F expertise in the properties being valued and considering their objectivity
T+ A=+—HHAREE- and independence;

The fair values of the investment properties as
at 31 December 2023 were assessed by the
management based on independent valuations
prepared by a firm of qualified external
property valuer.
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FERETEE G KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

REYWHXNEE
Valuation of investment properties
DR E B IRZN it 12 R S5 BR M 2() ©

Refer to Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(j).
BN ES N AEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREITER
The key audit matter

EERERAAEBESLERENEXAE R
fhat BRI EAHEREERERE BEX
fb& TI51HE KA LB R T TISER
The determination of these fair values involves
significant management judgement and
estimation, particularly in relation to selecting
the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average
market price of the comparable properties.

MR EETEEE Y IO EERR - KRS
BEEAMRN - MRMEEREYENLE
BEAR ST = -

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because of the
inherent risks involved in estimating the values
of the properties, particularly in light of the
current economic circumstances.

ERMABYEGEZRKOGENT - BN 3 (4 ERD 3 5 RS2
BEFRRBNGETEREZMHRERR

with the assistance of our internal property valuation specialists, discussing
with the external property valuer their valuation methodology and the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in their valuations;

PR LB I5 RS BUR RSB AT AT YE TG AR a T R - DA 5 AT
MBI R ER A BET % - YEHEERRANEEMGFTRERR (B2
FBEREE BRITTMHESRALRTISERS) IREER &

evaluating the external property valuer’s valuation methodology and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including capitalisation
rates, prevailing market rents and comparable market transactions)
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available
market data and/or government produced market statistics; and

LHEREAS BEXERINBYEGEMBEHNEEER (BEER
THe RHER) EAEEE K XA XL ©

comparing tenancy information, including committed rents and
occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the external property valuer
with underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample basis.
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REEEFBPNERE=FRENHE
Valuation of receivables from the third parties without specified dates of settlement

BRI A BN 17 REFHHER T 2() °

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(g).
KM EFT MR EZEER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BT AR EEEERPNERE =T RENGEETNEAETFE
FEATEIE

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of receivables from the third
party without specified dates of settlement included the following:

BB B
The key audit matter

RZTEZ=F+-A=+—H' BE&E#%
BETAETHAEBRNERE = RE
1,138,400,0008 7T - iR & BB AR K D
HREABEaERARBEAR((ERAR
RARBEARDAENSREE - RNEE
ZT=HFFA=FT—HIEFE  BX
gt bl ERGRIERREEAAALEBEERE
92,800,000/8 7T °

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had
certain receivables from the third party without
specified dates of settlement of $1,138.4
million which were classified as financial
assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL") in the consolidated statement
of financial position. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group recognised relevant
fair value loss of $92.8 million, regarding the
above receivables.

ZECRMEESERAABESHREENE
=heRmIA -ZEeREENGENRE
ARERABBRRBRNGERE  BZZ5H
ABIE R AR FJAE 5 BOEB T 5 BRI
HEEAEMSBERKN -

These financial assets are classified as level 3
financial instruments in the fair value hierarchy.
The valuations of these financial assets are
derived from valuation models which require a
number of inputs and assumptions which are
not observable from market data and which are
significant to the entire measurement.

HREEZSeREESMNEREERE
BEEEEMERNMEARAZBRAT
EOHEREERE SEEENMBEEEE
BARE WBMEEREEEERHNE
WE=AFFENGHEBRRETFE -

We identified the valuation of receivables
from the third party without specified dates of
settlement as a key audit matter because of the
degree of complexity involved in valuing these
financial assets and the degree of judgement
exercised by management in determining the
inputs used in the valuation models which may
have significant impact to the financial results
of the Group.

BSTHAEERBHREAGE
obtaining and inspecting the valuation prepared by management;

ERMALEEER B T - 2ERTSELENRE - FFEEES
Egﬁ WG ETE - WEEEPRBAMGERKR ©RE KRR ERE
ERE

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, assessing the
valuation methodology adopted in the valuations with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards and challenging
the estimation in future cash flows and discount rates adopted in the
valuations;

BB HEAMGT > Th EREEEARGEER P AERA
WA ARKREERE  WR2ERZNMBRRL  HEBBREBAX
RN REERRBREREES &

evaluating the Group’s estimated future cash flows from the debtor used
in the valuation model which include reading the terms set out in the
respective agreements and challenging management’s assumptions in
respect of the ability of the debtors to pay and timing of settlements with
reference to the debtors’ financial condition; and

2ERITSRENRTE - HE EXERES M B REMEEMR
PR EEZE@ASBRBRENKET M -

assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements in relation to the key inputs and assumptions adopted
in the valuation with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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FERETEE G KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

[5E- 9z AR
Assessment of impairment of goodwill

DR A B BN T 13 R @5 RN 77 2(1)

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(1).
BN ES N AEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BREITER
The key audit matter

RZEZ=F+-_A=+—HB R=_Z
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BT R BB EE

TEFREFEERATRIE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill included the

40,700,000 % 7T ° following:
As at 31 December 2023, goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the educated related service o THEEEEBRRBENGHEN 2E8BTE u‘l'ﬁ E”JE’J;&F BREEAEA

in 2018 amounted to $40.7 million.

ERESFREAE ECEIERENR
CELABET((REELER)) FROHURE

EXEMNHBIREZRCELEMNEED

obtaining an understanding of the management’s impairment assessment
model, evaluating the identification of the CGU and the allocation of
assets to that CGU with reference to the requirements of the prevailing

& mETE RS EEETRAN G  REE accounting standards;
EHETEELREREZTHIINBGENR
BN EEREHET © o THEHEEBRIMINBEEMNER « KF R EENH

Management performed annual impairment
assessment of goodwill based on discounted
cash flow forecast prepared for each cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which goodwill
is allocated. The impairment assessment is
carried out by management with reference to a
valuation report prepared by an external valuer
appointed by management.

HEURRERERAPLREBEELHEXR
HE - FRIRERESEMNEBMRBIKA
BRE  FMEEREREFE -

The preparation of discounted cash flow
forecasts involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, in particular in
determining the appropriate short-term and
long-term revenue growth rates, profit margin
and discount rates.

assessing the qualifications, experience and expertise of the external
valuer appointed by management;

ERBARARNEESE - WEBHZSETRMRREFELEE
?&@&ﬁ%%ﬁi/ﬁﬂ{‘ﬁﬂﬂz YRR RETTAARAHNEZ MR

F(LHEBEWAERERAERAEE) REEE
discussing future operating plans with management and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the discounted cash flow
forecast, in particular in relation to revenue growth rates and profit
margin, by comparing these with historical results, economic and industry
forecasts;

HERENFRETGBRMAGE 2T KE & EE
Bl & 5 E ERRAREE (L
re-performing calculations made by management in arriving at the year
end assessments of recoverable amounts and comparing the calculated
recoverable amounts to the actual carrying amounts;

TEHAE  REKE

FREL F—FENRRREREBAEREZ R
EH - ARHEEEERAERER T SEM MR EERE
performing a retrospective review by comparing the prior year’s
discounted cash flow forecast with the current year’s results to assess the
reliability and historical accuracy of management’s forecasting process;

ETEHE
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Assessment of impairment of goodwill
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2().
RAPNBFT A EEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB B
The key audit matter

HRBREEFEM AT WO ENT AL
BRI WEKERREELERHAS R
et EEBMERIEEBREHRAR
MBEMETEE R E L EEREEE -
We identified the assessment of impairment
of goodwill as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the recoverable amounts of CGU
can be inherently subjective and requires the
exercise of significant management judgement
and estimation which increases the risk of error
or management bias.

ERMAFEEERHET - BRERTEHMA LR R AR EET
AR ENRE

with the assistance of our internal valuation specialists, evaluating the
appropriateness of the discount rates by benchmarking against other
comparable companies in the same industry;

HIERX (AFEMRLE RSB AANERERAER)ETH
RS WEBERETHELENTERESEENTRERER
BEERE: &

performing sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, including growth
rates and discount rates applied in the discounted cash flow forecast
and considering the resulting impact on the impairment assessment and
whether there were any indicators of management bias; and

2ERTEHERNER AR EEENRBREN G EEENE
HRPHIREE

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of management’s impairment assessment of goodwill with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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FEETTEE @)

FEEEN A #EFE
Assessment on net realisable value of inventories
RRAE A RIS RA N it 18 R @5 R M7 2(0) °

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Refer to Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(o).

BREITER
The key audit matter

R-ZTE-_=F+-A=+—H8 B£EE%H
EHYE(TBRPYED REFEERIYE
(BRITYE]) (GEAIFE] 2EEAEE
/£6,149,100,000 8 7T ©

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate
carrying value of the Group's properties under
for development (“PUD"”) and completed
properties for sale (“Completed Properties”)
(together “Inventories”) totalled $6,149.1
million.

ZEMETZBRELNAY - REREEH
FEREEDE -

These principally comprise residential and
commercial properties in Shenzhen, Tianjin and
Hong Kong.

FERKAMER SR FENREEINE 17
ERMBEREANAZRFEAEEEIR
BONBY LB R E < (hERSE -
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The calculation of the net
realisable value for Inventories at the financial
reporting date is performed by management or
based on valuation reports prepared by external
property valuers.

EANEFNAEEZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B EEFEN A Z R FERRNETIEF B
Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of inventories included
the following:

e MEMEELERZEFENTEEEE  BERAMKANTEAETT
B EZENEES L Rt R B
assessing the design and implementation of key internal controls over the
preparation and monitoring of management budgets and forecasts of
construction and other costs for each Inventories;

o LMRFAEFERMETEMRE WREEENRARESEF
ENERERRMRZEFESHBANEREE
conducting site visits to Inventories’ sites, on a sample basis, and
discussing with management the progress of each Inventories visited
and the development budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for these
Inventories;

o MBUMERIIBYELEMAAGEHAGERS - ME R HIF UL
HREAMERPYERBEECR I EN IR FE
obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the external
property valuers on which the management’s assessment on net realisable
value of PUD in Chinese Mainland and Completed Properties in Hong
Kong were based;

o CTEINBMIEMERBERE 2 REEE
assessing the external property valuers’ competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
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ARETEE G KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

FEFEEN 2B FE
Assessment on net realisable value of inventories

BRkE o B 2 M 7T 18 R &5 E H 7t 2(0)

Refer to Note18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies Note 2(o).
HEEtEE KM EFT MR EZEER

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

R B e BB R 5 M8 28 IR W 35 9 3R TR AR A
Rt EENERRRFERBR FHEEFE
BT B IR R (B I B KB IR B B R A AT e
The calculation of the net realisable value of
Inventories involves significant management
judgement and estimation in preparing and
updating estimations of the costs to complete
each PUD as well as in assessing the expected
future net selling prices for Inventories.

HREFES BEEEMNERMN  ARMGES
BEFaE® R SR FEMSRESRR - 8

EDER

We identified the assessment of net realisable
value of Inventories as a key audit matter
because of the significance of Inventories to
the Group and because of the inherent risks
involved in estimating net realisable value for
Inventories.

2EZRTEHERNER  FABEEERAEPEAMBERTYER
AEBRFAEMRAGETERIINBYEGE BTGP E A RS
MERBEERTYWENRI BRI FEMRMNEERZNEE T
evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methodologies adopted
by management for assessing the net realisable value of Completed
Properties in Chinese Mainland and those adopted by external property
valuers for assessing the net realisable value of PUD in Chinese
Mainland and Completed Properties in Hong Kong with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

AT SR E R A B R et KRR AR - BIEETEF
EERAFERREAE@E  FEARBFEBRMSAGEER &
SEARFNHETEETENETILR - WA ETERKAR BE5EK
MERTFEREEZENEESRETLER

assessing the reasonableness of the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations, on a sample basis, including those relating to
average net selling prices and estimated construction cost, by comparing
net selling prices with market available data and the sales budget plans
maintained by the Group, and comparing estimated construction cost
with the Group’s latest development budget and signed construction
contracts;

R EETFEN AT EINTEAEENZ AT ETLER I
BBE-_Z_=Ft+t_A=+t—HEENKAE_ZT_—F+_H
=+ EREETHER  UFHEEREETRREE BN ERNIL
K

comparing the estimated construction costs to complete each Inventories
with the Group’s latest budgets and comparing the costs incurred to 31
December 2023 with budgets as at 31 December 2022 to assess the
accuracy of management’s forecasting and budgeting process; and

REEREETHEREST - URTEBAR MG RRREBLESH
ROERENE M SERFEREERER  UEBEBR G REBR
HERGEEBHH A AR EFEEEENEERBAROAIR
inspecting sensitivity analyses prepared by management for the extent
of changes in key estimates and assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be required for Inventories to be materially misstated
and considering the likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising and whether there is any indication of
management bias in their selection.
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HitFEMERT
ERFEE - RMLE

EXRRERBEESHAMASRMANEEY
BREENRBERTEOINRERERUE
BERRANGEMBERE URZEEEA/Y
ENARES AEREEAMBTRRE T
RN ERMERAERBRRAL -

RRVEGAVBRERE - EFEAETE &
SERFELENREN  LEERBR TRER
FELEARNEE  UREABBELLESS
At RIFEEFER EKEBRAEE
HHIEEMBENERTER -
EXHEERZBERD TRITEE EXEY
BHREBENES -

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND OUR AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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FE BREAIEHOERUEERER

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ng Yu Hei.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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WA Revenue 4 954,319 3,667,163
HERAR Direct costs (1,208,094) (3,072,932)
£ (8) # Gross (loss)/profit (253,775) 594,231
REMR RSB BFE Valuation gains/(losses) on investment

it % H & ﬁf% RMEE properties and investment properties

s/ (B518) classified as held for sale 12 14,376 (23,019)
E A Other revenue 5 158,795 169,689
HAb g8 %5 Other net loss 6 (39,695) (3,768)
HERZHEAY Selling and marketing expenses (76,519) (155,425)
THHEX Administrative expenses (176,820) (258,101)
B 5 R A A IR Impairment loss on trade and other

AR receivables 28(a) (85,225) (34,843)
REXBELH (BER) BF  (Loss)/profit from operations (458,863) 288,764
BhA KA Finance costs 7(a) (319,999) (324,257)
DA E N RE B Share of losses of associates 15 (57,615) (22,234)
DEEEREER Share of losses of joint ventures 16 - (15,299)
BB AIEE Loss before taxation (836,477) (73,026)
Fris Tt Income tax 8(a) (63,853) (110,615)
FEBE Loss for the year (900,330) (183,641)
LT ALHEM,: Attributable to:
$%ﬁ%?ﬁ?\ﬁ§$&ﬂﬂﬂ<ﬁ Equity shareholders of the Company

; o e

’A%&ﬂﬁﬁxﬂi%% and holders of bonus perpetual

(IRATRBRE])H5HA subordinated convertible securities

("PCSs") (876,893) (185,099)

e RS S Non-controlling interests (23,437) 1,458
FEBE Loss for the year (900,330) (183,641)
BREE (Bx) Loss per share (HK$)
EARREE Basic and diluted 11 (0.57) (0.12)

25163 % 280 B My Mf s AE AKX 7% 5 81 75 ek — &6
7 RN X R HE 5 ARCOR B Ak A PTHA RS BB 55 5
BABR B R FBENKE27(0) -

PCSs are set out in Note 27(b).

The notes on pages 163 to 280 form part of these financial statements. Details
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of
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BE_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FEBE Loss for the year (900,330) (183,641)

FEHM2HEWE (BRFREFH  Other comprehensive income for the year
DEAERE) (after tax and reclassification adjustments)

HA#E#TSER ZIEEEA  Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
EH - profit or loss:

REWE - BMEREZERAEEE  Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and

RIREWMEZ BOEGH AR equipment upon change of use to investment
properties 9,365 -
ER®REE BIEMENEM  Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation gain on
W MEERREHIBEAE change of use to investment properties (2,342) -
7,023 -
H & ] fEE T 7 E 2 1 Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
HIEA profit or loss:
MEEH Z5 Exchange differences on translation of:
— BN B A R M BT SRR — financial statements of foreign subsidiaries (250,246) 962,243
—HEMBRARNALNNEE  —redassified to profit or loss upon disposal of
EFHEEER subsidiaries and joint ventures — (1,034)

I e A - S
FEHMEEWE - HIRFTESB  Other comprehensive income for the year,

______________________________________ netof incometax ~  (243,223) (963,277)
FEXEWREHAT Total comprehensive income for the year (1,143,553) (1,146,918)
AR AL EA Attributable to:

AN EHE 2 AR R R ok A AT IR Equity shareholders of the Company and holder

fREHRA A of PCSs (1,116,388) (1,137,985)
FEPE R Non-controlling interests (27,165) (8,933)
FEXEREZHAT Total comprehensive income for the year (1,143,553) (1,146,918)

25163 % 280 B THAARZ S B @E—52 °  The notes on pages 163 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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e BRI R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZEZ=ZF+ZA=+—H CGUETIIR)
At 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

ERBEE Non-current assets
wEYE Investment properties 12 8,105,892 8,297,230
Y - BB MR Property, plant and equipment 12 138,126 173,388
8,244,018 8,470,618
E\REE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769
S Goodwill 13 40,736 40,736
iSRRI o s Interests in associates 15 158,358 186,912
FEBIBREANBEALR  Financial assets measured at fair value

([ERERXEAREE through profit or loss (“FVPL")

ARDFFENERMEE 17 1,202,818 1,341,514
H b fE W SR8 Other receivables 19 314,675 289,997
BEEFHIBEE Deferred tax assets 8(d) 112,663 83,293

10,077,037 10,416,839
REEE Current assets
FEREME LKA Inventories and other contract costs 18 6,300,697 7,145,866
FEBIBREANMBEEALR  Financial assets measured at FVPL 17

AENEREE 2,835 31,214
B 5 & E b IR Trade and other receivables 19 1,467,188 1,578,368
TERREIE Prepaid tax 8(c) 2,141 2,295
R R EERFR Restricted and pledged deposits 20 1,525,775 2,057,404
BeMREGEEEE Cash and cash equivalents 21(a) 665,194 579,975

9,963,830 11,395,122
DEABIERENIREYE Investment properties classified as held
for sale 12 - 20,679
e eeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii.o......... 2963830 11,415,801
REBAEE Current liabilities
5 REMENFIE Trade and other payables 22 2,956,489 3,196,329
RTERREMES Bank loans and other borrowings 23 3,305,907 2,568,827
SREE Contract liabilities 24 146,774 99,056
HEaE Lease liabilities 25 6,072 10,611
FET R IE Tax payable 8(c) 206,733 269,161
_____________________________________________________ 6,621,975 6,143,984
RMREAE . Netcurentassets ... 3341855 5,271,817
BEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 13,418,892 15,688,656
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R-ZEZ=F+-"A=+—HUCAVETIIT)
At 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FRBEE Non-current liabilities
WITERRAEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 23 3,948,400 5,097,072
HEARE Lease liabilities 25 28,946 35,874
ELEFRIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 8(d) 1,318,384 1,273,704
i, 2295730 6,406,650

EERE NET ASSETS 8,123,162 9,282,006
R R #E CAPITAL AND RESERVES
[i@N Share capital 27(c) 141,273 141,273
s Reserves 7,950,928 9,082,607
AATEERRER KA Total equity attributable to equity

AREBRFFFEA shareholders of the Company and

i ESEE holders of PCSs 8,092,201 9,223,880
FEERER Non-controlling interests 30,961 58,126
DA TOTAL EQUITY 8,123,162 9,282,006

SFEEeN_T_WNF=-A -1+ /\BHt/ERKHE Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.
F)5E o

HERE MER
Wong Chun Hong Lam Mei Ka Shirley
BE EE
Director Director

%163 £ 280 B MM ARR RSB 67 —30% o The notes on pages 163 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BEZ-_=F+-A=+—HULEFEGETIIT)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

KAARERRRKATRRRFHEARE
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs

159

BTKA
TRkE% A 0z
ROEE Ethee 48R EXRE GERE  EREE  RARE  REEA BE feRES
Reserve
arising from PRC  Property Non-
Share Share issuanceof  Capital  Exchange statutory revaluation Other  Retained controlling
capital ~ premium PCSs  reserve  reserve  reserves  reseve  reserve profits Total  interests equity
i S n i i i i i S n i S
§1000 §1000 §/000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000 §1000
WZB-ZE-B-RNER  Balanceat ! January 2002 ] 19521% 11,65 5261 745 53097 404 (62979 7653290 10302826 67,007 10,369,833
“ECIERESY: Changes in equity for 2022:
EEER Loss forthe year - - - - - - - -850 (185099 4% (18341)
Ehamha Other comprehensie income - - - - (952886) - - - - 08 (1039 (963277)
2ANGEE Totel comprehensive income - . - - (95288) - - - (185099) (1137985 (8933 (1,146918)
WEERERRENBOTN  Acquistons of ddifonal nterests n subsicaris
B from norcontrolng nerests - - - - - - -k - B @) 868
Capitalinjecton in a subsicary from non-contraling
FERESRHELTE ineest - - - - - - - - - - B B
BRYERERERRN Shate options and awrded shares forfeied - - - BW - - - - B3R - - -
EREREETRE Transer o PRC statutory esenves () - - - - T - - [39490) - - -
HERIENRS Dividends approved n espect o the previous year ~~ 271b) - - - - - - - - 53 (1530 - (1530
RZBzZEtZA=1-5
k] Balance at 31 December 2022 W3 19215 1655 29310 (941 5959 N4 1138 TAI673% 923880 5816 9282006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RRRiK/ N
Attrbutable to equity shareholders of the Company and holders of PCSs

gl

q;-r i
e AAEE  EIRE ERRE AR REEN
Reserve
aising from PRC Propery Non-
Share Share  issuance of Copitd~ Bxchange ~ statutory  revaluation Other ~ Retained controling Totd
apital PCSs Tesenve resere  resenves Tesenve Teserve i Interests equiy
r T i r T T i r T fr I
§1000 §1000 §1000 i §000 §1000 §1000 ! §1000
W-BZZF-F-BHES  Balanceat1January 203 W3 19155 11655 29310 (935M1) 592,59 404 11386 7416734 923880 58126 9,282,000
CRCCERRSY: Changes in equity for 2023:
EEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (07689) (476893  (2343)  (900330)
EEkz Other compiehensie ncome - - - - (ue50) - um - - () BT ()
AkGEEE Totel comprehensiveincome - - - - (M65%) - 708 - (67689) (1,16388) (27,165 (1,143553)

ERUREXTERERZERA Shareoptons and awarded shares

forfited and lapsed - - - (9310 - - - - 29310 - - -

ERENELTRE Transfer to PRC statutoryresenes 27(d)i) = - = s = 8,34 = ] S = =

fhE-EHEL Disposal o asubsiiary s - = = = ) s s m 5 s -

HEERENRS Dividends approved n respect o the previous year ~~ 27(b) - - - - - - = - (s (1591) - (5
i mict 3 gl o

i Balance at 31 December 2023 M3 195,15 11,655 - (1181,959) 600,751 131 1138 6545703 8,092,201 3091 8123162

%5163 % 280 B M HARR 25 &—35 ©  The notes on pages 163 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BEZ-_=F+-A=+—HULEFEGETIIT)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

REEK Operating activities
CEREIRFTEELRS Cash generated from operations 21(b) 425,089 306,677
EENETA] Tax paid (72,849) (62,250)
REEBEFAEERSTFE  Net cash generated from operating

activities 352,240 244,427
REFEE Investing activities
BEAMEMEENK Payment for purchase of other financial

assets (67,465) (2,328,504)
HEEMESRMEENFTS  Proceeds from disposal of other financial

FIE assets 89,537 2,336,134

HEFEBIBIIEANEE  Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
ARFENEREERN measured at FVPL

FriS 308 8,000 22,206
BF A Interest received 52,071 59,574
B IR B Yz Investment income received = 5,447
HE—HeEaE Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture

Z TS RIA - 751,353
—EEEDLEDIRZFIE  Proceeds from distribution of a joint venture

A - 228,360
e ETERR Advance to joint ventures = (121,589)
BE A VNEIE=EA Advance to associates (22,500) -
EEMAEDTEREER  Proceeds from repayment of loans to

Z AR EIE joint ventures 35,697 276,129
ME=FTRR Advance to third parties = (6,000)
EEMF=ZTIRHEERZ  Proceeds from repayment of loans to

FriS50R third parties 9,900 46,908
HE—MMEBARZIEE  Net cash inflow from disposals of

MAFEE a subsidiary 32,262 23,316
EEWE  BE ME&H{TF Payment for purchase of property,

plant and equipment (3,059) (3,936)
HEME  MEKRZMEZ  Proceeds from disposal of property,

8 sIA plant and equipment 2,262 194
HEREMEZ Proceeds from disposal of investment

8 sA properties 5,917 -
mEERREE Capital contribution to associates (365) -
E] SRR AR A 25 W BB A 25 2 Payment for acquisition of interest from

non-controlling interest - (18,686)

RETEFEERESTFE  Net cash generated from investing
activities 142,257 1,270,906
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

BE_Z-_=F+-A=+—HILFEWBETIIF)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RMEEE Financing activities
FIGIRITTER R HAL Proceeds from new bank loans and
EEMREHRA other borrowings 21(c) 1,142,039 3,471,664
EERITERREMEE  Repayment of bank loans and other
borrowings 21(c) (1,437,391) (5,288,014)
EEEMNES Repayment of bonds payable 21(c) = (255,847)
BENHEEHRES ZEARED  Capital element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (9,235) (12,775)
BENEERES ZHFEED  Interest element of lease rentals paid 21(c) (2,281) (2,860)
EEIEERER ZKIE Repayment of non-controlling interests 21(c) (13,940) (68,868)
FRBR B IR F Release of pledged deposits 421,584 604,625
BNFBEREMEERA  Interest and other borrowing costs paid 21(c) (471,150) (516,099)
MAA AAE SRR B K AR Dividends paid to equity shareholders of
GBS A ARMNARE the Company and holders of PCSs 27(b) (15,291) (15,322)
JEPERRAE RS A —TEIMI B A F) Capital injection in a subsidiary from
ZEE non-controlling interest = 93,099
_BARDFDAREFE  Net cash used in financing activities (385,665) (1,990,397)
ReRESLEEER Net decrease in cash and
WA FEE cash equivalents 108,832 (475,064)
R—A—BWEEEK Cash and cash equivalents
HeZEBEER at 1 January 21(a) 579,975 1,077,346
ExganNsg Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes (23,613) (22,307)
R+=ZRA=+—H# Cash and cash equivalents
ReRALEEER at 31 December 21(a) 665,194 579,975

55163 % 280 B WM ET B2 S Rk —2f4% o  The notes on pages 163 to 280 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S BERBEIN - LETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

—RER

HRREBREEERAR (HR2AR))RIE
MERBERREERE (“AKR—F&
= e RETR_FFTNLF/\A
“tThREHERSEMKLRER R
BEREMFERAE - ARBEBROHR =T ——
FZA-F+=B(LHEBDEFEH
BRZMARAR ([BRFR]) ERLEM -

AAREEZRFREER  MEMBLQ
RAEERPEARKANE (HPEADKRE
MEZR DERE VWEEENEH
RISA R B AR IRTE %75 o

2 BEAREFHEE

() EHREHR
ZERBRROEBRELE A
2 ((BEREHMAE) RANME
EREBMEREEA ((EBUK
BEXERA])  BEMEERENE
BUBREER - BEEAEN(F
BEFER) RREREARKRD
MEBERERE ZEWBBRERT
NEBRBMEXIMBRARES
EmRAI(TEWRALD & ERBRE
R - REBARMANERG K
REINIOT ©

EREMASERMETEEM
BRELERNNEET AR AEER
ARBMAEF IR ERERKA
RERM - 20 REEBEETIK
R B IR % 5 DO P S BUE
AEBEARGETHE  ARNZERTE
BRPEH -

GENERAL INFORMATION

Top Spring International Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability on 25 August 2009 under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) on 23 March 2011 (“Listing Date").

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are property development, property
investment, property management and related services and education
related services in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"),
which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“the Listing Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group and the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.
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(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
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(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in associates
and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below:

— investment properties, including interests in leasehold land and
buildings held as investment property where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(i));

- other investments in debt and equity securities (see Note 2(g)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell (see Note 2(aa)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have significant effect on the financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.
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(A2) 2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) BMEHRRNWEREE (H)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
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(Continued)
Material uncertainty related to going concern

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue
generated from sales of properties reduced to $405.5 million (2022:
$3,139.9 million) and a net loss of $900.3 million (2022: $183.6
million) was incurred. As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current
bank loans and other borrowings amounted to $3,305.9 million,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to $665.2 million. In
view of the prevailing slow-down of the property market and the
tightening of the financing environment, the Group may take longer
time than expected to realise cash from the sale of its properties and
may have challenges in securing additional financing and renewal of
existing bank facilities and borrowings to meet its loan repayment
obligations. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern and therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given consideration to the future liquidity of the Group and its
available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern. The
directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management, which covers a period of at least 12 months from
31 December 2023. Certain plans and measures have been or will be
taken to mitigate the liquidity pressures and to improve its financial
position which include, but not limited to, the following:

(i)  The Group will continue to implement measures to accelerate
the pre-sales and sales of its properties under development
and completed properties, and speed up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds and other receivables.

(i)  Management is negotiating with the banks and a shareholder
for renewal of existing bank facilities and the borrowings
respectively. Up to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has renewed the existing bank
facilities of $635 million for at least 12 months, drawn down
new bank loans of $846 million and settled the current bank
loans of $799 million.

(i) Mr. Wong Chun Hong, a shareholder of the Company, has
issued a letter of financial support to the Company for a period
of at least twelve months from 31 December 2023 to make
reasonable efforts to enable the Group to meet its liabilities
as they fall due and carry on business without a significant
curtailment of operations.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(c)

(Continued)
Material uncertainty related to going concern (Continued)

(iv) The Group will continue to take active measures to control
administrative costs and maintain containment of capital
expenditures.

The board of directors are of opinion that, assuming success of the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within twelve months from
31 December 2023. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The consolidated financial statements do not
include adjustments that might be necessary should the Group be
unable to continue as a going concern.

Changes in accounting policies
(i) New and amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and amended
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements for
the current accounting period:

° HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

e Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates and errors. Definition of accounting
estimates

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of accounting policies

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes.: Deferred tax
related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction

° Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: International tax
reform — Pillar Two model rules

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
There is no material impact by adoption of the amendment to
the Group.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(ii) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions to
mandatory provident fund (“MPF"”) scheme to reduce the long
service payment (“LSP") in respect of an employee’s service
from the Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on the
employee’s monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date. In July 2023, the
HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the abolition
of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” that
provides accounting guidance relating to the offsetting
mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism. There is no
material impact by adoption of the guidance to the Group.

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income
and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) either at fair value or at the NCl’s
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets. NCI
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. NCI in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between NCI and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of NCI and
other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with Notes 2(s) or (t) depending on the nature of the
liability.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and
other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary is
measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see Note 2(n)),
unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Associates and joint ventures

169

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the
financial and operating policy decisions. A joint venture is an
arrangement in which the Group or Company has joint control,
whereby the Group or Company has the rights to the net assets of
the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for

its liabilities.

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group classified as held for sale) (see Note 2(aa)). They
are initially recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs.
Subsequently, the consolidated financial statements include the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
("OCI") of those investees, until the date on which significant

influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate
or the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method, together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate
or the joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other

long-term interests where applicable (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted
investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no

evidence of impairment.

(f) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses and is tested annually for impairment

(see Note 2(n)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in securities, other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set out
below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The investments
are initially stated at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 28(g). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their classification.

(@

No-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent solely payments
of principal and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(x)(vi)), foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) —
recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal and interest and
the investment is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as
if the financial asset was measured at amortised cost.
The difference between the fair value and the amortised
cost is recognised in OCIl. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in OCl is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

FVPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Contingent considerations assumed in business
combinations

Any contingent consideration assumed in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
If an obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets
the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity,
then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for
within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL, unless
the investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition the Group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in OCl. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer’s perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
is transferred to retained earnings and not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income (see Note 2(x)(v)).

(h) Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. At the end of each
reporting period the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or

|oss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

()

(k)

Investment property

Investment property is initially measured at cost, and subsequently at
fair value with changes therein recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in accordance with Note 2(x)(ii).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation (see Note 2(k)) and impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)):

— interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group is the
registered owner of the property interest (see Note 2(m));

—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold properties
where the Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest (see Note 2(m)); and

—  furniture, fixtures and other equipment.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items
(major components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised in profit or loss. Any related revaluation
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits
and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(i) Ownership and leasehold interests in land and buildings

Depreciation is provided on the cost of the leasehold land of
properties over the unexpired terms of lease. Costs of buildings
thereon are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated useful lives,
being no more than 50 years after the date of completion.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(k) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

0

(ii) Furniture, fixtures and other equipment

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of furniture,
fixtures and other equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or loss
as incurred. Development expenditure is capitalised only if the
expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are
probable and the Group intends to and has sufficient resources
to complete development and to use or sell the resulting asset.
Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Capitalised
development expenditure is subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation any accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets, including patents and trademarks, that are
acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see Note 2(n)(iii)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed
at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.



174 FEEBEEERAI[ T -_=FH

REMBHRME

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B S ERBIN - LUETIIR)
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 EXEHRE®

(m) HEEE
REIMEMNE  AREFEHEEHNE
CREEXEEHE - MM T
BAR—BEREAZESCHAIEE
MAZNRRAE MZeOAH
ExpcME - HEFHRARET
ERANEENER  TEEBXE
ARG EADEENSE Al
HlIEEEE -

(i) ERFEBAA
HWEHNESHERY RIFHEE
By AEECERETSOBEM
EHENFEAERS  ARE
HER D KABIEHEERL D 1F
RE—HERDIIE -

REERGAH  NEERR
EREEENMHEARG EH
EH/12EAREREHIHE
ENMERAEMEBRIRAE
REEHREBWHEERN - EX
SEEEERR T ZHEER -
AEERSRBEERRUAER
BREAEERE - M TEER
£ AIEENEENFERE
HANRRGEENBRER -

EHEEEARL HERED
FiRE RN EE N RIREE
R WIRBEEFME S8R X
BRE AR MRTEE 5 E
TE -+ B LA $E BRI 38 15 SR M = Bh
B-MOPHERE HEAE
REERAGE MAERAX
AIRAERA LR - HE
BEMNGFELTERENMRER
BEMEOABEAENK X
REELREBITIR -

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. This is the case if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(@

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for leases that
have a short lease term of 12 months or less, and leases of
low-value items such as laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value item, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-
lease basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or
rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability,
and are charged to profit or loss as incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(@

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes
2(k) and 2(n)(iii)), except for the following types of right-of-use
asset:

—  right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are carried at fair value (see Note 2(i)); and

—  right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land
where the interest in the land is held as inventory are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value (see
Note 2(0)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to investments in non-equity securities carried
at amortised cost (see Notes 2(g)(i), 2(z)(vi) and 2(n)(i)). Any
excess of the nominal value over the initial fair value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments made
and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if
the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease
liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is
recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Leased assets (Continued)

(@

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a lease
modification, which means a change in the scope of a lease or
the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for
in the lease contract, if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each lease
is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified
as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets
to the lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(x)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.
If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in Note 2(m)(i), then the
Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") on:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged
deposits, trade receivables and other receivables,
including those loans to associates that are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest); and

- lease receivables.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Generally, credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the contractual and expected
amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
rates if the effect is material:

—  fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables:
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof;

—  variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest
rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement
of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

—  12-month ECLs: these are the portion of ECLs that result
from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the
expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months);
and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the
items to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at
12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including loan commitments
issued) for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life of the financial
instrument) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when measuring ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment, that
includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 1 year past due.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account, except for investments in non-equity
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the
loss allowance is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the fair
value reserve (recycling) does not reduce the carrying amount
of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

—  the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

— it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or lease
receivable is written off to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
otherwise determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written
off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the
holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially recognised at fair value,
which is determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s
length transaction for similar services, when such information
is obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by comparing
the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is
made available with the estimated rates that lenders would
have charged, had the guarantees not been available, where
reliable estimates of such information can be made. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where
no such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

The amount initially recognised as deferred income is
subsequently amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract and remeasures the above liability at
a higher amount when ECLs on the financial guarantees are
determined to be higher than the carrying amount in respect
of the guarantees.

A 12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that the specified
debtor will default has increased significantly since the
guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL is measured.
The same definition of default and the same assessment of
significant increase in credit risk as described in Note 2(n)(i)

apply.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the specified debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated
based on the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is then discounted using
the current risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its non-financial assets (other than property carried
at revalued amounts, investment property, inventories and
other contract costs, contract assets and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any
such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from
continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows
of other assets or cash-generating units (“CGUs"). Goodwill
arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use
is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For
other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see Notes
2(n)(i) and (iii)).

(o) Inventories and other contract costs

(@

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value as follows:

—  Leasehold land held for development for sale

The cost of leasehold land, which is held for development
for sale, represents the cost of acquisition and the
premium, if any, payable to the relevant government
authorities. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o) Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)

(@

(ii)

Inventories (Continued)

Properties

Cost of properties comprises specifically identified cost,
including the acquisition cost of interests in freehold and
leasehold land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing costs
capitalised (see Note 2(z)) and any other costs incurred
in bringing the properties to their present location
and condition. In the case of properties developed by
the Group which comprise of multiple units to be sold
individually, the cost of each unit is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs for that
development project to each unit on a per square foot
basis, unless another basis is more representative of the
cost of the specific unit.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less any estimated costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

Low value consumables and supplies

Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as inventory
(see Note 2(0)(i)), property, plant and equipment (see Note 2(j))
or intangible assets (see Note 2(1)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract, e.g. sales
commissions, are capitalised if the costs relate to revenue
which will be recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

Inventories and other contract costs (Continued)
(ii) Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in the future; and
are expected to be recovered. Otherwise, costs of fulfilling a
contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant
and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of capitalised
contract costs is recognised in profit or loss when the revenue
to which the asset relates is recognised (see Note 2(x)).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see Note 2(x)). A contract liability is also recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such latter cases, a corresponding receivable is also recognised (see
Note 2(q)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see Note 2(x)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration and only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing component and other
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised cost (see Note

2(n)(@)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(t)

(u)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see Note 2(n)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less
transaction costs. Subsequently, these borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
is recognised in accordance with Note 2(z).

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related
service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount
expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past
service provided by the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are expensed as the related service is provided.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as required under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefits (Continued)
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(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans (Continued)

The employees of the Group participate in retirement
plans (defined contribution retirement plans) managed by
respective local governments of the municipalities in which
the Group operates in Chinese Mainland. The contribution to
the retirement plan is calculated based on fixed rates of the
employees’ salaries cost and charged to profit or loss as and
when incurred, except to the extent that they are included in
the cost of inventories not yet recognised as an expense. The
Group has no other obligation for the payment of retirement
and other post-retirement benefits of staff other than the
contributions described above.

(ii) Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based
payments granted to employees is measured using the
binomial lattice model. The amount is generally recognised as
an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which
the related service conditions are expected to be met, such that
the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of
awards that meet the related service conditions at the vesting
date.

(v) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a
business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in
OoCl.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on
the taxable income or loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes
any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(v) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for:

—  temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and
that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;

—  temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture to the extent that the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future;

—  taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill; and

—  those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted
or substantively enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
separately in relation to its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused
tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.
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(v) Income tax (Continued)
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(w)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with Note 2(i), the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets
at their carrying value at the reporting date, unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases,
the measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are
met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying
products or services are sold, based on historical warranty data and a
weighting of possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value
of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract, which is
determined based on the incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation
under that contract and an allocation of other costs directly related
to fulfilling that contract. Before a provision is established, the Group
recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that
contract (see Note 2(n)(iii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(x)

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision
is expected to be reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement that would be virtually
certain. The amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income s classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the
sale of properties, the provision of services or the use by others of
the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions and
recognises revenue on a gross basis. In determining whether
the Group acts as a principal or as an agent, it considers
whether it obtains control of the products before they are
transferred to the customers. Control refers to the Group's
ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the products.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties
such as value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(@

Revenue from contracts with customers

(@)

(b)

(©

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for
sale in the ordinary course of business is recognised when
property is delivered to customers in Chinese Mainland or
when legal assignment is completed in Hong Kong, which
are the point in time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits of the property.

Advanced payments received on properties and prior
to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
statement of financial position as contract liabilities (see
Note 2(p)).

To the extend that the advance payments from customer
are regarded as providing a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method during the period between
the payment date and the date of delivery of property
in Chinese Mainland or the completion date of legal
assignment in Hong Kong. The discount rate applied is
reflective of the rate in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it
is eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23, Borrowing
costs, in accordance with Note 2(z).

Property management and related services income

Property management and related services income is
recognised when services are provided.

Education related services income

Education related services income is recognised when
services are provided.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

0]

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(d)  Other practical expedients applied

The Group has applied the following practical expedients:

For property management and related services
income and education related services income that
had an original expected duration of one year or
less, the Group has not disclosed the information
related to the aggregated amount of the transaction
price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations in accordance with paragraph 121(a) of
HKFRS 15. In addition, the Group does not adjust
the consideration for any effects of a significant
financing component as the period of financing is
12 months or less in accordance with paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15.

The Group has recognised the incremental costs of
obtaining contracts relating to the sale of completed
properties and services as an expense when incurred
in accordance with paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15, as
the amortisation period of the assets that the Group
otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the
contract.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(@)

(b)

(©

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an
integral part of the total rental income, over the term of
the lease. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the
date on which the Group’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. The "effective interest rate” is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset. In calculating
interest income, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset
is not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired,
then the calculation of interest income reverts to the
gross basis.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(x) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income (Continued)

(d)  Service income for carparks and apartments

Service income for carparks and apartments is recognised
when services are provided.

(e) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred.

(y) Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective
functional currencies of group companies at the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the
reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rates at the date of transaction. Foreign currency differences are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The
income and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl and accumulated
in the exchange reserve, except to the extent that the translation
difference is allocated to NCI.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

(2)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially
such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the
cumulative amount in the exchange reserve related to that foreign
operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that foreign operation that have been attributed to the
NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified to profit
or loss. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary
but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative
amount is reattributed to NCI. When the Group disposes of only part
of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence
or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(aa) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising assets and
liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that
they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through
continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to
goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro-
rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to deferred tax assets,
employee benefits assets, financial assets (other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and investment properties,
which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group's
other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification
as held for sale or held for distribution and subsequent gains and
losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated, and any
equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(bb)Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (bb)(a).

(vii) A person identified in (bb)(a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(cc) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical accounting judgements
in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties
As described in Note 12, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by an independent firm of
professional valuers.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the valuers
have based on a method of valuation which involves, inter alia,
certain estimates including current market rents and market price for
similar properties in the same location, and condition, appropriate
discount rates and expected future market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised their
judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(b)

(o)

(d)

Valuation of receivables from the third parties

As described in Notes 17 and 29(g), receivables from the third parties
are measured at FVPL and classified as level 3 financial instruments
in the fair value hierarchy.

In determining the fair value of receivables from the third parties, the
Group has based on valuation models which require a number of
inputs and assumptions which are not observable from market data
and are significant to the entire measurement. Management has
exercised their judgement and is satisfied that valuation models are
reflective of the features of receivables from the third parties. Given
the uncertainties in determining the inputs used in the valuation
models, the estimated fair value may change at the end of each
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in estimates would affect
income statement in the future years.

Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, interest in associates and joint
ventures and goodwill may not be recoverable, the assets may be
considered impaired and are tested for impairment. An impairment
loss is recognised when the asset’s recoverable amount has declined
below its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the greater
of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In determining
the recoverable amount which requires significant judgements, the
Group estimates the future cash flows to be derived from continuing
use and ultimate disposal of the asset and applies an appropriate
discount rate to these future cash flows.

Provision for PRC LAT

As explained in Note 8(a), the Group has estimated, made and
included in tax provision for PRC LAT according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the tax
authorities upon completion of the property development projects
and the tax authorities might disagree with the basis on which the
provision for PRC LAT is calculated. Significant judgment is required
in determining the level of provision, as the calculation of which
depends on the ultimate tax determination. Given the uncertainties
of the calculation basis of PRC LAT as interpreted by the local tax
bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the actual outcomes/estimates will impact the income
tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.
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3 EntHERMEE @ 3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

(e) ELEHERME

(e) Deferred tax liabilities
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The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties to
third parties whereby the directors consider that such arrangement is
not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group has decided to treat
those properties as investment properties because it is the Group’s
intention to hold these properties in long-term for rental income
and/or capital appreciation.

Under HKAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the manner in
which the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the assets
in question. In this regard, HKAS 12 has a rebuttable presumption
that the carrying amount of investment property carried at fair value
under HKAS 40, Investment property, will be recovered through sale.
This presumption is rebutted on a property-by-property basis if the
investment property in question is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment property
portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that as at 31
December 2023, the Group has determined that each of these
properties are held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time and consequently the presumption
in HKAS 12 is rebutted for these properties. As a result, the Group
has continued to measure the deferred tax relating to these
other properties using the tax rate that would apply as a result of
recovering their value through use.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

()

(9)

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised and measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. In determining the carrying amounts
of deferred tax assets, expected taxable profits are estimated
which involves a number of assumptions relating to the operating
environment of the Group and require a significant level of judgment
exercised by the directors. Any change in such assumptions and
judgment would affect the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets
to be recognised and hence the net profit in future years.

Determining the provision for diminution in value of
inventories

As explained in Note 2(o), the Group’s land held for future
development, properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s recent experience and the
nature of the subject property, the Group makes estimates of the
selling price, the costs of completion in case for properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in net sales
value, provision for completed properties held for sale, properties
held for future development and under development for sale may be
resulted. Such provision requires the use of judgment and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the
carrying value and provision for properties in the periods in which
such estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Given the volatility of the property market in Chinese Mainland and
the distinctive nature of individual properties, the actual outcomes in
terms of costs and revenue may be higher or lower than estimated
at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or decrease in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future years.
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4 WARDEHRE 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(@) WA (a) Revenue
WAEMEHRERA -He A - Revenue represents income from sale of properties, rental income,
FAREREMEEERBERGH income from provision of property management and related services
We A LA R B 2 4 20 & 4B 78 AR 75 Bk R and income from provision of education related services earned
FIUR A (B FNBRIEE T R B B B 5H during the year, net of value added tax and other sales related taxes
EWEREALTHITM) - and discounts allowed.
FHEAEETEXHNE 15 Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed
2 TE M EE 4(D) © in Note 4(b).
(i) WADH (i) Disaggregation of revenue
HEFITHNBRAREETEE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
mE R R DT major products or service lines is as follows:

EHBBEMEERE159  Revenue from contracts with

HERNWEEFITH customers within the scope of
#Y A HKFRS 15
—EEE — Sales of properties 405,477 3,139,871
—MEEEREBREUWA  ~ Property management and related
services income 287,352 267,766
—H B RBRBKA — Education related services income 44,245 36,329
737,074 3,443,966
H 3R AU A Revenue from other sources
KEREMENESER Gross rentals from investment
properties
— [E 7E S BUR A F K 7 — Lease payments that are fixed or
HERR depend on a rate 204,844 215,926
—TEUGRRIEBFIEE - Variable lease payments that do not
AR ENR depend on an index or a rate 12,401 7,271
____________________________________________________________________________ 217,245 223,197
954,319 3,667,163
RO RZMETSE S EE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
PETRAB A D 5 Bl #E B divisions and by geographic markets are disclosed in Notes 4(b)
B 3 4(b) () K 4(b)iii) ° (i) and 4(b)(iii) respectively.
rEEZ2RFPHBZ T I The Group's customer base is diversified and no individual
EEMNEFPHNRZSEBIBAE customer with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the
BRABHt+OZ—(ZE== Group’s revenue (2022: Nil).

FE) -
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4 WARDE®RE @)
(@) WA (5)
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)
(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising

from contracts with customers in existence at the
reporting date

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated amount of
$605,077,000 (2022: $306,258,000) under the Group's
existing contracts expected to be recognised as revenue in the
future upon delivery of properties to customers in Chinese
Mainland or upon the completion of legal assignment in
Hong Kong. This amount includes the interest component
of properties sales contracts under which the Group obtains
significant financing benefits from the customers (see Note
2(x)(i)). The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
future when or as the work is completed or, in the case of
the properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale, when the properties are assigned to the
customers, which is expected to occur over the next 12 months
to 36 months.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121(a) of HKFRS 15 to its property management and related
services and education related services such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts for property
management and related services and education related
services that had an original expected duration of one year of
less.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services)
and geography. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
four reportable segments. No operating segments have been
aggregated to form the following reportable segment:

—  Property development: this segment develops and sells
residential and commercial properties.

—  Property investment: this segment leases shopping arcades,
club houses, serviced apartments and car park units to
generate rental income and to gain from the appreciation in
the properties’ values in the long term. Currently, the Group's
investment property portfolio is located entirely in Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong.

—  Property management and related services: this segment
mainly provides property management and related services
to purchasers and tenants of the Group’s self-developed
residential and retail properties and decoration services to
group companies.

—  Education related services: this segment mainly provides
education related services and products to students.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources among segments, the Group's senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets, non-
current and current assets with the exception of interests in
associates, other financial assets other than receivables from
the third parties, prepaid tax, deferred tax assets and other
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables and lease liabilities attributable to the operating
activities of the individual segments and bank and other
borrowings managed directly by the segments.
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

0]

GELT

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenues generated by those segments and
the expenses incurred by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA"” i.e. "adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA,
the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items which
are non-recurring or not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as share of profits less losses of associates and
joint ventures, other revenue and net income, valuation change
on investment properties and investment properties classified
as held for sale, impairment loss on trade and other receivables
and other head office or corporate expenses..

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers,
revenue from other sources as well as information regarding
the Group's reportable segments as provided to the Group's
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out
below.

NEEER 45
ES EERS RERS it
Property management and Education
Property development  Property investme related services related services Total

“3-cE “EoCE CECCE “F CZBCcE -E--F CZBCSE CE-CE CECSE CECCE
03 2022 203 022 03 2022 03 202 03 2022
n i T o i o n T n T
§1000 §1000 §000 §1000 §000 §1000 §/000 §000 §1000 $000

RENREFHRA Revenue from external customers 405477 3139871 20745 23197 I3 TT66 M5 339 954319 3667163

FHERA Iter-seqment revene - - RN wele 4T S - - B3 10585
FEHBUA Reportable segment revenue WSATT 31081 29M6 A1 3BAEY 3900 MMS 39 1082637 3773003
§E28(58) /BH Reportable segment loss)profit

(B2 EBITDA) (adjusted EBITDA) (31731) Q0050 12289 19463 (29 BS A5 2619 (4550 66N
RENDER Reportable segment assets 89700 127387 10081675 797203 3632 419928 1S88TT 10451 19581235 21315702

fE095E Reportable segment liabilties 0304558 9897943 158098 45148 401780 3323 48019 50654 10,0045 10733302
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4 WARDE®RE @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) 2| (5)

(i) WESBKA - 8% BER
SENYE

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities

N Revenue
RE D EBUA Reportable segment revenue 1,052,637 3,773,013
2 B REUL A EH Elimination of inter-segment revenue (98,318) (105,850)
ERE WA (M5 4()) Consolidated revenue (Note 4(a)) 954,319 3,667,163
BB Loss
REREBINREF RS Reportable segment (loss)/profit

DE(E18) B derived from Group’s external

customers (455,926) 276,674

JEAL B & R RIS 1B Share of losses of associates (57,615) (22,234)
EheghEEIR Share of losses of joint ventures = (15,299)
B REEFE Other revenue and net loss 119,100 165,921
B 5 R H b B EIA Impairment loss on trade and other

BB 1R receivables (85,225) (34,843)
e R 8 Depreciation and amortisation (19,503) (24,557)
=N Finance costs (319,999) (324,257)
REMERDERFHE Valuation gains/(losses) on investment

HENREMENGE properties and investment

Wz, (E5148) properties classified as held for sale 14,376 (23,019)
AOBBIRPERT Unallocated head office and

corporate expenses (31,685) (71,412)

M RTAR G B 1B Consolidated loss before taxation (836,477) (73,026)
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4 WARDIHRE 5 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
(b) P}/ (5)
(i) WEDBKA - 8% EER
SENYHE (5)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

EE Assets
WEDHEE Reportable segment assets 19,581,235 21,315,702
REEE R a S Interests in associates 158,358 186,912
BRBHEEAASEBEAR Financial assets measured at FVPL
HENESREE 67,231 106,398

AR Prepaid tax 2,141 2,295
RERIBEE Deferred tax assets 112,663 83,293
AOBBE RPFEEE Unallocated head office and

corporate assets 119,239 138,040
LAERERE Consolidated total assets 20,040,867 21,832,640
=L Liabilities
WEDHEE Reportable segment liabilities 10,002,455 10,733,302
FER IR Tax payable 206,733 269,161
RIEFIREE Deferred tax liabilities 1,318,384 1,273,704
AOBBERPEEE Unallocated head office and

corporate liabilities 390,133 274,467
FRABaE Consolidated total liabilities 11,917,705 12,550,634
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4 WARDE®RE @) 4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) DEBEE ()

(iii) HLEER
TEREINEBOAEERK A
REFPRA R (A REM K
BVEE BERRBERF
Mt BRE=TRARKE
MEKFE((EEXREE
EDOBEMEER -FFH
IR B YRR AR 2R
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BER&E)  REMA (RS
BVEE BE BURE=S
HIERE A EWRIE) REE
rE(HARBERARTREE
ERMER) RS D -

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(iii) Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s investment properties,
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill
and interests in associates, receivables from the third parties
and other receivables (“specified non-current assets”). The
geographical location of customers is based on the location
at which the services were provided or the goods delivered.
The geographical location of the specified non-current assets
is based on the physical location of the asset, in the case of
investment properties and property, plant and equipment, the
location of the operation to which they are allocated, in the
case of intangible assets, goodwill, receivables from the third
parties and other receivables, and the location of operations, in
the case of interests in associates and joint ventures.

RENREFHBA EEERBEE

Revenue from external customers Specified non-current assets
—EBC-CE B —B-=E —E-—fF
2023 2022 2023 2022
Tr T Tr T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FE A Chinese Mainland 655,500 2,941,158 9,120,621 9,456,822
£ Hong Kong 298,819 726,005 779,161 801,278
N Australia - - 196 262

954,319 3,667,163 9,899,978 10,258,362
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5 HtlgA

5 OTHER REVENUE

IRITH BUA Bank interest income 50,671 54,631
E b F B UA Other interest income 50,721 60,064
BHEK AT ESREERN Interest income on financial assets
FEWBA measured at amortised cost 101,392 114,695
FHEA K RABARBE A Service income for car parks
and apartments 28,974 23,395
B B (B =EG)) Government grants (Note (i) 10,122 1,708
Hh Others 18,307 29,891
158,795 169,689
B 5 - Note:
() BEZZT-_=FR-ZF-__FHRNMHE () Government grants in the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 represented

SIEBFEPIR T 0B (R 1R £ 22/ -

6 HftEsF

BRBERANEBEARTEN

unconditional cash awards granted by government authorities.

6 OTHER NET LOSS

Fair value loss on financial assets

CRMEEZANBEER measured at FVPL (102,082) (12,331)
Pt —MHE AR ZW2EFE  Net gain on disposal of a subsidiary 12,964 8,181
BALR TCEAR 3% B BB T Additional compensation income received

WS ER 9 58 1 R 18 U from Hong Kong's government for land

parcels in Yuen Long 81,981 -
N BETE Net exchange loss (17,369) (12,465)
KE—HEEEZDIK Distribution from a joint venture - 98,713
HEGZECENEIEFHE Net loss on disposal of joint ventures
—ERERAR([HEK]) R — Great Billion Corporation Limited

EREEBRAR([HE]) ("Great Billion”) and Wealth Channel

Holdings Limited (“Wealth Channel”) - (82,475)
—HihaE — Other joint ventures = (3,532)
Hit Others (15,189) 141

(39,695) (3,768)
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7 FRBIATES IR 7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
BRai BT ES R HNBR DA T B IE1R B BR - Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) A& ALA (a) Finance costs
RITER R H A Interest on bank loans and
BEME other borrowings 470,391 510,376
HEAEMNE Interest on lease liabilities 2,281 2,860
FEREHFOF S Interest on bonds payable = 17,012
FEAT FE 1R RR A 2 FRIB Y Interest on amounts due to
FE non-controlling interests 3,671 3,820
HibEEKA Other borrowing costs 15,785 26,321
21(c) 492,128 560,389
AHBEEERREIDA  Accrued interest on significant
FEETFLE financing component of contract
liabilities 2,371 6,302
494,499 566,691
B B EEEEE Less: Amount capitalised (174,500) (242,434)
319,999 324,257
Mk EERAREENT07%E11.0% (=T == Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at rates ranging from 0.7% to 11.0%

£ 07%E11.0%) EFIREAR( o (2022: 0.7% to 11.0%) per annum.
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7 BRTAIEIE @ 7 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b) ET A (b) Staff costs
e ITEMEMFZE Salaries, wages and other benefits 208,283 226,961
M) 5E B8 FUR R AT B3R Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans 10,284 11,684

218,567 238,645

(c) EfbER (c) Other items

e REE Depreciation and amortisation
—FZf - HKERAEMETEE — furniture, fixtures and other fixed

assets 6,214 6,285
—EAEEE — right-of-use assets 13,289 18,272

19,503 24,557

EEMEMAR Cost of properties sold 919,566 2,803,087
REMENHES KA Rental income from investment

properties 217,245 223,197
B B Less: Direct outgoings (15,872) (13,966)

201,373 209,231

% ELEN BN & Auditors’ remuneration
—BZRTE — audit services 4,950 4,950
—E A RS — other services 1,639 2,183

6,589 7,133
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8 FEH 8 INCOME TAX
(a) st AGEABHRNAEHEXE (a) Income tax charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:

BN EA%E | Current tax
MG ([RERBB) Corporate Income Tax (“CIT")
—REFEE — Provision for the year 14,416 117,436
—BAFERERNT, (HBEEMHE) — Under/(over)-provision in respect
of prior years 62 (22,114)
14,478 95,322
T ER ([ LB EBE ) BE  Provision for Land Appreciation Tax
("LAT") 3,045 71,377
TENE EE Provision for withholding tax = 30,782
1752 197,481
ELEBLIR Deferred tax
R E R E A REE Origination and reversal of
temporary differences 46,330 (86,866)
63,853 110,615
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

8 it

B Eg /=0
F (&8)

(a)

(&)

REBEBRELES ((RBELEE])
RASEHSHRANRM - NEH
BAGMNEBRAHELRAENS
R ERATISTR

ZECCFMNERENCHBBIRT
NEEFERTAFA165% (ZF
TF 1 165%) AT E  EAREE—
KK B A RIBRIN - AR = MRARF
BHBEERHETHAERAR Y
REXRKBARF - H2,0000008
TR BAIR8.25% HF - H&
JERMAFHEE16.5% ° &R M
BARZEAFSHEBERE_T
ZZFHRRMNRETHE -

CEMBHRBENEAEERFTH
At BT R R A AT FE SR B A R
WEBERCEMERBERGTE
Mk SR ETHRIEF BEBEH
RARBAPEE BHE_T=_=F
T A=t ALFERNERLE
MM EE25% (ZE=-—
25%) °

REFERPEAMBEERMEREN
MEREMBFAENREMEREL
1312 (B 18 fE LA 30% = 60% K 2 E
G IR ER - MBREERR
Bl L IBER IR B EMERS
FRIB R AT F0% 7 2 (B 38 L b (50 PR 4
HMESH HEKRARMBELER
MEERASZGE -

BMREL B — RN H B A&
MK BARRAEEBERARN
B5% B R e

8

INCOME TAX (Continued)
(a) (Continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin Islands
("BVI") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 is calculated at
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For this
subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits are taxed at
8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. The
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary was calculated
at the same basis in 2022.

The provision for CIT is based on the respective applicable CIT rates
on the estimated assessable profits of the subsidiaries in Chinese
Mainland within the Group as determined in accordance with the
relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC. The applicable
CIT rate was 25% for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
25%).

LAT is levied on properties developed and investment properties
held by the Group in Chinese Mainland for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, which
under the applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds
of sale of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use right, borrowing costs and all qualified property
development expenditures.

The withholding tax arose from the 5% of dividend paid from a
subsidiary established in Chinese Mainland to its holding company in
Hong Kong.
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8 MEH @ 8 INCOME TAX (Continued)
(b) FEHFYHEIZERMESENS (b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting loss at
FIBBEHENT applicable tax rates:

4 AT 518 Loss before taxation (836,477) (73,026)

BELAT(BE) BFHEZERIE  Notional tax on (loss)/profit before
(REERAERMNERHE taxation, calculated at the rates

FTE) applicable to the jurisdictions
concerned (157,192) 26,889
TAMBRAZHZE Effect of non-deductible expenses 10,087 51,530
AR AR & Effect of non-taxable income (8,639) (18,638)
HABTFEARRTERER Effect of prior years’ unrecognised
VR & tax losses utilised (19,585) (7,665)
RERATHEEENTE Effect of tax losses not recognised 44,874 12,964
Effect of temporary differences not
FERLHEEENTE recognised 193,738 44,191
THIEED LAT 678 31,277
T IBEF R ERNREFEIEYE  Deferred tax effect on LAT provision (170) (7,819)
Under/(over)-provision in respect of
BEEEBEBIR (BRERE) prior years 62 (22,114)
BERMERAY Actual income tax expense 63,853 110,615
(c) ZFEAETBARRKAOENEATEIELE - (c) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents:

FEAHIE Prepaid tax:

EMSH cIT 737 850

T I E LAT 1,404 1,445
2,141 2,295

EASHIE Tax payable:

EEH cIr (156,598) (216,558)

TR Withholding tax (36,072) (37,060)

b IE(E LAT (14,063) (15,543)

(206,733) (269,161)
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8 Fis®H
d) EEREEREEERAE
At A B TR O 5 7R 2 S E
HEE, CAE)ERBH BENG

8

i

INCOME TAX (Continued)

(d)

Fihlo)
FENITE
bt
Depreciation
allowances in
excess of
related
depreciation

T

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

EBAHY  THAER
HEERL RARE B
i A% ERMER THEA A

Fairvalue  Temporary

Impact of adjustment  differences Other
interest  Revaluation  on business onlAT  Unusedtax Distributable  temporary
capitalisation of properties combination provision losses profits  differences
T T T T T i v

BUTEAELMELRA:  Deferred tax arising from:

Note

§/000

§/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 §/000 $/000

W-B--%-f-8 At 1 January 2022 280628 69513 850781 191,036 3834 (52,030 18467 (15119 1377108
RERRIR/ (FA) Chargedcredited) to profit or loss 8) 37,699 (14429) (5875 1,110 (7699) 3,069 (8862 (19660)  (86,866)
ERSEE Fichange adjustments (22,155) - (63739) (12979 81 2833 (4.461) 751 (99,831)
RoB-ZE+2F=+-8  At31 December 2022 and

koE-Z5-F-8 1 January 203 296,17 55085 81067 126947 (396)  (46,130) 15,144 (34028) 1,190,411
RERRAR/ (A) Charged!{crdited)to profit or loss 8) 35882 238 8,158 (3.017) 6 (22.900) 1013 9,345 46,330
HE-FHELA Disposal of asubsidary 2 - (39) . - - - _ 39)
A2 ERER R Charged to other comprehensive income - - 230 - - - - - 230
EiEE Bxchange adjustments (8,545) = (21,982) (3,558) 107 118 (1.262) 735 (33303)
R-B-=E At 31 December 2023

+-B=t-8 33509 T4 T84 120372 (33%)  (72.849) 14,955 (3948) 1,205,721

AR RNEHERE  Net deferred tax assets recognised in
RERIEE EFE the consolidated statement of
financial position
AR RNEERE  Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
EERIE B (EF 58 in the consolidated statement of
financial position

(112,663) (83,293)

1,318,384 1,273,704

1,205,721 1,190,411
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8 Fis®Hw
(e) RERELERHIBEE :

(f)

WARR THIER BRAOELEHRIEE
=
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8 INCOME TAX (Continued)

(e) Deferred tax assets not recognised:

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

AR EREER Deductible temporary differences 2,313,610 1,589,804

REATIEEE Unused tax losses

— & (M5 G) - Hong Kong (Note (i) 151,680 33,604

— A B A3 CBR 5 i) — Chinese Mainland (Note (ii)) 1,167,628 1,944,748
3,632,918 3,568,156

B

() RERTHEBZER KBHAREEIRE
e -

iy RPABEEBEBAINBEEEFER
NEEEEE GRS AFANERT
BH - RBABEEER T _MF
EE-N\FHHEEH -

H 7 AJ BE I B 4 0K 2R B AR B &L R
ARARBHTMRESEZRERKR
BRANBABERASHA  MAKEY
Rt A T B 2 7] H A 08 B 1
ZERADABABERBELEH
HEE -

ABRRELEHEEE -
TEMBHRBEREERMAABRE
AERERCER ST NF—
A — B FTE 4 & F m H A B 5k
HEER R AR AR S AN
10% B9 FE 084 (BR JE B 16 40 =K 15 =%
BIRD) MR _EENEFE—A—
BRIE AR AR DR EF B H
MZIBINEL o B E AP B A B F/ B
M BLHERER@REY  FEF
BAHDE25% A FREZHNEE
BEAMEEREBIEaEAAL
AIZAS5% MK THBEINRE - KE
B EmpEE T B A E QA
RN NGFE— A —BRELE
111,035,000 T (=& ==
112,763,000 7t) {E IR EFR B &
BEEE RERAEBEEHZEW
BRRMREEHE  WRERA L
RERF T EDIRZEEF -

(f)

Notes:

(i) The unused tax losses do not expire under the current tax legislation.

(i) The unused tax losses can be carried forward to offset against taxable profits
of subsequent years for up to five years from the year in which they arose.
The unused tax losses expired between 2024 and 2028.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses of certain
subsidiaries as it is not probable that sufficient future taxable profits
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

The Corporate Income Tax Law and its implementation rules
impose a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by a treaty or
agreement, for dividends, distributed by a Chinese Mainland resident
enterprise to its immediate holding company outside the Chinese
Mainland for profits generated beginning on 1 January 2008 and
undistributed profits generated prior to 1 January 2008 are exempt
from such withholding tax. According to the China-Hong Kong tax
arrangement and its relevant regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax
resident which is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of
a Chinese Mainland enterprise is entitled to a reduced withholding
tax rate of 5%. The Group did not provide for deferred tax liabilities
on profits generated by certain of its subsidiaries in Chinese
Mainland after 1 January 2008 amounting to $111,035,000 (2022:
$112,763,000) since the Group controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable that these
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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9 EEME 9 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
BB E % 2 B1E I 383(1) 16 B A B (I
BEEASERN) BHAE 2R EETHE

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

WEMT : Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
e 2ER BREHE
EEHd BYEF I}
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions
Tr Tr Fr
$'000 $'000 $'000
—EC-=E 2023
HITES Executive directors
=EBE Wong Chun Hong - 2,925 - 2,925
= EIR Wong Sze Yuen - 1,248 18 1,266
MEXR Lam Mei Ka Shirley - 2,998 18 3,016
FHITES Non-executive directors
B 3% Kui Qiang = = = =
ZEEX YIP Hoong Mun 304 = = 304
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
directors
;e Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304
SmR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304
PR % Chan Yee Herman 304 = = 304
1,216 7,171 36 8,423
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9 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

217

R R RIKETE
EMiER R
Salaries,
allowances
and Retirement
Directors’ benefits scheme
fees in kind contributions
Tt FIT FIT
$'000 $'000 $'000
R 2022
BITEE Executive directors
EBEER Wong Chun Hong - 4,214 - 4,214
BRER(WZZ-_—%F Wong Sze Yuen
NAMBEZT) (appointed on 4 August 2022) - 640 5 645
MER Lam Mei Ka Shirley - 3,129 18 3,147
I (R_T-—F Liang Rui Chi
NAMBET) (resigned on 4 August 2022) - 2,914 - 2,914
FHTES Non-executive directors
BRok Kui Qiang - - - -
EEX YIP Hoong Mun 304 - - 304
BYKBTES Independent non-executive
directors
gBE Cheng Yuk Wo 304 - - 304
RIMR Wu Si Zong 304 - - 304
PR 2 Chan Yee Herman 304 - - 304
1,216 10,897 23 12,136
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10 REFHFMA L 10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
RAEGREHFNALESY ME(ZZE=_= Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2022: three) are
FZR)EENFMBEENMTI B directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of
SRATEH AT ¢ the emoluments in respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

e EULEWER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 6,204 5,899
RORETEIH R Retirement scheme contributions 18 -
6,222 5,899

FiismEFMATOFHRAR T ¢ The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest emoluments

are within the following bands:

—E2-= T
2023 2022
AE A&
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
1,500,001 7£-2,000,000 7T $1,500,001-%$2,000,000 1 —
2,000,001 7£-2,500,000 7T $2,000,001-%$2,500,000 1 —
2,500,001 7£-3,000,000 7T $2,500,001-%$3,000,000 1

3,000,001 7£-3,500,000 7T $3,000,001-$3,500,000 = 1
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11 BREBE

() BREXEIE
BRERNBEERAAAEERRE
RXATAMRESFFEABRMGES
$6876,893,000 8 L (=ZE ==
185,099,000 7T) R F AN E 1T
3 hn#E 9 A% €0 1,529,286,000 % (=
T = — 4 :1,529,286,000%) ;T &
R

11 LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity shareholders and the holder of PCSs of the
Company of $876,893,000 (2022: $185,099,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,529,286,000 (2022: 1,529,286,000) shares in
issue during the year, calculated as follows:

MEFHRE

BERITEBK
BITAR (B —BERKA
RS ) P E

Weighted average number of

shares
Issued ordinary shares 1,412,733 1,412,733
Effect of bonus issue of shares

(with PCSs as an alternative) 116,553 116,553

W= A=+—Aw
FHRY

Weighted average number of shares
at 31 December 1,529,286 1,529,286

(b) BREHFESE
RZEZ=FRZZT=_F BE
RN EIRIERTEIR A A EE AT
BOMTEBRES -

HRUEEETE  HERERR
BE AR -

(b) Diluted loss per share
During 2023 and 2022, the effect of deemed issue of shares under

the Company’s share option schemes for nil consideration was anti-
diluted.

As there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted
earnings per share are identical.
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N KREYELRYWE -BEN 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
B PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

RAELHR
FEERET HfpEEL BB RER
WHERER BRANE HftEEEE
Ownership
interests in Furniture,
|easehold land fixtures
and buildings held  Other properties and other Investment
forown use  leased for own use fived assets Sub-total properties
Tr Tr Tn Tr T
§'000 §'000 §1000 §000 §'000
AAG{EE: Cost or valuation:
RZBZ=%5-A-A At 1 January 2023 150,193 99,728 115,906 365,827 8,297,230 8,663,057
EAE Exchange adjustments (4,129 (1,296) (2,966) (8,387) (224,455) (232842)
& Addtions - %7 3,059 4,046 - 4,046
E0E BERAEEAE  Transfer from property, plant and equipment
RENZ toinvestment propertes (18,196) - - (18,196) B 4,926
ik Disposals - (31.428) (580) (32,008) (4381) (36,389)
MrEER Change n fai value - - = = 14,376 14,376
St At31 December 2023
T2R=1-A 121812 67,991 115,419 311,28 8,105,892 8417174
f: Representing;
A Cost 12781 67,991 115419 311,282 - 311,28
e Valuation - - - - 8,105,892 8,105,892
1218712 67,991 115,419 311,28 8,105,892 8417174
ZiANRTE: Accumulated amortisation and
depreciation:
RZEZ=%-A-A At 1 January 2023 (37.537) (58,860) (96,042) (192,439) - (192,439)
ERA% Eichange adjustments 912 469 300 4,601 - 4,601
Era Charge for the year (3550) (9.739) (6,214) (19,503) - (19,503)
g% BERAEEAZ  Transfer fom property, pant and equipment
TEnE {0 investment properties 4439 - - 4439 - 4439
HEREE Whitten back on disposals = 29,229 517 29,746 - 29,746
RIBIZF At31 December 2023
tZA=1-H (35,736) (38901) (98,519) (173,156) - (173,156)
RERE: Net book value;
A At 31 December 2023

tZA=+-8 92,136 29,09 16,900 138,126 8,105,892 8244018
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12 REMWERWHE  BER 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
Bt ) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Ownership
interests in Furniture,
leasehold fand fixtures
and buildings held ~ Other properties and other Investment
forownuse  leased for own use fived assets Sub-total properties
T T T T fr
§/000 §000 $000 §000 §/000
AAGEE: Cost or valuation:
RZF--F-A-H At 1 January 2022 162,374 87,997 122,761 33132 8970030 9,343,162
ERAE Exchange adjustments (12203 (3.860) (8.493) (24,576) (649,326) (673902)
RE Additions Iy 15,591 3,804 19,527 - 19,527

hE Disposals - - (2,256) (2.256) . 2,256)
MrEESE Change in fair value - - . - (23474 (23474)
e At 31 December 2022

+ZAZ1-H 150,193 99,728 115,906 365,827 8297230 8,663,057
i Representing:
A Cost 150,193 99,728 115,906 365,827 - 365827
b Valuation - - - - 829730 8,297,230
150,193 99,728 115,906 365,827 8,297,230 8,663,057
ZHBURTE: Accumulated amortisation and
depreciation:

\ZEZZF-8-A At 1 January 2022 (35,89) (46,510) (98,718) (181,126) - (181,126)
ERHAE Exchange adjustments 313 1,160 6902 11,185 - 11,185
ERs Charge for the year (4762) (13510) (6,265 (24.557) - (24557)
HERAE Witten back on disposals - - 2,05 2,059 - 2,059
S S At31 December 2022

| _J[;F _E_Jr_ - ? ____________________________________ (37,537) (58,860) (96,042) (192,439 - (192,439)
RERE: Net book value;
\Eo At 31 Decernber 2022

tZA=+-A 112,65 40,868 19,864 173,388 8,297,230 8470618
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12 8%

MERNE BER

=)

() REMERSBERFEHER
BYMENDIAEBENE

(i)

DREBEESEH
TREJNAEEREMEL D
EARBELEREMERRSE
HARBREELEEEAENRAR
BlE ITREBEEMBEHREE
QB 13RALEBEFENTER
DR=ZEIABESZHR - D8E
RAABEFENRIIDZEME
1873 5 P £ 1 19 i A BUR B A]
BEUEMEZHEETHT

- F-RMHEE:EERF—
BB ABBFENRARE
B VRt E B HERRE
mZHEREERBER

- FRHEE:-FARAE-K
BABBTENAAE
(ERNEIRNEE - -]
BERe ABBERAERA
TAIBRMEZH A
& o TRl B A SR 5
EXIBMHERKE A
i

- F=RMAE:ERTAE
RNBEEHARETEN
NAfEE

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

0]

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group'’s
investment properties and investment properties classified as
held for sale measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are
not available

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant

unobservable inputs
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NKREYELRYWE -BEN 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,

B8 1C)) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
() REVERDPBEARABFLHER (a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
EYENAAEBENE (B) and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)
(i) A2REEZHK(E) (i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

R-B=Z= R-B-=%+-A=1-H
+=A=t-H AREEFESER
WA REE Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2023 categorised into

31 December F—% ot E=8
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Tr Tr Tr Tr

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BEMALEEFE  Recurring fair value measurement

REME-FBEANM  Investment properties - Chinese

Mainland 7,779,892 - - 7,779,892

RENE-FRE Investment properties - Hong Kong 326,000 - - 326,000
PEEBEHERE  Investment properties classified as

MmE-—FREAM held for sale - Chinese Mainland = = = -

HRREE Fair value measurements as at
Fair value at 31 December 2022 categorised into

31 December E—R E-H o
2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
T S T T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BEMALEEBFE  Recurring fair value measurement

BEME-FBEANM  Investment properties - Chinese
Mainland 7,962,230 - - 7,962,230
RENE-FR Investment properties - Hong Kong 335,000 - - 335,000
DEAFBELERE  Investment properties classified as
W% - EN held for sale - Chinese Mainland 20,679 - - 20,679
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N ERBREVERYE BEK
)

() REMERSBRFHEHER
BEMENRAAEETE®

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale

(Continued)
(i) ’L‘fbfﬁfﬁ%%& (4®) (i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
FA-BES=HNHE ANE During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3
Hﬂ:%::i ;) - (2022: Nil).
AEEMRBHREYMERFEL All of the Group's investment properties and investment
EREMENR_ZT_=F+= properties held for sale were revalued as at 31 December
A=+—RHEZHHE- - *HE 2023. The valuations were carried out by an independent firm
TERBILAEMITEAEE of surveyors, APAC Appraisal and Consulting Limited, who
aEfh MBS A PR A BIHETT - 5% have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute
BEMITHE T 2R B EBA of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
EMEge s HAHNGHE category of property being valued, on a market value basis.
KERBEEAEEREDER Management of the Group has discussion with the surveyors
RE—H E AR A P2 - (& on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
BiRMEEEET AEEE valuation is performed at each reporting date.
BERERE B RETHER
HAERR RAESREZA
SRNEITH R
(i) BERFE=HALREEFENER (ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
EER* FUBERAEE MELIH
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Weighted average
RENZE-ABAE WAER(L R EHmAHES ARB4TE ARE 1097
—hE A Income capitalisation (AREL/ AR#3757T (ZB-—fF:
Investment properties method Frx/R) (Z2ZZ%F  ARBST AR 1087T)
Commercial Expected market rental EARE363T) RMB109
— Chinese Mainland (RMB/sq.m./month) RMB44 to RMB375 (2022: RMB108)
(2022: RMBA43 to RMB363)
EN s 3.50% £7.50% 5.76%
Capitalisation rate (ZB-C&: (B :59%)
4.03%%7.50%) 5.76%
3.50% to 7.50% (2022:5.9%)
(2022: 4.03% t0 7.50%)

RENE-BES BRLBE THHE ARH80,000LE AR 12,8337
—FERH Direct comparison method (AR®/Eh) ARE135 0007 (Z2-%:
Investment properties Average market price (Z%zz AR®123,6677L)

Carpark (RMB/unit) AR 00007‘Ej; RMB112,833
- Chinese Mainland AR#142,0007T) (2022: RMB123,667)
RMB80,000 to RMB135,000
(2022: RMB110,000 to
RMB142,000)
RENE-BHAL BRLEE FHmE 52,7343 T 52,7347
&% Direct comparison method ~ (A70,/FHR) (ZZZZF:54190%7) (Z2ZZF :54,190%7T)
Investment properties Average market price HKD52,734 HKD52,734
Commercial (HKD/sq.ft.) (2022: HKD54,190) (2022: HKD54,190)
- Hong Kong
RENE-SEEE BERLBE T E AR# 656307 ARE 656307
NN Direct comparison method (NRET/FHK) (Z2zz%: (Z2==%:
—HE AL Average market price AER66,9357T) AR66,9357T)
Investment properties (RMB/sg.m.) RMB65,630 RMB65,630
Storey commercial (2022: RMB66,935) (2022:RMB66,935)

apartment building
- Chinese Mainland
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AMEERERBTFOE R RIBE
URBFEZFLAE - AR
EBEFEEGHATSEAS LT
BHSEEEMRR MEER
UES=FiE] -
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FHEREREHNT

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(Continued)

The fair value of investment properties located in Chinese
Mainland and Hong Kong is determined using income
capitalisation method or direct comparison method by
capitalising the net rental income allowing for the reversionary
income potential of the properties, or by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per square
meter basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to
the quality of the Group’s properties compared to the recent
sales. The valuation takes into account expected market rental
of the properties. The capitalisation rates used have been
adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings and
the tenant quality. The fair value measurement is positively
correlated to the expected market rental and average market
price, and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

The movements during the year in the balances of these Level
3 fair value measurements are as follows:

KEYF Investment properties
w—HA—H At 1 January 8,297,230 8,970,030
EEAME BELEB Transfer from property, plant and
equipment 23,122 -

s Disposals (4,381) -
REmERNGEE Valuation gains/(losses) recognised in

lezs,/ (E518) profit or loss 14,376 (23,474)
bE 3 A Exchange adjustments (224,455) (649,326)
W+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 8,105,892 8,297,230
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NEREVERDE BER
B8 1C))

() REMERSBRFHEHER
BEMENRAAEETE®

BREE=RR
(%)

(ii) REEFENER

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment properties
and investment properties classified as held for sale
(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(Continued)

-

PRI IEL EREYE

7 Investment properties classified as
held for sale
R—A—H At 1 January 20,679 46,600
HE Disposals (20,212) (23,313)
R ERNMEWRE Valuation gains recognised
in profit or loss - 455
PE 5 % Exchange adjustments (467) (3,063)
R+-—A=+—8© At 31 December = 20,679
BEYMERSEABIELED Fair value adjustment of investment properties and investment
?xﬁ BAREBEABRREAIE classified as held for sale is recognised in the line item “valuation
HE LM EAYERSER gains/(losses) on investment properties and investment
e 1R A 1 B (h a0 properties classified as held for sale” on the face of the

&,/ (B518) | HB R -

BE_ZT_=F+-_A=+—
HEFE REDE BEX
BREEBEERENERRNFR
MNEAZEREEROANLE
B 59,365,000/8 T (=
ZZFF) e

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a fair value gain of
$9,365,000 (2022: Nil) upon the transfer from property, plant
and equipment to investment property had been recognised in
other comprehensive income for the year.
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12 REVERYWH - HER 12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,

== ) PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(b) EREEE (b) Right-of-use assets
RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H & As at 31 December 2023, the analysis of the net book value of right-
HEBEESENFEREEENER of-use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:
FEAIMET :

PR ERENEE L Ownership interests in leasehold land and

BIFEREFTHMAERE buildings held for own use, carried at
P (RITEAYIER) depreciated cost in Chinese Mainland,

BER T HE R - (FEEG)) with remaining lease term of: (Note (i)

—50F s F - 50 years or more 16,940 22,584
—10E 504 2 [H — between 10 and 50 years 75,196 90,072
92,136 112,656
HFAEEBRAYE (BT Other properties leased for own use,
BRI ER) (MEEGi) carried at depreciated cost (Note (ii) 29,090 40,868
121,226 153,524
REEREMERN A& Ownership interests in leasehold investment
#m(RRAREEERE) W properties, at fair value, with remaining
SRTEAA lease term of:
—50F s E - 50 years or more 2,001,210 2,032,371
—10&E 504 2 fH — between 10 and 50 years 6,104,682 6,264,859
8,105,892 8,297,230
Ry BRBELENHE Ownership interests in leasehold investment
WEMENMEEER properties classified as held for sale, at
(R AREEYIE)MEET  fair value, with remaining lease term of:
HEA
L T0FENAE  SOyearsormore ] - 20,679
8,227,118 8,471,433
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12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

ERREERMABEEED BN

Depreciation charge of right-of-use

TEXH: assets by class of underlying asset:
RHEELRIFEEBRBEFA  Ownership interests in leasehold land
FRBHERE = and buildings held for own use 3,550 4,762
HEEERNEMmYE Other properties leased for own use 9,739 13,510
13,289 18,272
HEaEZHE (7)) Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) 2,281 2,860
FHEEHHEE R Expense relating to short-term leases 193 2,183

RERA - FHAEEENRE /987,000

Br (2= =
JC) °

15,591,000 8
REBEFHAL  Z2BEBEEL

BN R Z BNFRIR -

HEReRHABRNEEAED B
RO Z w1857 BB FE21(d) R

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were $987,000
(2022: $15,591,000). This amount relates to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in Notes 21(d) and 25, respectively.

25 °

() REELHRFEEREFH (i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held
FrERERERE for own use
rEBREELZEMEERHE The Group holds several properties as its offices. The Group is
B AEEAZEMEER (B the registered owner of these property interests, including the
EAEA L2 BRI KD E whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
) EMERE A - — Xk sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
NRERE LRI FMES ATE interests from their previous registered owners, and there are
EESZEMERET  MBE no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of the land
1 i 8 BRI RS AN IR o lease.

(i) BEAR iy (ii) Other properties leased for own use
AEEDEBEHEERSEST The Group has obtained the right to use other properties

AEMMEERERAE T
ERBRAERER HEBRTE
NEABE2E22F - FHENK
BEEFEMARMTSHES -
HEHMTREHERTEHE
3K e

as its warehouses, retail stores and offices through tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2
to 22 years. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals. None of the leases includes options or
variable lease payments.
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12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(c) Investment property
The Group leases out investment property under operating leases.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 22 years, with
an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms
are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually increased every year to
reflect market rentals.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

—FR Within 1 year 209,660 197,619
—FREMFEN After 1 years but within 2 years 164,619 142,421
MEBREBE=FN After 2 years but within 3 years 114,942 103,002
=FBERFR After 3 years but within 4 years 63,269 73,475
MEZBRFRN After 4 years but within 5 years 21,746 39,979
hEE After 5 years 19,359 25,763

593,595 582,259

(d) AEENETFREWEIAR M+
H RAEFE VR RIARGRITER -
B BEEHNME23 -

(d) The Group’s certain investment properties and other land and
buildings were pledged to secure bank loans, details of which are set
out in Note 23.
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13 B8

13 GOODWILL

B K AR E{E

Cost and carrying amount 40,736 40,736

HESELENV (B2HE) NRE
AR
EEERNSREARAHHELETRENR
Ao RRBEFRNIB (L EL IR SR
AEEAERAR ((REFHBA]) D
wE T REBEEREE(ERBEED &
BRFEERBERBRAR ([HMEBE
B)REELEMNARESHE - BE
ZAWEEELIRESE TEUEERR
EE BRAENERARBEEEELE
MRERFHRNMBEEERNRR
ReRnERA -BEXTEBRASELE
BUKEXHBHBTENRAFHEER
KB RDEABRRRIL RRERET
ERREELEUAS NARLE LS
BRI ERR

RETHERENS BEFNBEARES
RETMRIEEEEIENPETRE LA -
HihE ZERIIMT

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

Management performed impairment testing on goodwill at the each
reporting date. The recoverable amount of CGU of Creative Education
Holding Company Limited (“Creative Education Group”) determined
based on the value in use (“VIU”) calculation by the directors of the
Company with the assistance of an independent valuer, Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited (“RAA"). Their recoverable amounts are based
on certain similar key assumptions. The calculation use after-tax cashflow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period. The growth rates do not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the related industry in which the CGU operate.
The discount rates used are after-tax and reflect specific risks relating to
the relevant industry and the CGU itself and macro-environment of the
relevant region.

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, the forecasted
cashflows of the first year are estimated based on financial budgets
approved by the management. Other key assumptions are set out as
follows:

F-FhREFEEX

F_FEFAFREFIBRRE

EME(EWEEE L)

Gross margin (% of revenue)

1st year annual growth rate of revenue 2.8% 17.5%

2nd-5th year annual growth rate of
revenue

2.5%-6% 2.5%-8%

79.5%-79.9% 76.2%-77.4%

RAPG R & Long-term growth rate 2.3% 2.5%
FrBifg bR & After-tax discount rate 15.4% 18.0%
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HRSELENV(BEHE) WEE
AIE (8)
BAKESERESEEEN Y BEE
HEAFEBENT

13 GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing
goodwill (Continued)
Details of the headroom calculated based on the recoverable amounts

deducting the carrying amount of the CGU are set out as follows:

FE Headroom

43,344 23,989

EEECHBEREARETHRED
e TREH A EBHERRBKFENF
EREX RHMERXRBRITEXRD

BRE

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment
test of goodwill. The following table sets out the hypothetical changes
to annual growth rate, long-term growth rate and after-tax discount
rate that would, in isolation, have removed the remaining headroom
respectively:

FHERFHD Decrease in annual growth rate 4.6% 1.4%
ARG & &R Decrease in long-term growth rate 25.9% 14.5%
B 7 1% BE 3R S8 0 Increase in after-tax discount rate 10.5% 6.5%

K2EBUAGERZSEGMEMBLETMG
BHABPARNRESETHN T RESEE
RZE-_=F+=—RA=+—H ' &x27A
EEETHEARIEELRE -

By reference to the recoverable amounts determined by directors of the
Company with assistance of RAA, an independent qualified professional
valuer, as at 31 December 2023, the directors of the Company determined
that no impairment of goodwill was required.
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14 RBARNRE 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
TREHINFTZZEREEEE BE The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
S BENKHBARFE - BRBAHBEN - principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class
FRFEFIR 0 BV AR Rl R E AR o of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

REEHE
UREALE FAEEELA
Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ ERIRA/  AEEN H—F
establishment S ERFE ERER HAAR [
and operation Particulars of Group's 55 5A
WEAR AR and type of issued capital/ effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE#%
Name of subsidiary legal entity registered capital IEE Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
Top Spring Real Estate (Shenzhen) R E A 2 AR 653,060,000 70 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB653,060,000 Property development
(HEEwE (R ERAF) Mainland* and investment
Dongguan SZITIC Property Development ~ H B AR #20,000,0007C 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB20,000,000 Property development
(REMAEREMEREARAF)  Mainland' and investment
Changzhou Top Spring Landmark Real Bl 60,000,000 7 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Estate Co., Ltd. Chinese US$60,000,000 Property development
(RMHEBEEEERAF) Mainland? and investment
Top Spring Realty (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.  HE R 18,750,000 % 7T 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(REEZ (W) ERAT) Chinese US$18,750,000 Property development
Mainland* and investment
Top Spring International (Yuhang) o B it 10,000,000% 7T 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Landmark Co., Ltd. Chinese US$10,000,000 Property development
(REEIR (RI) BEERDRA) Mainland? and investment
Tianjin Hyperion Construction Co., Ltd. B/ AR #50,000,0007 58% - 58% WMEBEREE
(RESEERRBBAA) Chinese RMB50,000,000 Property development
Mainland” and investment
Tianjin Hyperion Investment R E AR 100,000,000 7 58% - 58% WMEBEREE
Development Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB100,000,000 Property development
(RESEEREZRABRATA) Mainland” and investment
Tianjin Jin Jun Investment Development 5 B 0 3t” AR #75,000,0007C 58% - 58% WMEBEREE
Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB75,000,000 Property development
(REREREERERAF) Mainland” and investment
Nanjing Top Spring Water Flower R E b AR 50,000,000 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Property Development Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB50,000,000 Property development
(ARREKETEHEREREER  Mainland’ and investment

A
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14 RBATNEKRE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ML,/ R
REEBY
UREARR

Place of

WEAREH

Name of subsidiary

Nanjing Top Spring Real Estate Co., Ltd.
(ARRREEARAA)

Shenzhen Water Flower Commercial
Management Co., Ltd.
(RIMABEZERBRAT)

Shenzhen Water Flower Commercial
Property Management Co., Ltd.
(RITKEEENEERERAR)

Huge Source Limited
(RHMERAR)

Shanghai Pengxiu Business Consultancy
Co,, Ltd.
(LEBREBHAAERAR)

Shine Long Limited
(BEBARRR)

Shanghai Pengyi Business Consultancy
Co,, Ltd.
(LEBEBBAANERAH)

Progress Link Limited

(REBERAR)

Shanghai Pengji Business Consultancy
Co,, Ltd.
(LEBEBBERBRLH)

incorporation/
establishment
and operation
and type of
legal entity

RE A
Chinese
Mainland*

REI A
Chinese
Mainland*

REIAM
Chinese
Mainland*

0
Hong Kong

REI A
Chinese
Mainland*

RERLEE
The British Virgin
Islands

REI AL
Chinese
Mainland*

RERLEE
The British Virgin
Islands

REI A
Chinese
Mainland*

BRTRE/

aRERFE
Particulars of
issued capital/
registered capital

A& #300,000,000 7

RMB300,000,000

AK%5,000,0007T
RMB5,000,000

AR %28,000,0007C
RMB28,000,000

1088
10 shares

AK#50,000,000 7
RMB50,000,000

785k 17
78 shares

A& %30,000,000 7
RMB30,000,000

78517
78 shares

AK#50,000,000 7
RMB50,000,000

FrE R L 6l

Proportion of ownership interest
ARBH -
EBRER HAAF WEAR
Group's %5 o2l
effective  Held by the Held by a
interest Company  subsidiary
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
70% - 70%
70% - 100%
70% - 70%
70% - 100%
70% - 70%
70% - 100%

TEREK
Principal activity
NEBRLRA

Property development
and investment

nERE

Property investment

nERE

Property investment

NEBRLKE
Property development
and investment

NEBERLRA
Property development
and investment

NEBRLKE
Property development
and investment

NEBRLRA
Property development
and investment

NEBRLKRE
Property development
and investment

NEBRLRA
Property development
and investment
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14 RBATNEKRE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

WEAREH

Name of subsidiary

REEHE

UREALS FAEEELA

Place of Proportion of ownership interest
incorporation/ BRITRE/  AEEH B—F

establishment T ERFE ERER HAAH WEAR

and operation Particulars of Group's %5 o2l

and type of issued capital/ effective Heldbythe  Heldbya FEX£%

legal entity registered capital TEE Company  subsidiary  Principal activity

Shenzhen Zhong Yi Ming Hao Real R E b AR 50,000,000 7 100% - 100% WEEEREE
Estate Development Company Limited ~ Chinese RMB50,000,000 Property development
(RIImPaEERERE Mainland’ and investment
BRAR)

Creative Kindergarten Holdings Limited &% 1,000,000 & & 15 100% - 100% WERE
(MBYHREEFRAA) Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares Property investment

Creative Education Holding Company &8 100 R 17 100% - 100% HEEBES
Limited Hong Kong 100 shares Education related
(FBERBBAT)

Great Property Corporation Limited 5% 1 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(ERBECEBBAT) Hong Kong 1 share Property development

and investment

Great Prosper Development Limited B% 2kt 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(EEZRBBAT) Hong Kong 2 shares Property development

and investment

Faith Luck Corporation Limited BA 1B KA 100% - 100% WEEEREE
(fFHBBRAT) Hong Kong 1 share Property development

and investment

Rapid Sight Limited 0 15 ikfn 100% - 100% WFEERREE
(RZERAA) Hong Kong 1 share Property development

and investment
# INEBERE & Wholly foreign-owned enterprise
& PINEERG A ERE a Sino-foreign equity joint venture

BRRF

EEZERR RT_=ZFR
TZTA=+—B MEYHAK
ERWEIE R FEA A -

Limited liability company

— - The directors consider that no individual NCl is material to the Group as at
SEmEB 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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15 REE QR AVRER 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
BEAEBERBE RN ERNGES Y Details of the Group’s interest in the associates, which is accounted for
BHREFEAEDEARNFBOT ¢ using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:
FAEEE LAl
Proportion of ownership interest
ML R KEEH H— A
B EBTR ERER HAAH WEAR
Place of HERAFEE Group's ¥5 ¥5
incorporation Particulars of issued effective Heldbythe  Heldbya FEX£%
and business and paid up capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
Shenzhen Green Port Co,, Ltd. RERIL AE# 50,000,000 43% - 3%  HhEE
(RYIThRABE DRI Chinese RMB50,000,000 Supply chain
BRAR) Mainland
Shenzhen Water Honey Real estate FEIA AR 10,000,000 70 20% - 0% MEEE
development Co.,Ltd. Chinese RMB10,000,000 Property development
(RITKGEERBERE Mainland
BRAR)
Jiangxi Lemeng Commercial RE RN AE%1,000,0007 33% - $B% MERE
Management and service Co., Ltd. Chinese RMB1,000,000 Property investment

(TEEENEXERRBERAF) Mainland

Great Billion Corporation Limited Bk 10077 10% - 0% WEER
("Great Billion") Hong Kong HKD100 Property development
ERERAE([RK))

Wealth Channel Holdings Limited Bk 10077 10% - 0% WEER
("Wealth Channel”) Hong Kong HKD100 Property development
EREEERAR(HE])

FrEME AR AFLTARER B All of the associates are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market
BEISWRE o prices are not available.

BERRBERERAABEEAT RER Great Billion and Wealth Channel are recognised as the associates as the
AEBBBREIEFE-—REFTHH— Group has significant influence over the financial and operating policy
FLEZSHZMEARATNM B REERE decisions of these 2 companies by appointing one out of three directors in

BERTES - the board.
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15 REE QR WER ® 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
R BENBE S HREEAE Summarised financial information of Great Billion, adjusted for any
B ABRREAMBBRAREE CH differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying
BRIFEMT ¢ amounts in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

P kb Gross amounts of Great Billion’s
mEEE Current assets 1,477,896 1,628,904
nBEE Current liabilities (32,872) (22,984)
FERBBE Non-current liabilities (1,808,330) (1,572,531)
(B4t) tezm (Deficits)/equity (363,306) 33,389
T EERBEBREUNTEIE Included In the above assets and liabilities:
RekRELFMEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 181 1,186
A Revenue = -
BELEEBEENESE Loss from continuing operations (396,695) (217,363)
2EW LT Total comprehensive income (396,695) (217,363)
REBREI 2 #Eam H AR Reconciled to the Group’s interest in

Great Billion
Bk (BE) EEFERSE Gross amounts of Great Billion’s net

(liabilities)/assets (363,306) 33,389
NEE 2 BER Group's effective interest 10% 10%
AEBEGEEIKZEEFE Group's share of Great Billion's net assets = 3,339
NEBBEGEEIKZ IR ERLEE  Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share

(B 5E) of shareholders’ loans in Great Billion
(Note) 138,767 149,935

REEERZREE Carrying amount of the Group’s interests 138,767 153,274
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15 REE QTR (@ 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
fERIFEF ZHE & N AR REEE RS Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

NEEEIEENEEE Aggregate carrying amounts of the
g AR EEFEN Group’s share of net assets of
BRE4RE individually immaterial associates 4,178 10,224
NEBEEREREER Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share
@ () of shareholders’ loans (Note) 15,413 23,414
19,591 33,638
REEEEZSERNEEE Aggregate amounts of the Group’s
g NEEE share of those individually immaterial
associates
FEEE Loss for the year (17,946) (498)
Ht2mEla Other comprehensive income = -
et L Total comprehensive income (17,946) (498)
Misk IRBEERBAGRIR - RKRBEBRORKREE Note: In accordance with the terms of the cooperation agreement, both shareholders
2B F 615 AR 8 L I R AR IR A B 1R K (A to Great Billion and Wealth Channel have provided loan capital to Great Billion
BERRBEREERER - ZZERAEIE and Wealth Channel in proportion to their shareholdings and under equal terms.
HREGEBEFNER2% (ZT=—F: The loans are unsecured and interest bearing at Prime rate minus 2% (2022:
HEBFHER2%) 5T 85 - M xEBF =X Prime rate minus 2%) per annum, whereas Prime rate is the HSBC Best Lending
RELETHREIRAFE - BEETAZE Rate. Repayment of any amount of the loan requires both parties’ approval and is
ERNEHEFTEEINME  BAFEIKR subject to Great Billion and Wealth Channel having sufficient assets after taking
gﬁu“ N RANARLE R 2R Al g EE R into account the external financing and accumulated profits. Accordingly, the
MEERAAMEE - At - REEFEAA shareholders’ loans form an integral part of the Group’s equity investment in
SERBE AR ZRABEZEXDS - I associate and is recognised as such.

FRUL T LATER -
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16

AB R ENER
FAREERAECENEENGEY
BHREEBEREARNFEAT :

AR K
BXBE

Place of
incorporation
and business

Silver Pond Investments Pty Ltd. BN
Australia
Top Spring Projects No.4 Company Limited ~ &%
Hong Kong
Top Spring Australia Development Pty Ltd &
Australia

ERELEYR/RILTAAER B
BET 5 RIE

N [E$5 5 Silver Pond Investments Pty Ltd.
([ Silver Pond |) 49% # 25 & 50% 1% Z
#E - DA B — R {F 55 £ R 4E &l Silver Pond -
ZEANIZABRRRIBRREEREL
ERRIEK S ©

RIBZ=% FEBEERKEBES0ETH
Top Spring Projects No.2 Company Limited
EETEERENEBRA  HBHEARQF
BEREEERLEES - HEBRALEES
EREZWRROBT ZEECENE
A 23,688,000 TERHEEER
ERTAEH -

16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures, which is accounted for
using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:

FrE R L 6l
Proportion of ownership interest
KEEH B~
BRTR ERER HART il P
HERAHE Group's 5 ¥5
Particulars of issued effective  Heldbythe  Heldbya FE£H
and paid up capital interest Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
10027 49% - 9%  MEER
AUD100 Property development
1007 50% - 50% REEE
HKD100 Investment
management
10027 50% - 50% REER
AUD100 Investment
management

All of joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market
prices are not available.

The Group maintains 49% interests and 50% voting rights in Silver Pond
Investments Pty Ltd. (“Silver Pond”) to jointly control Silver Pond with a
trust of which the beneficiaries are the family members of Mr Wong Chun
Hong, a shareholder of the Company.

During 2023, the Group disposed Top Spring Projects No.2 Company
Limited to the joint ventures’ partners, which is controlled by Mr Wong
Chun Hong, a shareholder of the Company, at a consideration of $50.
Gain on disposal of joint ventures of $50 is recognised accordingly. The
loans to this joint venture totaling of $23,688,000 were repaid to the
Group upon disposals.



TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023 239

e MR
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

17 ﬁ%?ﬁagg ANREBEAKRS 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FVPL

FEENHR Non-current 28(g)
—FFEEERMIE L™ — Unlisted equity securities not held
PeNcEs for trading 36,836 36,840
—RHFEH — Trading securities (ii) 27,560 38,344
— B E =5 I — Receivables from the third parties (i) 1,138,422 1,266,330
1,202,818 1,341,514
BDHA Current 28(g)
—FFEEERMIE L™ — Unlisted equity securities not held
R AN 7B %5 for trading 2,021 7,810
— B Em — Wealth management products 814 23,404
2,835 31,214

BT Notes:

() RBRE=ZFZEIPBRAAALBESHTH (i) Receivables from the third parties are classified as level 3 financial instruments in
F3IZeMIT A ZEeREENBEIN the fair value hierarchy. The valuations of these financial assets are derived from
HEEERG ZRAFTEREEERT valuations models which require a number of inputs and assumptions which are not
35 BB B 80 A BUR R R AR - I B observable from market data and which are significant to the entire measurement.
FREEREE TN ERERKRAAE During the year, the fair value loss on financial assets measured at FVPL amounted
BEARGENCREERELEAAEBES to $92,779,000 (2022: gain of $183,000).

B/892,779,000 8T (ZTZ2F : AR
183,000 7T) °

iy MRZZBZ=F+-A=+—H0 RFEFHC (i) Asat 31 December 2023, trading securities were pledged as security for the other

EARERHMEENER  FHEHNMT borrowings, details of which is set out in Note 23.

23 -
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18 FERHEMEHNRAK 18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS

MIEER Property development
FERFEERPHEEL M Leasehold land held for development
for sale 145,174 149,650

BREPYE Property under for development 3,981,122 4,368,771

HEDERIME Completed properties for sale 2,167,989 2,621,515
6,294,285 7,139,936

HAth & KIpK 7R Other contract costs 450 548
6,294,735 7,140,484

Hih 5% Other operations

REEEEDREER Low value consumables and supplies 5,962 5,382
6,300,697 7,145,866

(a) MRZARI Wt ABFNFESLE (a) The analysis of amount of inventories recognised as an expense and
DT - included in profit of loss is as follows:

GFEEmE Carrying amount of inventories 356,786 2,763,153
FEMOR Write down of inventories 562,780 39,934
919,566 2,803,087
BEERTPMERGFEERIYE The amount of property under for development and completed
RE—FERBHAIRENKES properties for sale expected to be recovered after more than one
4,115,996,0008 0 (Z T = — & : year is $4,115,996,000 (2022: $4,093,458,000). All of the other
4,093,458,000% 7t) © FT A H At 157 inventories are expected to be recovered within one year.

EFRHR—FAKRE -

AEFBETHEEETMERSE The Group’s certain properties under for development for sale and
BERTIMEEERBURSRITER completed properties for sale were pledged to secure bank loans

REMEE  FAFEEHNME23 - and other borrowings, details of which is set out in Note 23.
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18 FERHEME A ) 18 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS
(Continued)
(b) FERRTLHWERESTOT : (b) The analysis of carrying value of land held for property development

for sale is as follows:

F AR B 3 ) 84 S AH R R In Chinese Mainland, with remaining
lease term of
—10FE50F 2[4 — between 10 and 50 years 2,714,701 2,946,950
REBNBRTHER In Hong Kong, with remaining lease
term of
—10F 2504 2 f# — between 10 and 50 years 145,174 149,650

2,859,875 3,096,600

(0 EHRAE

N-ZBE-_=F+-A=+—R0" &
WA LHR AR FOERE
RUEISIHEMS AR MzREN
HERDEHRPRAEBE N RS
AHDATERERME L EE )
B HIBC AN A AR B 1 3K 8 W s TR R
HETGAEaRTERAIHER
EHAT M —D c FREBRZETF
MR E MUK AN & 58745 2,608,000 7
TE(=ZT = —4 : 2,344,000 7T) °

AEERARBEVBRELEE
1558 FIABMAIITRETNA » A
SERTTHAEENBFENREE
AVEHBAMMARRERR Al
MEEHCRIYEMNHEE LR

P E B A A KR ATRE R
—ERKE -

(c) Contract costs

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2023 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under
construction at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised
as part of “selling and marketing expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue from the
related property sales is recognised. The amount of capitalised costs
recognised in profit or loss during the year was $2,608,000 (2022:
$2,344,000).

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of HKFRS
15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining contracts
relating to the sale of completed properties and services as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of the assets that
the Group otherwise would have recognised is within the same
reporting period as the date of entering into the contract.

All of the other capitalised contract costs are expected to be
recovered within one year.
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B2 R EMEWKRE

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

EUE 5 BR X (FNBRES 1B E) Trade debtors, net of loss allowance 56,612 69,129
H b ek 2008 (F0kR E1E# )  Other debtors, net of loss allowance  (1)&28(a) 503,374 739,252

B R —F 1S TUEIRIFIA  Less: amount to be recovered
more than one year (314,675) (289,997)
188,699 449,255

WK AT ERNSBEE  Financial assets measured at
amortised cost 245,311 518,384
EeRENFOA  Depositsandprepayments W ... 1221877 1059984

1,467,188 1,578,368

i

Notes:

()  EAEKEIR GIRERERE) FEHNNT

@i

The details of other receivables (net of loss allowance) are set out below:

RE=ZHREER Loans to third parties (a) 298,869 309,143
FEU A & (b FEFRIH Amounts due from joint ventures - 35,697
Hth Others 204,505 394,412

503,374 739,252

R-ZTE-_=F+=-A=+—H8 kM
B =R E 201,869,000 T (=
T~ — 4 : 203,143,000 T) (Z &
HEER BRFMNE13% (ZZT=Z
F:13%) 58 BAIR—FERER)
SN BB - IREFES%
Z15% (ZF==F : 8% =15%) &t
B WAR—FERKE -

As at 31 December 2023, apart from the loans to third parties of
$201,869,000 (2022: $203,143,000) which were secured, interest-bearing
at 13% (2022:13%) per annum and repayable after one year, all of the
balances were secured, interest-bearing from 8% to 15% (2022: 8% to
15%) per annum and recoverable within one year.
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19 B 5 K H fib FE WURRIE () 19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Mzt : () Notes: (Continued)
(i) HREREMFEFBEHINMOT (i) The details of deposits and prepayments are set out below:

L B + 3 {58 PR R A FE A5 3B Prepayments for acquisition of land use rights 751,229 771,349
W iE Y % ) T FRIE Prepayments for acquisition of properties 30,000 30,000
BRI AR Prepaid value-added tax 295,729 122,973
Hity Others 144,919 135,662
1,221,877 1,059,984
(i)  BREESHHT (i) Ageing analysis
RIREEK - EWE SEZ (R EBEE) As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (net of
B E QN ER DT loss allowance) based on invoice date was as follows:

—fEAR Within 1 month 29,042 35,463
—Z={@A 1 to 3 months 13,527 16,518
=Z=XEA 3 to 6 months 10,287 12,561
NEARE—F 6 months to 1 year 3,756 4,587
56,612 69,129
FRAEEFARRARE S RE A EK Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade and
HIEEEHERRROE - SHFEEHNMH other receivables are set out in Note 28(a).

£28(a) °
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20 SRHEKZEERER

20 RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

SRR B 7 5k (EEG)) Restricted deposits (Note (i) 27,434 64,843
B #7730 (BT 7 Gi)) Pledged deposits (Note (ii)) 1,498,341 1,992,561
1,525,775 2,057,404

P

@

(ii)

RBHEMZERERZALD  AREETET
WERAEIEE N EAMHE R REREE
RITRPHFRE TS BENFR - PLLATaE
1F) ) A 7R 222 7 B R M IR B AN R SRR AR Y 3R
ERAEBBAETE TEE - ZFERE
P AME R e R PR AR ETT R AR R AR -

EHERERIEANEEER T RITUERR
TRV E M TF 3K ° 1F3K1,497,557,0004 7T (=
T = — 4 :1,991,754,000 7% 7T) 2 K 3 A ER
FR—FREENERITREE BtHEAR
MBEE °

AEBETROTFREETERATER
B AR -

Notes:

@

(ii)

In accordance with relevant construction or redevelopment contracts, certain of
the Group’s Chinese Mainland subsidiaries with property development projects
are required to place at designated bank accounts certain amount of deposits
for potential default in payment of construction costs payables to the relevant
contractors or fulfill certain obligations to the relevant government. Such guarantee
deposits will be released after the settlement of the construction costs payables or
fulfilment of the obligations.

Pledged deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group. Deposits amounting to $1,497,557,000 (2022:
$1,991,754,000) have been pledged to secure bank and borrowings repayable
within one year and are therefore classified as current assets.

The Group's certain bank deposits which were pledged as securities in respect of:

HITERRE Bank loan facilities 1,497,557 1,991,754
BITRTFAEEMEERNIZIBEERFE  Mortgage loan facilities granted by the
banks to purchasers of the Group’s
properties 784 807
1,498,341 1,992,561
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21 S RBEEEEEE LUK 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
HitRERBEEHR CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(a) REeRBELEEBERERE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

RIFITHRE R FHERE

Cash at banks and on hand 665,194 579,975

RZEZ=F+=-A=+—HB'R
BITHRERFEESBERLAE
B T B B A RAR
IR T M 18 B8 8 0 4B R SO AR B 4
ERITEPHHBEYMEMEHRIE
48%812,228,0008 0 (ZTE =4
10,145,000 L) - Z ST RN ES
EERITHER T RERBED
¥ HAEBEEBEREMBREINE
HE - ZFFHERBEYETK
B A B TR I E B EE B
BRRR o

RZZE_=F+=ZA=+—H" 4
EARITHE S RIREEEIEE
485,884,000 70 (Z T = =
470,375,000 7T) © [ H # B A i
K& & 7838 57 7 B i BT B N 89
B 54 PR il o

At 31 December 2023, cash at banks and on hand included
proceeds from the pre-sale of properties totalling $12,228,000 (2022:
$10,145,000) placed in designated bank accounts by certain of the
Group’s Chinese Mainland subsidiaries in accordance with relevant
documents issued by local government authorities. Such deposits
can only be used for purchases of construction materials and the
payments of construction fees of the relevant property development
projects when approval from the designated bank is obtained.
Such deposits will be released after the completion of the relevant
properties or obtaining the legal title of the completed properties.

At 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents with banks
in Chinese Mainland amounted to $485,884,000 (2022:
$470,375,000). Remittance of funds out of Chinese Mainland is
subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the government in
Chinese Mainland.



246 HFEEREEERAT T =%

frE MR
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BB A I - LABTTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21 RERREEMEEB MUK 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
HMBREREER » CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) BBABEREEMELRSNY

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash generated from

BE -

operations:

4 A1 5 48 Loss before taxation (836,477) (73,026)
BUATREE Adjustments for:
MEKA Interest income 5 (101,392) (114,695)
Bl & AR Finance costs 7(a) 319,999 324,257
T N 5y Depreciation and amortisation 7(0) 19,503 24,557
BWEMERD B RIFE Valuation (gains)/losses on
HEMREYENHE investment properties
(z=) /BB and investment properties
classified as held for sale 12 (14,376) 23,019
HE—HEWERE Net gain on disposal of
syl a subsidiary 6 (12,964) (8,181)
NEBREBEREAABEA Fair value loss on financial assets
RrirEmemEED measured at FVPL
NABEERE 6 102,082 12,331
HRITRAMMR A EA Additional compensation income
AT Y5 B e 5B S received from Hong Kong’s
EWRA government for land parcels
in Yuen Long 6 (81,981) -
FEMOR Written down of inventories 18(a) 562,780 39,934
2 5 K H ith FE U GRIA B Impairment losses on trade and
AIEEBE other receivables 28(a) 85,225 34,843
LEWE - HERZRED Net loss on disposal of property,
[E518 5 58 plant and equipment 1,668 3
HEAELEZBETE Net loss on disposal of joint
ventures 6 - 86,007
KE—BEELEZHIK Distribution from a joint venture 6 = (98,713)
DG E N R E R Share of losses of associates 57,615 22,234
DMEEERHEER Share of losses of joint ventures = 15,299
Rl opi=pe Net foreign exchange loss 6 17,369 12,465
BEESEE: Changes in working capital:
T8 R EME LR AR > Decrease in inventories and
other contract costs 151,953 2,428,271
B 5 & Hith FEUGRIE Decrease/(increase) in trade and
A () other receivables 210,468 (44,806)
2 BRI 73 3038 0 Increase in restricted deposits 35,924 6,517
B 5 Kk H b FE /I8 Decrease in trade and other
e payables (144,294) (641,694)
AHaEEm S CRd) Increase/(decrease) in contract
liabilities 51,987 (1,741,945)
BEXEBRELER® Cash generated from operations 425,089 306,677
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21 e RBAEEFERBEUR
HihBEEREER @

() MEZBFELENEGEHR

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing

TRFLAEEREEDMELN
BEEY  BERSRIFRSED -
RERDMELNABBEDARER
BIARKRRERENAEENGS
ReRBERIBRABEZDAFR

EREMEE - activities.
RITERR LG EA
Hitfe & HESE EENE
Bank loans Amounts
and due to
other Lease non-controlling
borrowings liabilities interests
(H&23) (HizE25) (K&22)
(Note 23) (Note 25) (Note 22)
Fr r r
$'000 $'000 $'000
R-B-=£-H-H At 1 January 2023 7,665,899 46,485 1,038,430 8,750,814
RERERERD: Changes from financing cash
flows:
MERTERREM Proceeds from new bank loans and
ERAEHE other borrowings 1,142,039 - - 1,142,039
BEBTENREM Repayment of bank loans and other
&% borrowings (1,437,391) - - (1,437,391)
BEFARBEZIE  Repayment of non-controlling
shareholder - - (13,940) (13,940)
BREEHEMER Capital element of lease rentals
#n paid - (9,235) - (9,235)
ERRERENTFIE Interest element of lease rentals
#n paid - (2,281) - (2,281)
BRFIE Interest paid (471,150) - = (471,150)
HEARLREEYEE  Total changes from financing cash
flows (766,502) (11,516) (13,940) (791,958)
ENAE Exchange adjustments (133,929) (3.219) (6,234) (143,382)
Hit25 Other changes:
AR (7)) Finance costs (Note 7(a)) 486,176 2,281 3,671 492,128
REENTUFMEERN  Increase in lease liabilities from
REBELEM entering into new leases during
the year - 987 - 987
RS2 Change in interest payables 2,663 = (3.671) (1,008)
EtEyes Total other changes 488,839 3,268 - 492,107
R-E-=f At 31 December 2023
+=ZA=1+-H 1,254,307 35,018 1,018,256 8,307,581
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21 RE R BRESEEEHUK 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

HtBEEHREER @
() BMERBFIEENEBYHERG)

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)

Bank loans Amounts
and due to
other Bonds Lease  non-controlling
borrowings payable liabilities NEEN
(Ftz£23) (Bit3E25) (FrsE22)
(Note 23) (Note 25) (Note 22)
r I i S
$000 $'000 $'000 $'000
R-E--%£-f-H At 1 January 2022 9,845,948 249,665 46,785 1,197,692 11,340,090
RERERERE: Changes from financing cash flows:
MERTETREAM Proceeds from new bank loans and
EEGIGE other borrowings 3,471,664 - - - 3,471,664
BERTERREM Repayment of bank loans and other
(- borrowings (5,288,014) - - - (5,288,014)
BEENES Repayment of bonds payable - (255,847) - - (255,847)
BEFAREENTE  Repayment of non-controlling interests - - - (68,868) (68,868)
ERAEREMERDS  Capital element of lease rentals paid - - (12,775) - (12,775)
ERAERESHFEDS  Interest element of lease rentals paid - - (2,360) - (2,360)
BARFE Interest paid (499,087) (17,012) - - (516,099)
BERSTEZYAE  Total changes from financing cash flows (2,315,437) (272,859) (15,635) (68,868) (2,672,799)
ENAZ Exchange adjustments (423,834) 12,075 (3,116) (90,394) (505,269)
Hip 2% Other changes:
BENA (7)) Finance costs (Note 7(a)) 536,697 17,012 2,860 3,820 560,389
REERTUHMAEN  Increase in lease liabilities from entering
HEAREM into new leases during the year - - 15,591 - 15,501
ENFBEE Change in interest payables 22,525 (5,893) - (3,820) 12,812
EthEgen Total other changes 559,222 11,119 18,451 - 588,792
WZBZZ% At 31 December 2022
+=RA=+-H 7,665,899 - 46,485 1,038,430 8,750,814
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21 RE R RESEEEHUKR 21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

HittReREER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

d) HERSRLARE (d) Total cash outflow for leases
HEEF AR SRERZ2KRIEAMU Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise
TEIEAK : the following:

RELEREBREN Within operating cash flows 193 2,183
REEBReREN Within financing cash flows 11,516 15,635
11,709 17,818

ZESBEEL TS IEAH These amounts relate to the following:

ENHERE Lease rentals paid 11,709 17,818
e) HE-—BEMHEBLARMEEZ (e) Net cash outflow arising from the disposal of a
RERHFHE subsidiary
MEBARREERHRZELEERE The amounts of disposed assets and liabilities at the date of disposal
REBEzeEBENTEIE of the subsidiary comprise the following:
B = T
Notes $'000
DEAFIELEREME Investment properties classified as held for sale 12 20,212
2 5 K& HAth U /18 Trade and other receivables 11
RehReEBEEE Cash and cash equivalents 1,437
B 5 K EAb RN I8 Trade and other payables (925)
AL FE(G AT & 2 B E F{E Net assets attributable to the Group disposed of 20,735
s —REMRE ATz s Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 6 12,964
D3R € IWER ) R (B 4858 Total consideration received in cash 33,699
B FTHHE —RM B A FIIEE Less: Cash and cash equivalents of a subsidiary
MR+ EBEEE disposed of (1,437)

32,262
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BEZREMENRE

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2 5N FRIE Trade payables 0] 235,706 194,065
H e BR R R R B A Other creditors and accrued charges (ii) 1,536,656 1,793,512
P IE IR R R 2R SR IR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests (iii) 1,018,256 1,038,430
He kEMES Rental and other deposits 89,316 78,306
REH R H A A TR Value added tax and other tax
payables 76,555 92,016
2,956,489 3,196,329

FrEB S REMENKEBEREITN —FA
©E - BREMES REMIZS 89,316,000
It (ZF = — 4 : 78,306,000/8 7T) 78
AR —FREE -

(ii)

(iif)

RBERR - FTAE S REMENRIANE
ZRNFBARBEERAHANRESTOT :

All trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one
year, except other Rental and other deposits of $89,316,000 (2022:
$78,306,000) are expected to be settled after more than one year.

Included in trade and other payables are trade payables with the following ageing
analysis based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

—fEARA Within 1 month 73,648 60,637
—Z==fAA 1 to 3 months 49,059 40,392
=EXEA 3 to 6 months 47,853 39,399
NERE—%F 6 months to 1 year 40,739 33,542
B —F Over 1 year 24,407 20,095

235,706 194,065

HEETERMNRRZE Y XM
f&1E1,042,128,000 8 L (=T = —F :
1,149,410,000 7% 7T ) &+ A E b & 151 BR 3% K% F&
B EHERN—FRERBRMHEBYE

o
#E -

R-B-_=F+_A=1+—8 BEFMIEE
BEAEZEFRIE 71,933,000 T (- T = — 4 :
88,278,000/ L) IR B F 4.35% (ZF ==
F:435%) 518 EERRBREREE
T AEIEE - 2T AREREE -

(ii)

(iif)

The estimated value of future settlement properties to be compensated to residents
of $1,042,128,000 (2022: $1,149,410,000) is included in other creditors and
accrued charges and is expected to be settled within one year by delivering the
respective properties.

As at 31 December 2023, apart from the amounts due to non-controlling interests
of $71,933,000 (2022: $88,278,000) which are interest-bearing at 4.35% (2022:
4.35%), unsecured and repayable on demand, all of the balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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23 RITERKREMEE 23 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
RZEZ_=F+ZA=+—H #1718 At 31 December 2023, bank loans and other borrowings were analysed as
REEMEESTMOT follows:

|ITER Bank loans
— g A (i) — Secured (ii) 6,490,657 6,902,182
Hifg & Other borrowings
— 75 AR (i) — Secured (jii) 763,650 763,717
7,254,307 7,665,899
R-ZZE-_=F+-_A=+—H 8178 At 31 December 2023, bank loans and other borrowings were repayable
REEMEENERERAT as follows:

—FRIBXFARBES Within 1 year and included in
current liabilities 3,305,907 2,568,827

—FABPI T AEREEME:  After 1 year and included in
non-current liabilities:

—FREMFNR After 1 year but within 2 years 874,701 1,227,367
MEBERFA After 2 years but within 5 years 2,468,430 3,165,404
hF® After 5 years 605,269 704,301

3,948,400 5,097,072

7,254,307 7,665,899
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23 RITEFREMEE®

B EE

@

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Rt A=+—8 $ITEFTIRMEFHE
6.07% (ZZT = —4F : 5.89%) s B A A
TEEFEEKR

23 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)

Notes:

@

At 31 December, the bank loans bore interest at a weighted average interest rate
of 6.07% (2022: 5.89%) per annum and were secured by the following assets:

REWME Investment properties 6,530,590 6,218,556
HAth T 3h RAEF Other land and buildings 61,152 43,627
TE Inventories 4,149,326 4,689,020
BEFFR Pledged deposits 20(i) 1,497,557 1,991,754
i gk Rental receivables 8,340 29,235
#REt Total 12,246,965 12,972,192

RZBZ=F+=ZA=+—8 8§17
B 32,274,579,0008 T (=2 ==

2,430,221,0007% L) AAEBMAE THEBERQ
RIS MEIE R - WIRF B L3.45% F
7.05% (ZE=—F:519% £ 7.15%) T8 °

R—_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 &
& E741,902,0008 L (ZT==F:
741,902,000 0) REAALE —BRE - &
BEFE11% (=% : 11%) st 8 W A
AEBETHERR 2 REERR - B T E
tEEREF—EABRBRITRAEREM
50%(ZFE - :7.0%) st BAEUETE
B RAEEER -

R-ZTB-_=F+-"A=+—8 A£HEE
1TE A ££96,249,0008 7T (Z T = — 4 :
132,994,000 7 7T) W T A MEMNAI L) o £
MAEREGEZEER —RMEBAAIRR
SR AEDEERN ARRA R E
BETFKE - FMBRITERZEN_-T==
F+_A=+—"BHKREVBERREARNS
BARESDAR -

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

As at 31 December 2023, the bank loans of $2,274,579,000 (2022:
$2,430,221,000) was secured by equity interests in certain subsidiaries within the
Group with the interest of 3.45% to 7.05% (2022: 5.19% to 7.15%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2023, the other borrowings of $741,902,000 (2022:
$741,902,000) were from a shareholder of the Group, which are interest-bearing at
11% (2022: 11%) per annum and secured by equity interests in certain subsidiaries
within the Group. The remaining other borrowings are interest-bearing at 1-month
Hibor+5.0% (2022: 7.0%) per annum and secured by trading securities.

At 31 December 2023, bank loans of the Group totaling $96,249,000 (2022:
$132,994,000) were not in compliance with the imposed covenants. Such non-
compliance was primarily related to a subsidiary which failed to achieve certain
monthly rental income earned from the underlying properties at the end of the
reporting period. All of the above bank loans were classified as current liabilities in
the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2023.
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24 EHEE 24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

T 5138 B ;TR URIR

Receipts in advance in respect of

—MEHEE — Sales of properties 134,628 82,368
—WEEERB — Property management services 12,146 16,688
146,774 99,056

WERBANABHLBEALENH B
E BT :

U ek

BFEMRAME  AEBAIERBEDAE
T(MEEMAMERT)E  BREFE
1% € B PR N A BT (KB - s% FBUFRIR
EERANABHEHANERRE
B TYRFERAMER < o &H8R
EREREANEERANEAXSEE
M ARMEMNZKBEBEYER ML T
REEEEABARENETFESE
ABEFSNEE BHRZEERE
MRFAZERRNENRESE Bt B
ERNRASERE R T YRS
BREEPRIEM-

BHNEESD

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
recognised are as follows:

Property development

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers to pay
off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while developments
are still ongoing, rather than on the completion of the relevant properties.
Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the remaining property development period for
the full amount of the contract price. In addition, the contract liabilities
will be increased by the amount of interest expense being accrued by the
Group to reflect the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained
from the customers during the period between the payment date and
the date of delivery of property or completion of legal assignment. As this
accrual increases the amount of the contract liabilities during the period
of development, it therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to the customer.

Movements in contract liabilities

R—A—BHES Balance at 1 January 99,056 1,927,173
RENERFT AN AED Decrease in contract liabilities as a result
FRABAZHENEERD of recognising revenue during the
year that was included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year (74,998) (1,794,599)
B S E R EEETEN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
RIBEWEHAEEM receiving advanced payments of sales of
properties and properties management 118,257 55,638
BRBFFEHTEHAL Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
B & accruing interest expense on advances 1,186 1,417
=% Exchange difference 3,273 (90,573)
R+ A=Z+—B8&Es Balance at 31 December 146,774 99,056

BHREZN —FREIAERAHNEGNE
BELEB44,644,9208 T (Z T - =
31,495,000/87C) °

The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised as income
after more than one year is $44,644,920 (2022: $31,495,000).
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25 HE&E 25 LEASE LIABILITIES
RBEHR A5BHEENTHKRE The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
HEmMAKROT Group’s lease liabilities at the end of reporting periods:
—EC= T
2023 2022
BEHEANRE REAENTLE ZEHRENRRE
Present value Present value
of the minimum Total minimum of the minimum Total minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
Fr T T Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
—FR Within 1 year 6,072 8,034 10,611 12,979
—FHEMER After 1 year but within 2 years 3,122 4,864 6,104 8,121
MEEBRER After 2 years but within 5 years 10,156 14,048 9,885 14,594
hFkE After 5 years 15,668 17,009 19,885 22,352
e L ) . 8 45067
35,018 43,955 46,485 58,046
B RTINS Less: total future interest
Gt expenses (8,937) (11,561)

HERERE Present value of lease liabilities 35,018 46,485
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26 B%HE EELRODEBE®MNIZ 26 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

() BERAHRERBRESE (a) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
ARRIREERAAEEEERE The Company has a Post-IPO Share Option Scheme which was to
e UERATEXRERERES recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the employees
B ATREH AL EELRN TR - and directors have made or may make to the Group.
BRAREERBRESEIETH An option under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme may be
BB AR B AR A LR exercised in accordance with the terms of the share option scheme
RATZEFAE T HE (TRAKRE at any time during a period as determined by the directors of the
HEA & + ) NIRRT o Company, which must not be more than 10 years from the date of

grant.
() BWHOEREGEEDT : (i)  The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:
B AR RE Y
ITE®E HBEKH EHNEH
Contractual
Number of life of
instruments Vesting conditions options
MEFRHN Options granted to directors:
HERRRE -
——T—CZfF - 26 June 2012 4,400,000 BE&HHEEE T
A~NAZ+NH —F(30%) 10 years
——EF—=%F — 20 June 2013 5,700,000 I F (60%) &
NAZ+AE =% (100%)
——ZET—FhF —28 April 2015 34,000,000 One year (30%),
mA=-+1\H two years (60%)
——F—hF — 23 October 2015 10,000,000 and three years
+A=-+=8 (100%) from the
date of grant
ARREERE R Options granted to senior
EEREMBIME :  management and
employees:
——T—CfF - 26 June 2012 11,320,000 B HHRLF T
VAV e AN =| —F(30%) * 10 years
——F—= - 20 June 2013 8,300,000 M (60%) &
NAZ+H =% (100%)
——ZE—hF —28 April 2015 48,650,000  One year (30%),
mA=+1\H two years (60%)
—ZT—hHF — 8 September 2015 3,000,000 and three years
NANEB (100%) from the
——T—RF — 5 December 2016 31,000,000 date of grant
+=-AAH

ERHBERERE Total share options granted 156,370,000
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265%%%&&@&%%%%
(#&)

(a) BRAMBERBRESS (R
(i) BRENEE RINEFHITE

26 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(@) Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
(i)  The number and weighted average exercise price of share

BT : options are as follows:
—Z:== -z

2023 2022

EREHE HEREE R

Number of Number of

options options

T 15

‘000

RETEARITEE Outstanding at the beginning of the year 57,888 68,980
FRR U Forfeited during the year (4,950) (11,092)
FRERK Lapsed during the year (52,938) -
RER M ARITE Outstanding at the end of the year - 57,888
REEA TITE Exercisable at the end of the year = 57,888

RZEZ=—F+=A=+—H
i) AR 1T {65 A B AR N A 39 1T
F{E&3308 7T MEFHE
BRENERR26F - BE-Z
—=F+-A=t—HIL=EE"
KeREREREARE A
EREBRECARE LT HRTRK -

(b) FEBRRAESTE

AN R RR S — B BB A R B ([
BRESEL - ZETEREARA
RZE-_—FXANBRITZERE
BFERE LBIRZ EBRETRIMN -
RZBEZ=FRZFE_Z_F+=A
=+—H ARARWEREBEHER
PERT B L B AR -

The share options outstanding at 31 December 2022 had
a weighted average exercise price of $3.30 and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 2.6 years. All share
options were lapsed earlier than the contractual life during the
year ended 31 December 2023 with the consents from all of
the holders of the share options.

(b) New Share Option Scheme
The Company has a new share option scheme (the “New Share
Option Scheme”) which was adopted pursuant to an ordinary
resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 8 June 2022. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no share
option was granted by the Company pursuant to the new Share
Option Scheme.
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27 BRAX - ERRE 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(a) BAEARTBONEE (a) Movements in components of equity
REEFRERRSEXRBONEY) The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
REKREHZENHERENGEE each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the
HEPEER ARRRNFYEFKE consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
MERERAK LS EFER in the Company’s individual components of equity between the
T - beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

BITKAM
TRRES
ROEE EENRE EiRE  REEN
Reserve
arising

from
Share Share issuance Capital  Retained
capital  premium  of PCSs reserve profits
T r T r T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

RZB=ZZ%-f-8H Balance at 1 January 2022
E3-3 141273 1,952,155 11,655 52,672 2,846,471 5004226
CBICERGSE: Changes in equity for 2022;
EERfRkzANGESE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 105,580 105,580
RN RE R ZRR Share options and awarded shares forfeited - - - (3362 23382 -
FERAENRS (MF27(b)  Dividend approved in respect of the previous
year (Note 27(b)) - - - - (15322)  (15322)
RZZ-ZF+-F=1-HK Balance at 31 December 2022 and
“ECZE-f-AMER 1 January 2023 141,273 1,952,155 11,655 29,310 2,960,091 5,094,484
I EREY: Changes in equity for 2023;
FERNRZANEEE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year - - - - 106,345 106,345
BRMRBARERER Share options and awarded shares forfeited
RERH and lapsed - - - (293100 29310 =
TEERERRS (M5270)  Dividend approved in respect of the previous
year (Note 27(b)) - - - - (15,291)  (15,291)

R-ZB-Z%+-A=+-8 Balance at 31 December 2023
g 141,273 1,952,155 11,655 - 3,080,455 5,185,538
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27 BA - BEERE @) 27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)
(b) BB (b) Dividends
() FAERNEARERZRBRRRK (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
AMBBREBSHEANRE Company and holders of PCSs attributable to the year

RREB KRBT EST KA No final dividend declared after the

s (ZE=——F: end of the reporting period (2022:

BRRE @R M TR A HK 1 cent per ordinary share and

AIHARRE S 1) per unit of PCSs) - 15,293
RS R 1% 2 R B R R B The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has
RENWEARERRERLSE not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.
f& e

(i) E—EERBFEEREMNERTE (i) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
HRRIAFAMEREMH Company and holders of PCSs attributable to the
BE previous financial year, approved and paid during the
year

FARERENH E—E Final dividend in respect of the

FIHFERARE TR previous financial year, approved
TR K TRk A AT #R and paid during the year, of 1 cent
REBEHFI1BW( =T == (2022: 1 cent) per ordinary share

F 1B and per unit of PCSs 15,291 15,322
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(d)
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

g 4 (c) Share capital
b NN
The Company
—EB=-= —TF
2023 2022
RAEE £ iR ©H
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
TR’ Tr FR& F
‘000 $'000 ‘000 $'000
EE Authorised:
SFHEME0.10/87C  Ordinary shares of $0.10 each
B B 5,000,000 500,000 5,000,000 500,000
ERTRBEN Ordinary shares, issued and
ZER: fully paid:
KR—A—BAkK At 1 January and
+=-A=+—8H at 31 December 1,412,733 141,273 1,412,733 141,273

ERRFEBEAEBERARAAE L
HRERRNDE—F - EBREKA
IR AR E SR A AR KRBT
BEROKRES -BHARANHBTE
EME A EBREKARBA
BEEFHZERERFMAL

HETEERRAR

(i)

(i)

B 12 5 18

i g ERmASBE R EDE
REE  NAARAERBR
AT DR S AR B AT AR R E A
B E A2 XM B 4RI ey {3 (2
B) @AM EER -

BRIFERREZESN D IKHAE
ERRARABAMNNAE
EBPRHNER  TRITA
B B A i 1 P DA 1) 25 PR
A IREAR

N
EXRFRIZERRBRAARAEE
P SR AR 0 R R1T(E RE AR
FE AR 1 P 5 2(u)(ii) P9 3t DA B £
RAERN R G BRERH
MARXHAPRAABE-

(d)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. The holders of ordinary shares and PCSs
are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time. All
ordinary shares and PCSs rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(0]

(i)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and may be applied by the Company
subject to the provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or dividends to
equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account unless
immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve mainly comprises the portion of the grant
date fair value of awarded shares and unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Company that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in Note 2(u)ii).
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27 B - mHEERKRE @#)
(d BEEERASZ@E)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

B R

[E N F R R RRE g INET R
A PTE L AT A E =5 -
ZEERBEME20FENE
FHERERERIE ©

HEEE B
TEOAERBEE —RERE-
EEBBRRBEIEERES

— AR A 1

—REFETA DK BREZ
REAHEFERETEAL
MEARRARERE - — K&
BRAINERS AR P ERA
N R BB MR ME A o

VETE B
REFPEAFE AEEMNF
B A E LR (TeEINE
R2) A H10% MR B & &
MORBEPESEARETE) &
NEEBBRFER  BEZHE
FEEREFE HME R 50% &
- BESZHEFHEANABRRE
RS RTELT

AERET A AREEAES
Er)EE (nA) - I A 36
BIRRIRA FE IR ) A B 27T
A% 40 S48 H A% 3R B A AT RR B
D EEE R RN - EBTT
BREBKIBLINEMEARN
25% °

MBS
MEBGHFHED TR ER
YR P R 2() P8R & AT RSB IR

BITKATRRESFFTEEN
&
BITRARBREBHFMEEN
RERAEFERRMGZER
EEXRL  BERIZIBKAT]
BB HFEBRTTHRD R =
TZ-_=+=-HA=+—8 "%
B #5245 © %8 511,655,280
WL (ZZE = —4 : 11,655,280
7 IT) Al R ERE FRRAR D 0.1
7B T 5 116,552,800 AT A%
B (ZZ = =4 116,552,800
A& A% 10) B9 M R AT E K A ]
BREE - BHE-_T =K
T _—_F+_A=+—HIF
[§ + W KA AT AR 3B 55 H oK
AR MBFELFFEALBLAEE
B -

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(y).

PRC statutory reserves

PRC statutory reserves include general reserve, statutory surplus
reserve and statutory public welfare fund.

General reserve

The general reserve is non-distributable and the transfer to this
reserve is determined by the board of directors in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations of Chinese Mainland.
This reserve can be used to offset accumulated losses and
increase capital upon approval from the relevant authorities.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, Chinese Mainland
subsidiaries of the Group (excluding foreign investment
enterprises) are required to transfer 10% of their profit
after taxation, as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of their registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution of a dividend to
shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to make good previous
years' losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital
by the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholders or by increasing the par value of the
shares currently held by them, provided that the balance after
such issue is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Property revaluation reserve

Property revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(j).

Reserve arising from issuance of PCSs

Reserve arising from issuance of the PCSs was capitalised from
the share premium account in prior years for the purpose
of issue of new shares upon conversion of the PCSs. As at
31 December 2023, this reserve balance represented the
outstanding PCSs with the amount of $11,655,280 (2022:
$11,655,280) which are convertible into 116,552,800 new
shares (2022: 116,552,800 new shares) at conversion price of
$0.1 per share. There was no conversion to ordinary shares by
the holders of PCSs during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.
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27 BA - RERKE @
(d) REMEERBR @

(vii) E A 18
HhFEEREETHERRALE
RZEHBRARZ MR
REEEHFEZHZZ%E
BIERRHEENBEALFS
BARBBDRE R LT
ETEANGE R ERBEA
EARIFRIA °

(e) METDIREE

()

R-E-=%+-_A=+—H" &
AR HD IR F AR A ESREN
EEAE(REASHESQARIEARA
ARIEBERRARMEGE) B
5,032,610,000/8 7T (=& = — 4 :
4,941,556,0008 7T) °

EXER
AEEEREANTIERRARE
AEEBBEEEEBOEN 1M
REMEERBABRHES  BK
RIBGHE D IA R B H A5 10 & F2 1
M YHEBHRAENERRBINA
PRAREARA

AR BT RE MR RIS R R A
BN U B BOK T A
B 7 ) B 75 M SR 1 9 BB R
HRMERRE2 2 ARG T
o R AR R B AR
A -
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(e)

()

(vii) Other reserve

The other reserve represents the difference between the
consideration and net book value of certain subsidiaries for
the disposal of partial interests in these subsidiaries, deemed
contribution from shareholders and the amount arising
from the reorganisation to rationalise the group structure in
preparation for the listing of the Company’ shares on the Stock
Exchange in prior years.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association, was $5,032,610,000 (2022: $4,941,556,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its property development projects, provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(f) Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its capital
structure on the basis of a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by
total equity at the end of the reporting period. For this purpose, the
Group defines net debt as total bank loans and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, bonds payable and amounts due to non-controlling
interests (interest-bearing) less restricted and pledged deposits and
cash and cash equivalents.

The Group's gearing ratio at 31 December 2023 was as follows:

RBEE Current liabilities
RITEREEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 3,305,907 2,568,827
HERE Lease liabilities 6,072 10,611
3,311,979 2,579,438
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RITEREEMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 3,948,400 5,097,072
HEBE Lease liabilities 28,946 35,874
- N 2,132,946
BEHH Total borrowings 7,289,325 7,712,384
B ZRH REEIEFK Less: Restricted and pledged deposits (1,525,775) (2,057,404)
RehReEMEEE Cash and cash equivalents (665,194) (579,975)
E%FEE Net debt 5,098,356 5,075,005
XA Total equity 8,123,162 9,282,006
a&EtE Gearing ratio 62.8% 54.7%

2 BHEEREERESEM I A
NREE
AEBREELBBREEEED 7
BHEs  FRREEER - AEBFAL
KERAER Y BT EAERAEL
B o

AEEMASNEREREAKERE
32 1tk 55 R e 1 R A O B S R B B IR BROSR
REHERTX -

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from movements in its own equity share price.

The Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are
described below.
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NAREBEW@W VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) ERAEAR (a) Credit risk
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Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks and
financial institutions, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Trade debtors and other debtors

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure
to credit risk and ECLs for trade debtors:

WER
—E==
2023
FHBER=E RE#A&E BiREE
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T T
% $°000 $°000
BER1F AN Within 1 year past due 4.49% 59,275 2,663
EEBRF Over 1 year past due 100% 11,428 11,428
70,703 14,091
— T4
2022
TRHREE X FREEE E e
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
Tz Tt
% $'000 $'000
BEI1F AR Within 1 year past due 4.39% 72,303 3,174
wHER R F Over 1 year past due 100% 293 293

72,596 3,467
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience of the Group.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

The loans to the third parties are fully secured by properties and
equity interests held by the third parties. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of the loans at the end of the reporting period,
without taking into account the collateral, and the key terms of
the loans are disclosed in Note 19. The Group considers that the
credit risk arising from the loans is significantly mitigated by the
properties and equity interests held as collateral, with reference to
the estimated market value of the properties at 31 December 2023
and 2022.

For other debtors, regular review and follow-up actions are carried
out on long-aged other receivables, which enable management to
assess their recoverability and to minimise exposure to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The Group recognises a loss allowance on other
debtors equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the other debtors since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as set out in
Note 30, the Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk. The maximum exposure to
credit risk in respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 30.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade debtors and other debtors (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade debtors
and other debtors during the year is as follows:

W—A— B8R Balance at 1 January 70,379 55,137
FREERBAEREBRE  Reversal of impairment losses recognised

during the year (4,683) -
FAMESRE Amounts written off during the year = (16,892)
FRNEERBEEE Impairment losses recognised during the year 89,908 34,843
fEH =% Exchange difference (24,562) (2,709)
R+ZA=+—HM4%%  Balance at 31 December 131,042 70,379

(b) RBEZER
AEEETOEBMBRRARTT
BREERSERER (BREEE
FAEmE AR SHFR) - HEAERF
ARREFENHAE - AEB R
RREPRERRERLRBARRDES
FREERBTEREZ  BRE
FERREHEARTIZSREE
AHREHAMERAEE  UWEME
EEMNEEEREZAKERESR
ERA - ZEARERE T _=
t-A=t—REEL+_EAH
- B S EREUCE T 51 8 R g 3t (3]
BRMIEE20)) MEBRBE S ES
Wk &FEM B

(b) Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible for their
own cash management, including the raising of loans to cover the
expected cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
board of directors. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. The
directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management, which covers a period of at least 12 months from
31 December 2023. Certain plans and measures have been or will
be taken as disclosed in Note 2(b) to mitigate the liquidity pressures
and to improve its financial position.
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AREBE®@ VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) REES R (&) (b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TERFIIAEBERBERNHREH The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturities at
MEHEHOFHREQODNEA - ik the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities,
EHARMBERERE (BREAGLHF which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
T (T R) RSB EHMEAER interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
EAMMERGFENF AT RAE based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
ERFEXRBHEY earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

—E_=F
2023
BNRBRRERE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FRAH BR-F BEMEF
EEX (ELRAWE BIREF BRALE ] HREE

More than More than
Within 1yearbut 2 years but

1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years amount
Tr T T T Tr
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

BATERR Bank loans and other
HifEE borrowings 3,450,562 940,500 2,895,356 884,887 8,171,305 7,254,307
HEBR Lease liabilities 8,034 4,864 14,048 17,009 43,955 35,018

B5REM Trade and other

FEfTRIA payables 1,330,517 89,316 - - 1,419,833 1,419,833

4,789,113 1,034,680 2,909,404 901,896 9,635,093 8,709,158

—E-CF
2022
BRARBRBR SN
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—F Rk HBiB—F B E
EEx ELRRE EIREF A e REE

More than More than

Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years amount
T T T y T
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

FITERR Bank loans and other

HifaE borrowings 2,584,538 1,354,765 3,806,707 1,077,026 8,823,036 7,665,899
HEEE Lease liabilities 12,979 8,121 14,594 22,352 58,046 46,485
BHREM Trade and other

R 50IE payables 1,968,613 78,306 - - 2,046,919 2,046,919

4,566,130 1,441,192 3,821,301 1,099,378 10,928,001 9,759,303
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AREE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
() FEEMR (c) Interest rate risk
F & R\ B 7 BB 5 T 45 I 3R & B) i o Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
HemIAMNAREBEEIRKRE a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
MERB M ER - NEBFHF R interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from
REXFERRNREeEREEEIEAR - cash and cash equivalents, restricted and pledged deposits and
XBRGREERTFREZEMEE - borrowings issued at variable rates. The Group’s interest rate profile
EEEEBE 2 AEEF B RER as monitored by management is set out in (i) below.
() e
(i) F=RHFR (i) Interest rate profile
—=E-= =~
2023 2022
B BB Nt
FIFIE % FHFIE %
Effective Effective
weighted weighted
average average
interest interest
rate % rate %
EEFEEE Fixed rate borrowings:
HE&E Lease liabilities 6.51% 35,018 6.15% 46,485
RITERR Bank loans and other
HipfE B borrowings 7.93% 1,284,366 7.93% 1,237,685
1,319,384 1,284,170
FENEEE Variable rate borrowings:
HRITEFR KL HEAM  Bank loans and other
BE borrowings 5.84% 5,969,941 4.94% 6,428,214
ME=ZFIRMEF  Loans to third parties 3.76% (201,812) 3.63% (176,652)
5,768,129 6,251,562
BE ¥R Net borrowings 7,087,513 7,535,732
AEEEH REeRReEE The Group does not anticipate significant impact to cash and
1H B A RZR G REEFFR cash equivalents and the restricted and pledged deposits
TERIBERATE REREE because the interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to
HRITFERFET 2 IR KR change significantly.
EBEAEEMRITER LA The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank loans and
BB A 8 F AR BT 3E 23 3% other borrowings of the Group are disclosed in Note 23. The
B2 o ZN 5 B 37 A BR AN ] Group does not carry out any hedging activities to manage its

BeERARNERRE - interest rate exposure.
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VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would decrease/increase the Group’s
profit/loss after tax and retained profits by approximately
$47,412,000 (2022: $53,595,000) in response to the general
increase/decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates that in respect of the
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s profit/loss
after tax (and retained profits) is estimated as an annualised
impact on interest expense or income of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2022.

(d) Currency risk

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities are carried out in
Chinese Mainland with most of the transactions denominated in
RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from
the exposure of RMB against Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") as a
result of its investment in Chinese Mainland and the settlement of
certain general and administrative expenses and other borrowings
in United States dollars (“USD"), HKD or Australia dollars (“AUD").
In addition, RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies and
the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to rules and
regulations of the foreign exchange control promulgated by the
Chinese Mainland government.
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AREBE®@ VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) E¥=ER(E) (d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) E¥Ek (i) Exposure to currency risk

TERFIINEREHEEER The following table details the Group's exposure at the end of
RASBRERNESHAENREES each reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised
BUANER AT ENEEREE assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
FEBEMEAZHEERR -5 functional currency of the entity to which they relate. For
2HME  FEXEBRSREN presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are shown
EILHR  WERA SRS in HKD, translated using the spot rate at the end of each
EEARMBNBERKBE - reporting period.

Be - BHER Cash, restricted and pledged
[REGREEERN deposits 1,077 107 9,454
BITERREMIEE  Bank loans and other
borrowings (979,224) - -
EHRAEERAE Net exposure arising from
EERFRR recognised assets and
liabilities (978,147) 107 9,454

Be - BRHIER Cash, restricted and pledged
[ RETA deposits 3,832 12,383 15,080
BITERREMEE  Bank loans and other
borrowings (979,312) - -

EHABEERAE Net exposure arising from
EAERFRE R recognised assets and
liabilities (975,480) 12,383 15,080
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NAREBEE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) E¥EREE) (d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) BREDH (i) Sensitivity analysis

TREINHREHEEERAR
& BAR B AR R A IMNEE X
FE(REMEELRAREHR
M ) By S SR B B AT S
B BRI ZE) - HER
T BEXTHHEMEEME
KEFPHTIGHBITRIIT ZH
MBBRERELBARE -

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in
the Group’s loss/profit before tax that would arise if foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the HKD
and the USD would be materially unaffected by any changes in
movement in value of the USD against other currencies.

SNERE =
EH(TEE)

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign

exchange rates

BT AUD

BT HKD

—E-= =~
2023 2022

HERBL AT SN BEE 3 SR TR
BENEE  H (TR BENTE

Increase/

(decrease)
Effect on loss in foreign Effect on profit
before tax exchange rates before tax
T T
$'000 $'000
5% 5 5% 619
(5%) (5) (5%) (619)
5% 473 5% 754
(5%) (473) (5%) (754)

SNESRE AT HIRIBEAEE
RS B H e = 250 E R ROF
BRRXTEANLERFEN
AR ARSE MIEHE
Wit E B8 45 A MR T LB TTE
KEE5%) HRBATEE &
MeFESE ETBEKE
SNEBOPBRRME DAL
B2 EERELNEZE -

The foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated based on
the major net foreign currency exposure of the Group as at the
reporting date, assuming 5% change of HKD and AUD held
by Chinese Mainland entities against RMB and AUD held by
non Chinese Mainland entities against HKD on the loss/profit
before tax and excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations
into the Group’s presentation currency.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity
investments held for trading and non-trading purposes (see Note
17). Other than unquoted securities held for strategic purposes,
all of these investments are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities are based
on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities
compared to that of the Index and other industry indicators, as well
as the Group’s liquidity needs. The portfolio is diversified in terms of
industry distribution, in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments are held for long
term strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed against
performance of similar listed entities, based on the limited
information available to the Group, together with an assessment of
their relevance to the Group’s long term strategic plans.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Equity price risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease)
of 5% (2022: 5%) in the relevant stock market index (for listed
investments) or the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies (for unquoted investments) as applicable, with all other
variables held constant, would have increased/decreased the Group’s
loss/profit after tax (and retained profits) as follows:

—F-_—
2022

HFRPIE
EEHZE
Effect on Effect on
loss after profit after
tax tax
T Tt
$°000 $'000

—— =

—_ =

2023
HEBRBE
BRI

A B IR A E AR R B Change in the relevant
BENRE equity price risk variable:
N Increase 5% (3,260) 5% (4,929)
Ve Decrease (5%) 3,260 (5%) 4,929
BRESNET BREBEHABLE The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the

H B RETIS s sk = b /B R R &
BHLBREY MZSEHANE
FrrEASEENREHHEEER
FFE<aEamERAERRKRD S
BMITARSIBAEEBRRERT
EiE (RRBARF) R kE AE M
HAMAEBES -  RABEREAED
ARARIEE B A R EESRIRERR
2T I5 48 Bk 1 I R B B R R
WHEREmMES BEAEEMES
BRERE . — B - —FEHNHITIRE
EEAEELT

BEARBEUNIRNEHE
EREEANEE

AN B R o AN ok SH AR AR B BR ) &
MEERAGEREE BER=-F
—=FRZBE_—F+=-A=1+—
BNAABETESAZEZE -

(f)

Group’s profit/loss after tax (and retained profits) that would arise
assuming that the changes in the stock market index or other
relevant risk variables had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to equity
price risk at the end of the reporting period. It is also assumed that
the fair values of the Group’s equity investments would change
in accordance with the historical correlation with the relevant
stock market index or the relevant risk variables, and that all other
variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same
basis for 2022.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values at 31 December 2023 and 2022.



e MR
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(B BB A

LAETTEIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

28 I HEAREEREMIA

DN REE

435\
(&5)

(9) DAEEE

0]

DREBEEER

BEMBRELENE13RAAL
EBETEREASESHITA
NAREBERKEHMEER
RISHEHEREFE UOEA
BB BRELERNFE13RE
EN=FHLANEBESH -BA
REBEFESENSHRIKES
Z AT EE R AR S AR
WAHREEREEMGET

EERAE1RE
ABE (R &
BEEXBERG
ERMAERED
15 B R K R B R
B)tEMQR

BfE

- F1#4&
fh1E

FRHE2HE A
KE(TFA
F1H AT B R
B A SE B 3E
FAEATAE
R AHIETE
WAREE
BE: 108 ¢
BETSEED
AU

— E2#%
fb1E -

EREBARTAE
R ARBE
MAREE

— E34%
b 1E

TOP SPRING INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023

273

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement

(@

Fair value hierarchy

HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement, requires the fair value
of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations:

Level 2 valuations:

Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities at the measurement date

Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for
which market data are not available

Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(g) Fair value measurement (Continued)
(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a finance manager performing valuations for
the financial instruments, including unlisted equity securities
which are categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy,
with the assistance of external valuers for certain financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the chief
financial officer. A valuation report with analysis of changes
in fair value measurement is prepared by the finance manager
at each interim and annual reporting date, and reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer.

R S
- e

t28  RogozEtsAzi-B +oA
=4-g AAEEHEAES =g

WARERE Fair value measurements fNARER Fair value measurements

Fair value at as at 31 December 2023 categorised into  Fairvalueat ~ asat 31 December 2022 categorised into

31 December F18 28 $34% 31 December F E28 F340
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
T r T r T T T T

$'000 §'000 $'000 §'000 $'000 §'000 §'000 §'000

BEMAREE  Recurring fair value
B measurements
BE: Assets:
~ERE=FFIE - Receivables from the

third parties 1,138,422 - - 1138422 1,266,330 - - 1,266,330
~FEBEBENIE - Unlisted equity securities
FIRAES not held for trading 38,857 - - 38,857 44,650 - - 44,650
-R5E% - Trading securities 27,560 27,560 - - 38,344 38,344 - -
-E¥ER - Wealth management

products 814 - 814 - 23,404 - 23,404 -

1,205,653 27,560 814 1177219 1,372,728 38,344 23,404 1,310,980

HE-_Z-_=FK-_FT_—
+—A=+—BLEE  F1
WMRF2H BN EERE IR
KBFILHEAKEH - K
EENBRREEREERNRE
HHEZEEBENARBESRZ
fEH 8875 -

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of
the reporting period in which they occurred.
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28 B EREERESMIE 28 FINAN

CIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

~REE® VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(0) AAEEHEE (9) Fair
(i) E2RAAMEHBFEAN (i)
HED RS AR
B ESNAAMERRES
R B B S R AR
S M . ) 9488 32 1 2 R e i
8-

(i) EEEIRAAEES
ERE=FHREHAALEBET
FEARAAKERREFESRE
ME @ &FRERTHEERS
D7 & B & R Vi 1B 2 BRRF E 3
BB RBER IR AR AN ER
ZERIBHEEHEEEEHE
BREAARFTEER12% (ZF
T F 1 12%) c KAKEEER
ERERMTEEASAEER
B RS RHEEBEREE
SEENTE -

9 (iii)

Jain

FELETRATENAREBED
RIBALR ETARNTRE
ME @ BRRTSRBENR
MAHE  HAREEFEER
RS R AT R B8

FAEIRANEETEN
REREEIT

value measurement (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of wealth management products is the
estimated amount that the Group would receive to sale wealth
management products at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account current interest rates.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

The fair value of receivables from the third parties is determined
using future estimated cash flows to be recovered which takes
into account projects progress presumed or operation forecast
and discount rate is 12% (2022: 12%) based on the average
borrowing cost plus a risk premium of the Group or weighted
average cost of capital relating to the specific business. The
future estimated cash flows reflect potential impacts of
adjustments on the projects’ capacity building areas, land use
index and tax related compensation, etc.

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments was determined
using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed companies
adjusted for lack of marketability discount, of which the fair
value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount for
lack of marketability.

The movement during the year in the balance of Level 3 fair
value measurements is as follows:

w—A—H At 1 January 1,310,980 1,504,101
g Additions - 2,743
RiBmP RN FEE Net loss recognised in profit or loss (98,575) (15,537)
HE HE Disposal/settiement = (74,604)
fEHZER Exchange difference (35,126) (105,723)
R+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 1,177,279 1,310,980
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29 BAREKIE
R+t -_A=+—"BAXABITEARAEER
B MR N B ENEA AT -

29

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not provided for in the
Group's financial statements were as follows:

SHES Contracted for 60,052 334,045
EEEERTH Authorised but not contracted for 164,753 187,253
224,805 521,298

BAFREIEEASEHERPYENS
BRAXRAEEERAOKBKRAFRE -

30 AAREE
AEBEAETHRTRAEDYEBRA
N T IRIBERTIEL Y RIS RE R
BR - REBIERER  MWREBFTBRIER
B BN A R R
MIZIBEFERENE A RMETHE
A SR8 R 514 - 2 B & IR H
EHREE RS AL EEERM
SRAREMBEEERERBHEER
BER(ARPE BE) AL -

30

Capital commitments mainly related to development expenditure for the
Group's properties under development and acquisition cost of the Group’s
projects.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into
by purchasers of the Group's properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owned by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group’s guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans
and ends upon the earlier of the buyer obtained the individual property
ownership certificate and the full settlement of mortgage loans by the
buyer.
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30 HABEEBE @
REREEMEER RETAEEY
S ESRBRAMARTELENES
BEESEMT -

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The maximum amounts of guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties at the end of
each reporting period is as follows:

MALEEYWEERERNILIE  Guarantees given to financial institutions
EREE MRS mgEED for mortgage loan facilities granted to
R purchasers of the Group's properties 242,297 462,353

EEZRR ARAKEAREMEBYE
MFERYLERBYE  AREAE
BRRTXMNNEAEE BHAKHE
TARAERAZERERMEREBE - AR
AIEFNRA HWETEREERITNK -
AR XM A FmEE WA KB
EROKREZBER -

HRARAEERRAFERZIANE
BEE  BWARKREL R % FERER
EEERA -

The directors consider that it is not probable that the Group will sustain a
loss under these guarantees as the Group can take over the ownerships of
the related properties and sell the properties to recover any amounts paid
by the Group to the banks. The directors of the Company also consider
that the fair market value of the underlying properties is able to cover the
outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the
purchasers default payments to the banks.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of these
guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the directors of
the Company.
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31 EXNBEBARS 31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
@ RUBHREAHGBELHHEENRZS (@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
REEERIN  REBFERNERTIL T 5 the financial statements, major related party transactions entered by
E-DNEE R the Group during the year are follows:

FERIRERFE R Interest expenses to shareholders (i) 84,424 99,960
JE LS BE: 4  B] F BURA Interest income from associates (ii) 7,141 11,488
FEUA &b EF B IA Interest income from joint ventures (iii) 5,282 12,076
Bt 5 Notes:
() EEIRRFNSFAIUNEEFFEI1% (i) Interest expenses to shareholders were charged at a fixed interest rate of
(ZZ=Z=F  11%)aTE ° 11% (2022: 11%) per annum.
(i) FEdEEE DB B A A S EEEF (i) Interest income from associates was charged at Prime rate minus 2% per
ER2%ET 8 MERBEMNERAER annum, whereas Prime rate is the HSBC Best Lending Rate.

RITRBEERME -

(iy FERAELEFBWAUTE15% (= (i) Interest income from joint ventures was charged at 15% (2022: 7%, 8% or
T ZF 7% 8%k 15%)F 8 ° 15%) per annum.
by FEEBAEBWMFMHN BERES (b) Remuneration of key management personnel, including amounts
ZATHIRIE (R 9B EE) A kM paid to the directors as disclosed in Note 9 and certain of the highest
ETEREFEERSREEELIM paid employees and senior management as disclosed in Note 10, is
B FRIEM T (R 104 ER) - as follows:

MEEERET Short-term employee benefits 14,591 20,957
BEE 12 12 T Post-employment benefits 54 36
14,645 20,993

FMeBEeEIBE TAA] (RKE Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 7(b)).

7(b)) °
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32 QA EE MBI ER

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

31 December

2023
T
$'000

31 December
2022

FT

$'000

EREBEE Non-current assets
RETB A RHRE Investments in subsidiaries 210,748 210,748
W WEREE Property, plant and equipment 828 828
211,576 211,576
REEE Current assets
H th i Y R IE Other receivables 12,524,614 12,715,600
Hih e m & E Other financial assets 29,581 46,153
RekRESEEIER Cash and cash equivalents 72,876 40,448
12,627,071 12,802,201
REBEE Current liabilities
WITERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 922,733 990,844
Hth < FRIE Other payables 6,730,376 6,928,449
______________________________________________ 7,653,109 7,919,293
RBAEFE  Netcurrentassets 497392 4,882,908
BMEERRBERS Total assets less current liabilities 5,185,538 5,094,484
EEFE NET ASSETS 5,185,538 5,094,484
IR AR & CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27(a)
[N Share capital 141,273 141,273
G Reserves 5,044,265 4,953,211
EReH TOTAL EQUITY 5,185,538 5,094,484
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33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW

:EﬂE'I'ZH + H JJ:fli STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
ELEMNEE HEARR BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
BURELENTE 31 DECEMBER 2023

HEZSVHHERTZEAE  S5T:6 Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has
NEEEMETREE S _=F+= issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet
A=+—RLEFERRERERZEHM effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which have not been
BRI ERAOE T HETNLISRT A adopted in these financial statements. These developments include the
Blo ZE R BT 5 Al 42 B A & E 4 following which may be relevant to the Group.

FRHUIER] AT 2R -

RTH B z%
BB ES LN
Effective for accounting
periods beginning
on or after
ER G ERE 195 (BETR) - 53‘%?4553?3‘?5// : —E-mMFE—-H—H
BESHBREHIFERE ([ ZB=FFETE))
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentat/on of financial statements: 1 January 2024
Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (“2020 amendments ")
BEAGFEAE R (BETAE) - HBEHEXNZEZ - —Z-mFE—HA—H
WERFEIETBE E ([ =B ZF X))
Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: 1 January 2024
Non-current liabilities with covenants (“2022 amendments ")
ERMBHELAE 6T BRIAR)  HE - ERHEXZHAHERE —Z-mFE—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024
ERGIEAETR (BEIR)  HenBXREBHFREERZE7% LA - —ZE-_mFE—-H—H
wEE RERRE L
Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: 1 January 2024
Disclosures: Supplier finance arrangements
ERGTERE 2R (BFIR) EFXEHZE - = LB —E-hF—HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: 1 January 2025

Lack of exchangeability

rEE EEHE ZERERERHERER The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact
M2 - BIBERI AL  RA%SE of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application.
BAITAAREHGE RV BRRELEX So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
re- significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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melsER CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
BZt-A=t-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E-— —E-—F —E-EF
2022 2021 2020
T T T
$'000 $'000 $000
/9N Revenue 954,319 3,667,163 638,957 575,051 719,246
BERKA Direct costs (1,208,094)  (3,072,932) (318,788) (313,922) (291,238)
£(18) /7 Gross (loss)/profit (253,775) 594,231 320,169 261,129 428,008
REMERSEAEE  Valuation gains/(losses) on investment
HENRENEN properties and investment properties
HENE/ (BE) classified as held for sale 14,376 (23,019) 202,341 (77,944) 197,409
HA A Other revenue 158,795 169,689 175,544 139,945 153,819
Hit (B18) /hzE%%E  Other net (loss)income (39,695) (3,768) 218,551 48,742 (380,640)
HERBHEAY Selling and marketing expenses (76,519) (155,425) (82,825) (76,898) (51,619)
TEE X Administrative expenses (176,820) (258,101) (332,774) (310,126) (421,149)
ZHNEMEWZIES  Impairment loss on trade and other
REEE receivables (85,225) (34,843) (9,477) (18,527) (28,462)
REEBEEN (Loss)/profit from operations
(F1R) /B7 (458,863) 288,764 491,529 (33,679) (102,634)
BEKAE Finance costs (319,999) (324,257) (294,547) (301,811) (323,353)
[l N EEE Share of losses of associates (57,615) (22,234) (1,997) (2,122) (2,621)
EaeahEER Share of losses of joint ventures - (15,299) (7,397) (8,992) (15,781)
BRBLAT (B5B) /B (Loss)/profit before taxation (836,477) (73,026) 187,588 (346,604) (444,389)
ZiREL Income tax (63,853) (110,615) (140,874) (20,932) (85,539)
£E(FB) /BF (Loss)/profit for the year (900,330) (183,641) 46,714 (367,536) (529,928)
BAF AL FES - Attributable to:
ADFERBERAKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
AREESFFEA holders of PCSs (876,893) (185,099) 33,432 (283,259) (582,939)
FIER S Non-controlling interests (23,437) 1,458 13,282 (84,278) 53,011
FE(HR) /B (Loss)/profit for the year (900,330) (183,641) 46,714 (367,536) (529,928)
BREX(BR),/ Basic (loss)/earnings per share ($)
BF (k) (0.57) 0.12) 0.02 (0.19) (0.38)
kg (58),/ Diluted (loss)/earnings per share ($)
BF (%) (0.57) 0.12) 0.02 (0.19) (0.38)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

BET-A=+-HLFE

For the year ended 31 December

—E-- % —E-FTF
2022 PAVA 2020
T T T
$'000 $'000 $'000
EE(FB) /BF (Loss)/profit for the year (900,330) (183,641) 46,714 (367,536) (529,928)
EEHMEEKE (BRH  Other comprehensive income for the
REHLERRR) year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments)
A#BTFEEF7IEZ  Items that will not be reclassified
BmaEg - subsequently to profit or loss:
REME - BERE Surplus on revaluation of property, plant
REEERRENE and equipment upon change of use to
ZEREHRH investment properties 9,365 - 5,619 - -
HREEERIREME  Deferred tax liability arising on revaluation
MERIKEEEN gain on change of use to investment
BEERIEAR properties (2,342) - (1,405) - -
AEEENAME Items that may be reclassified subsequently
BwmaEA to profit or loss:
HEMBRARBHREE  Exchange differences on translation of
FOBERRELN reclassified to profit or loss upon
0 5 =% disposal of subsidiaries = (1,034) 624 26 (6)
BEENHBARR Exchange differences on translation
AECENFBRE of financial statements of foreign
REANMERZS subsidiaries and joint ventures (250,246) (962,243) 379,050 685,152 (236,178)
EEBEARREE Share of other comprehensive income
PENEMZEKE of associates and joint ventures - - (18,461) 34,047 (6,851)
FERXAKNRAE Total comprehensive income
for the year (1,143,553) (1,146,918) 412,141 351,689 (772,963)
DY PN 1 Attributable to:
AARMEGRERKA  Equity shareholders of the Company and
THRESHEEA holders of PCSs (1,116,388)  (1,137,985) 394,643 421,274 (815,551)
FHER S Non-controlling interests (27,165) (8,933) 17,498 (69,585) 42,588
FERXEKRAR Total comprehensive income
for the year (1,143,553) (1,146,918) 412,141 351,689 (772,963)
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POSITION

R+=A=1+-H
At 31 December
- —F%

2021
T
$'000

kRBEE Non-current assets
RENE Investment properties 8,105,892 8,297,230 8,970,030 7,238,615 6,297,551
Eh%  BER Other property, plant and equipment
B 138,126 173,388 192,006 199,281 199,049
8,244,018 8,470,618 9,162,036 7,437,896 6,496,600
BREE Intangible assets 3,769 3,769 3,769 3,769 3,769
S Goodwill 40,736 40,736 40,736 40,736 40,736
REE R AR Interest in associates 158,358 186,912 5,257 7,072 8,739
RaghEnER Interest in joint ventures - - 1,069,950 423,328 423,597
EthepEE Other financial assets 1,202,818 1,341,514 1,443,808 1,488,143 1,338,322
H Y B Other receivables 314,675 289,997 268,023 231,761 210,027
ERTREE Deferred tax assets 112,663 83,293 87,451 85,540 75,212
10,077,037 10,416,839 12,081,030 9,718,245 8,597,002
TEBEE Current assets
FEREMALHKAK Inventories and other
contract costs 6,300,697 7,145,866 9,951,592 10,884,496 9,921,176
HireBEE Other financial assets 2,835 31,214 130,858 115,657 130,470
B REMEKFIR Trade and other receivables 1,467,188 1,578,368 2,152,059 1,654,142 1,553,629
BAHE Prepaid tax 2,141 2,295 72,320 38,846 20,891
XEHREEATR Restricted and pledged deposits 1,525,775 2,057,404 2,862,004 3,046,639 2,612,642
RekREZSEEE Cash and cash equivalents 665,194 579,975 1,077,346 1,653,196 2,115,129
9,963,830 11,395,122 16,246,179 17,392,976 16,353,937
PEARBELEN Investment properties classified as
BEME held for sale - 20,679 46,600 70,657 64,683
9,963,830 11,415,801 16,292,779 17,463,633 16,418,620
REBERE Current liabilities
B 5 REMEMNTE Trade and other payables 2,956,489 3,196,329 4,252,279 4,004,074 3,646,717
ERBE Contract liabilities 146,774 99,056 1,927,173 726,231 58,577
BOEHRREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 3,305,907 2,568,827 6,196,768 5,966,708 3,947,660
HERE Lease liabilities 6,072 10,611 7,581 21,971 31,604
FERHIE Tax payable 206,733 269,161 217,567 168,259 716,509
[EfHEH Bonds payable = - 249,665 248,552 500,355
__________ 6,621,975 6,143,984 12,851,033 11,135,795 8,901,422
RBRERE  Netcurrentassets 3341855 5271817 3441746 6327838 7,517,198
BEERRBDER Total assets less current liabilities 13,418,892 15,688,656 15,522,776 16,046,083 16,114,200
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SREMBRRR @ CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)

R+=A=+—H
At 31 December
—g-= —E-- “E--—fF -—I-FTE
2023 2022 2021 2020
Fr T T T
$'000 $000 $'000 $000
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
BITERREMEE Bank loans and other borrowings 3,948,400 5,097,072 3,649,180 4,495,656 5,119,614
HERE Lease liabilities 28,946 35,874 39,204 40,684 48,613
EEFEAE Deferred tax liabilities 1,318,384 1,273,704 1,464,559 1,355,501 1,105,800
_____________________________________________________________ 5295730 6406650 5152943 5,891,841 6,274,027
EEFE NET ASSETS 8,123,162 9,282,006 10,369,833 10,154,242 9,840,173
BAKHE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
AR Share capital 141,273 141,273 141,273 141,273 141,273
i Reserves 7,950,928 9,082,607 10,161,553 9,933,656 9,542,968

ARFEHERERKA  Total equity attributable to equity
TERBHIEEAEL  shareholders of the Company and
ERaE holders of PCSs 8,092,201 9,223,880 10,302,826 10,074,929 9,684,241

FERER Non-controlling interests 30,961 58,126 67,007 79,313 155,932

ERAH TOTAL EQUITY 8,123,162 9,282,006 10,369,833 10,154,242 9,840,173
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